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ITEM 1.01 — ENTRY INTO A MATERIAL DEFINITIVE AGREEMENT

Merger Agreement

On July 18, 2017, Crown Castle International Corp. (the “Company” or “Crown Castle”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement”) with LTS Group Holdings LLC (“Lightower”), Berkshire Fund VII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, Berkshire Fund VIII-A (LTS) Acquisition
Partners, LTS Berkshire Fund VII-A Blocker Corporation, LTS Berkshire Fund VIII-A Blocker Corporation, LTS Co-Invest Blocker LLC, LTS Co-Invest
Blocker II LLC, LTS Rollover Blocker LLC, LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Co-Invest Blocker
Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Group Holdings Merger Sub, Inc. and BSR LLC,
as equityholders’ representative, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to acquire all of the outstanding equity interests in Lightower in a series of
related transactions (the “Acquisition”).

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company will pay a purchase price of approximately $7.1 billion in cash, subject to certain limited
adjustments. Completion of the Acquisition is subject to customary closing conditions, including (i) the absence of certain government proceedings or
litigation related to the Acquisition, (ii) the receipt of governmental approvals with respect to the expiration or termination of any waiting period under the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 and (iii) the attainment of certain regulatory approvals from the Federal Communications
Commission, applicable state public service or public utilities commissions and certain local franchise authorities. Completion of the Acquisition does not
require the approval of Crown Castle’s stockholders and is not conditioned upon Crown Castle’s ability to obtain acquisition financing. The Company intends
to finance the Acquisition consistent with maintaining its current investment grade credit metrics, utilizing cash on hand and equity and debt financing,
including borrowings under its revolving credit facility. The Company anticipates the Acquisition will be completed by the end of 2017.

The parties have made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement, including the use of commercially reasonable
efforts to cause the consummation of the Acquisition. The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for both Crown Castle and Lightower and
further provides that, upon termination of the Merger Agreement under certain specified circumstances if certain regulatory approvals have not been obtained,
Crown Castle will be required to pay Lightower a termination fee of $100 million. In addition, the Merger Agreement provides that, under certain
circumstances, Crown Castle will be required to pay Lightower additional consideration in the event that the closing date of the Acquisition occurs after
December 31, 2017.

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Merger Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 hereto and incorporated herein by reference. The representations and warranties and the covenants in the
Merger Agreement were made solely for the benefit of the parties to the Merger Agreement for the purpose of allocating contractual risk between those
parties and do not establish such matters as facts. Investors should not rely on the representations and warranties and the covenants as characterizations of the
actual state of facts or condition of the Company, Lightower or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates.

Bridge Facility Commitment Letter

In connection with entering into the Merger Agreement, Crown Castle entered into a commitment letter (the “Bridge Facility Commitment Letter”),
dated July 18, 2017, with Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., Bank of America, N.A. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (such
financial institutions being referred to collectively as the “Commitment Parties”), pursuant to which the Commitment Parties have committed (the “Bridge
Facility Commitment”) to provide up to $7.1 billion in senior unsecured bridge loans (the “Bridge Facility”) to ensure financing for the Acquisition and to
pay related fees and expenses. Crown Castle will only borrow under the Bridge Facility in connection with the Acquisition to the extent Crown Castle does
not consummate its currently expected financing plans.



The Bridge Facility Commitment Letter contains, and the credit agreement in respect of the Bridge Facility, if any, is expected to contain, certain
customary conditions to funding. Crown Castle will pay certain customary commitment fees and, in the event it makes any borrowings, funding and other
fees in connection with the Bridge Facility Commitment.

The foregoing descriptions of the Bridge Facility Commitment Letter, the Bridge Facility Commitment and the Bridge Facility do not purport to be
complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of the Bridge Facility Commitment Letter, which is filed as Exhibit 10.1 hereto and
incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment Backstop Commitment Letter

In connection with Crown Castle’s currently expected financing plans, Crown Castle also entered into a commitment letter (the “Amendment Backstop
Commitment Letter”), dated July 18, 2017, with the Commitment Parties, pursuant to which the Commitment Parties have committed (the “Amendment
Backstop Commitment”) to provide a “backstop” senior unsecured credit facility (the “Amendment Backstop Facility”), consisting of a revolving credit
facility having aggregate commitments of $1.75 billion and a term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of
the term loans under our existing credit agreement, which facility will be available to Crown Castle if (i) certain of Crown Castle’s current financing plans are
not completed (or result in aggregate net cash proceeds significantly less than expected) and (ii) we are unable to obtain the requisite consents from lenders
under our existing credit agreement to effect an amendment to our existing credit agreement to, among other things, modify certain financial maintenance
covenants therein to accommodate the Acquisition. The proceeds of borrowings under the Amendment Backstop Facility, if any, will be used to prepay all
outstanding borrowings under our existing credit agreement and, following any such prepayment, we will to terminate our existing credit agreement.

The Amendment Backstop Commitment Letter contains, and the credit agreement in respect of the Amendment Backstop Facility, if any, is expected to
contain, certain customary conditions to funding. Crown Castle will pay certain customary commitment fees and, in the event it makes any borrowings,
funding and other fees in connection with the Amendment Backstop Commitment.

 
ITEM 7.01 — REGULATION FD DISCLOSURE

On July 18, 2017, Crown Castle issued a press release, furnished herewith as Exhibit 99.1, announcing it has entered into a definitive agreement to
acquire Lightower.

 
ITEM 8.01 — OTHER EVENTS

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 for Lightower are filed as Exhibit 99.2 hereto and incorporated
herein by reference.



ITEM 9.01 — FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

(d) Exhibits
 
Exhibit

No.   Description

2.1

  

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 18, 2017, by and among Crown Castle International Corp., LTS Group Holdings, LLC,
Berkshire Fund VII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, Berkshire Fund VIII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, LTS Berkshire Fund VII-A Blocker
Corporation, LTS Berkshire Fund VIII-A Blocker Corporation, LTS Co-Invest Blocker LLC, LTS Co-Invest Blocker II LLC, LTS Rollover
Blocker LLC, LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Co-Invest Blocker Merger Sub, Inc.,
LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Group Holdings Merger Sub, Inc. and BSR LLC, as
equityholders’ representative

10.1
  

Commitment Letter, dated as of July 18, 2017, among Crown Castle International Corp., Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., Bank of
America, N.A. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated

23.1   Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

99.1   Press Release announcing the Company’s agreement to acquire LTS Group Holdings LLC, dated July 18, 2017

99.2   Consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 for LTS Group Holdings LLC

The information in this Current Report on Form 8-K furnished pursuant to Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1 attached hereto shall not be deemed “filed” for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor
shall such information be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall
be expressly set forth by specific reference in such a filing.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Current Report on Form 8-K contains forward-looking statements that are based on Crown Castle management’s current expectations. Such
forward-looking statements include plans, projections and estimates regarding the anticipated Lightower acquisition, including timing and anticipated
financing thereof. Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including prevailing market conditions and
other factors. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary
materially from those expected. More information about potential risk factors that could affect Crown Castle and its results is included in Crown Castle’s
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The term “including,” and any variation thereof, means “including, without limitation.”



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.
 

CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP.

By:  /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Date: July 19, 2017
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of July 18, 2017, by and among: (i) LTS Group
Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), (ii) Berkshire Fund VII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, a Delaware general partnership
(“BF VII-A AP”), (iii) Berkshire Fund VIII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, a Delaware general partnership (“BF VIII-A AP” and, together with BF VII-A AP,
the “BF Acquisition Partnerships”), (iv) LTS Berkshire Fund VII-A Blocker Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“LTS BF VII-A Blocker”), (v) LTS
Berkshire Fund VIII-A Blocker Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker”), (vi) LTS Co-Invest Blocker LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I”), (vii) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II”),
(viii) LTS Rollover Blocker LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“LTS Rollover Blocker” and, together with LTS BF VII-A Blocker, LTS BF VIII-A
Blocker, LTS Co-Invest Blocker I and LTS Co-Invest Blocker II, the “Blockercos”), (ix) LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub”), (x) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub”),
(xi) LTS Co-Invest Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub”), (xii) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub,
Inc., a Delaware corporation (“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub”), (xiii) LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“LTS Rollover
Blocker Merger Sub”), (xiv) LTS Group Holdings Merger Sub, Inc. (“Company Merger Sub” and, together with LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub, LTS BF
VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub, LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub, LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub and LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub, “Merger
Subs”), (xv) Crown Castle International Corp, a Delaware corporation (“Buyer”) and (xvi) BSR LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the
“Equityholders’ Representative”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, Buyer desires to acquire, directly or indirectly, one hundred percent (100%) of the outstanding equity interests of the Company, on
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, at least one (1) day prior to the Closing Date, (i) BF VII-A AP shall distribute to LTS BF VII-A Blocker a portion of the Class A
Units (as defined below) held by it and a portion of the Class A-1 Units (as defined below) held by it in complete redemption of LTS BF VII-A Blocker’s
interest in BF VII-A AP and (ii) BF VIII-A AP shall distribute to LTS BF VIII-A Blocker a portion of the Class A Units held by it and a portion of the
Class A-1 Units held by it in complete redemption of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker’s interest in BF VIII-A AP (the transactions referred to in the preceding clauses
(i) and (ii), the “Initial Redemptions”);

WHEREAS, on the Closing Date and prior to the Closing and the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger (as defined below), each Blockerco shall
distribute the Blockerco Cash of such Blockerco to its equityholders in redemption of a portion of the equity interests of such Blockerco held by such
equityholders (together, the “Subsequent Redemptions”);

WHEREAS, each Subsequent Redemption is part of an integrated plan with Buyer’s acquisition of the applicable Blockerco pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement, and is accordingly



intended to constitute a complete redemption of each equityholder’s equity interest in such Blockerco within the meaning of Section 302(b)(3) of the Code;

WHEREAS, as of immediately prior to the Company Merger Effective Time (as defined below), all of the outstanding equity interests of the
Company will be held by the Company Unitholders or the Blockercos;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub and the board of directors of LTS BF VII-A Blocker has
unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the merger of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub with and into LTS BF VII-A Blocker (the
“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and the other Transactions;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub and the board of directors of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker has
unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the merger of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub with and into LTS BF VIII-A Blocker (the
“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and the other Transactions;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub and the manager of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I has approved
and declared advisable this Agreement, the merger of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub with and into LTS Co-Invest Blocker I (the “LTS Co-Invest
Blocker I Merger”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and the other Transactions;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub and the manager of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II has approved
and declared advisable this Agreement, the merger of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub with and into LTS Co-Invest Blocker II (the “LTS Co-Invest
Blocker II Merger”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and the other Transactions;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub and the manager of LTS Rollover Blocker has approved and
declared advisable this Agreement, the merger of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub with and into LTS Rollover Blocker (the “LTS Rollover Blocker
Merger”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and the other Transactions;

WHEREAS, each of the board of directors of Company Merger Sub and the board of managers of the Company has unanimously approved and
declared advisable this Agreement, the merger of Company Merger Sub with and into the Company (the “Company Merger” and, together with the LTS BF
VII-A Blocker Merger, the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger, the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger, and the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger, the “Mergers”),
upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and the other Transactions;

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder (as defined below), in its capacity
as the sole stockholder of LTS BF VII-A Blocker, has executed and delivered to Buyer an action by written consent evidencing the adoption of this
Agreement by the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder;
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WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder (as defined below), in its capacity
as the sole stockholder of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker, has executed and delivered to Buyer an action by written consent evidencing the adoption of this
Agreement by the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder;

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Buyer or one of its Affiliates, in its capacity as the sole stockholder of each
Merger Sub, has executed actions by written consent evidencing the adoption of this Agreement;

WHEREAS, following consummation of the Mergers and the other Transactions, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement, Buyer shall own, directly or indirectly, one hundred percent (100%) of the outstanding equity interests of each of the Blockercos and, directly or
indirectly through ownership of the Blockercos, one hundred percent (100%) of the outstanding equity interests of the Company;

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, in order to protect the acquisition of the Company’s goodwill and
as a condition to the willingness of Buyer to enter into this Agreement, certain Equityholders have entered into an agreement pursuant to which such
Equityholders have agreed to certain non-solicitation and no-hire restrictions, conditioned upon consummation of the Transactions and to be effective at the
Company Merger Effective Time (as amended, restated, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Equityholder Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and as a condition to the willingness of Buyer to enter into this
Agreement, certain key employees have executed agreements, conditioned upon consummation of the Transactions and to be effective at the Company
Merger Effective Time, regarding the employment of such employees with Buyer or any of its Affiliates following the Company Merger Effective Time.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS
 
 1.1 Certain Definitions.

(a) For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified in this Section 1.1, subject to Section 1.2:

“2022 Notes” means the 10% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2022, issued pursuant to the 2022 Note Purchase Agreement.

“2025 Notes” means the 12% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2025, issued pursuant to the 2025 Note Purchase Agreement.
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“Actual Capital Expenditure Amount” means the aggregate amount of Capital Expenditures of the Company and the Subsidiaries, on a
consolidated basis, from January 1, 2017 through the Designated Date for work performed on or after January 1, 2017, calculated in accordance with
Section 1.2(a)(xiv) and the Agreed Principles (it being understood that the Actual Capital Expenditure Amount shall not include any Capital Expenditures
made prior to January 1, 2017 (even if paid on or after January 1, 2017)).

“Actual NRR Amount” means the aggregate amount of NRR of the Company and the Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, from January 1, 2017
through the Designated Date, calculated in accordance with the Agreed Principles (it being understood that the Actual NRR shall not include any NRR
invoiced prior to January 1, 2017 or recorded in unbilled receivables or otherwise recorded on the Company’s consolidated December 31, 2016 balance sheet
(even if received on or after January 1, 2017)).

“Additional Merger Consideration” means any amounts payable to the Equityholders and the PIP Holders pursuant to this Agreement following
the Closing Date, including pursuant to Section 3.10(c) (Merger Consideration Adjustment) and Section 10.3(e) (Release of Equityholders’ Representative
Expense Funds).

“Adjustment Escrow Amount” means $50,000,000.

“Adjustment Escrow Funds” means, as of any time, the amount of the Adjustment Escrow Amount then held by the Escrow Agent pursuant to
the Escrow Agreement.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is
controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, and the term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”)
means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Affiliate Contract” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.13(a)(i).

“Affiliated Persons” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.13.

“Agreed Principles” mean the calculations, principles, accounting methods, policies, practices, procedures, classifications, conventions,
categorizations, definitions, judgments, assumptions, techniques, methodologies and estimation methods (including as they relate to the nature of accounts,
calculation of levels or reserves or levels of accruals) consistent with those used in preparing the Financial Statements, in accordance with GAAP, (a) without
giving effect to the Transactions and (b) based on the facts and circumstances as they exist as of the Designated Time (or, as the term “Agreed Principles” is
used in the definition of “Blockerco Cash”, as of immediately prior to the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger) and excluding the effects of any event, act, change
in circumstances or similar development arising or occurring thereafter (including at the Closing); provided, however, that if this Agreement (including, for
the avoidance of doubt, Exhibit A) is inconsistent with GAAP, this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Exhibit A) shall control.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
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“Aggregate Delayed Closing Consideration” means, in the event that (i) the Closing Date occurs following December 31, 2017 and (ii) the
failure of the Closing to occur on or prior to December 31, 2017 was not primarily caused by the failure by any of the Blockercos or the Company to perform
any of its obligations under this Agreement (other than any immaterial breach), (x) an amount equal to the product of $194,500, multiplied by the aggregate
number of days from and after January 1, 2018 through the earlier of March 31, 2018 and the Closing Date (counting, for the avoidance of doubt, each of
January 1, 2018 and March 31, 2018 or the Closing Date, as applicable, as one (1) full day for such purpose) and (y) if applicable, an amount equal to the
product of $778,000, multiplied by the aggregate number of days from and after April 1, 2018 through the Closing Date (counting, for the avoidance of doubt,
each of April 1, 2018 and the Closing Date as one (1) full day for such purpose).

“Allocable Proceeds” means, (a) with respect to each PIP Holder, that portion of the Estimated Merger Consideration and the Additional Merger
Consideration payable to such PIP Holder with respect to his or her PIP Units pursuant to the terms and conditions of the applicable PIP Plan and the terms
and conditions of the award agreement under which such PIP Units were granted, and (b) with respect to each Equityholder, that portion of the Estimated
Merger Consideration and the Additional Merger Consideration payable with respect to such Equityholder pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement
after giving effect to the payments to be made pursuant to the preceding clause (a).

“Allocable Share” means, with respect to any Person, as of any date of determination, the Allocable Proceeds paid to such Person as of such date
pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof, divided by the Allocable Proceeds paid to all Persons as of such date pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof.

“Allocation Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(b)(i).

“Alternative Acquisition Proposal” means any inquiry, indication of interest, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Buyer) or “group,”
within the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, for, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, any (a) acquisition of
assets or businesses that constitute or represent 10% or more of the total revenue, net income, EBITDA or assets of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken
as a whole, (b) acquisition of any of the outstanding equity interests of the Company or any Subsidiary or (c) merger, consolidation, share exchange, business
combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company or any Subsidiary, in each case of the preceding clauses
(a), (b) and (c), other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

“Alternative Debt Commitment Letter” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.10(b).

“Alternative Financing” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.10(b).

“Antitrust Laws” means the HSR Act, the Sherman Act, the Clayton Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, and any other United States
(including state and federal) or foreign Laws that are designed to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or
restraint of trade.

“Berkshire” means Berkshire Partners LLC.

“BF Acquisition Partnerships” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
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“BF VII-A AP” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“BF VIII-A AP” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Blocker Common Stock” means LTS BF VII-A Blocker Common Stock and LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Common Stock.

“Blocker Corporations” means LTS BF VII-A Blocker and LTS BF VIII-A Blocker.

“Blockerco Cash” means, as of immediately prior to the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger, all cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
(however derived, including from capital contributions, operations, financings, sales or condemnations, insurance proceeds or extraordinary events) of each
Blockerco (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any security or similar deposits and any deposits or cash held as collateral in respect of outstanding letters
of credit and cash and checks previously received by such Blockerco or its banks, whether or not cleared, and deposits in transit), and net of checks written
but not cleared, in each case, as determined in accordance with the Agreed Principles.

“Blockerco Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Article V.

“Blockerco Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.

“Blockerco Equity Interests” means the equity interests of the Blockercos.

“Blockerco Equityholders” means those Persons holding outstanding Blockerco Equity Interests immediately prior to the applicable Blockerco
Merger Effective Time.

“Blockerco Merger Effective Times” means the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective
Time, the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time and the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time.

“Blockercos” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Business” means the business conducted by the Company and the Subsidiaries as of the date hereof.

“Business Day” means any day of the year other than a Saturday or a Sunday on which national banking institutions in New York, New York and
Boston, Massachusetts are open to the public for conducting business and are not required or authorized to close.

“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Buyer Arrangements” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.17.

“Buyer Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.

“Buyer Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of Buyer set forth in Section 6.1 (Organization and Good
Standing), Section 6.2 (Authorization of Agreement), Section 6.5 (Financial Advisors), Section 6.6 (Sufficient Funds) and Section 6.7 (Solvency).
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“Buyer Parties” means, collectively, Buyer and Merger Subs.

“Buyer Plans” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.9.

“Buyer Related Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(e).

“Buyer Termination Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b).

“Capital Expenditures” means expenditures qualifying as capital expenditures in accordance with GAAP, including, for the avoidance of doubt,
(i) capital expenditure amounts recorded within accounts payable at the Designated Date and (ii) capital expenditure amounts recorded within accrued
expenses at the Designated Date, and excluding amounts related to asset retirement obligations, each as determined in accordance with and on the same basis
set forth on Schedule 1.

“Cash” means all cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (however derived, including from capital contributions, operations, financings,
sales or condemnations, insurance proceeds or extraordinary events) of the Company and the Subsidiaries (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any security
or similar deposits and any deposits or cash held as collateral in respect of outstanding letters of credit and cash and checks previously received by the
Company, the Subsidiaries or their respective banks, whether or not cleared, and deposits in transit), and net of checks written but not cleared, in each case, as
determined in accordance with the Agreed Principles.

“Certificate of Formation” means the Certificate of Formation of the Company.

“Certificates of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(f).

“Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(c).

“Class A Unitholders” means those Persons holding outstanding Class A Units or Class A-1 Units, in each case, immediately prior to the
Company Merger Effective Time.

“Class A Units” means the Class A Units of the Company, as defined in the Operating Agreement.

“Class A-1 Units” means the Class A-1 Units of the Company, as defined in the Operating Agreement.

“Class B Units” means the Class B Units of the Company, as defined in the Operating Agreement.

“Class B Unitholders” means those Persons holding outstanding Class B Units or Class B-1 Units, in each case, immediately prior to the
Company Merger Effective Time.

“Class B-1 Units” means the Class B-1 Units of the Company, as defined in the Operating Agreement.

“Clayton Act” means the Clayton Act of 1914.

“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
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“Closing Cash” means the aggregate amount of Cash as of the Designated Time.

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

“Closing Debt” means the aggregate amount of Debt as of the Designated Time.

“Closing Net Working Capital” means the aggregate amount of Net Working Capital as of the Designated Time.

“Closing Transaction Expenses” means the aggregate amount of Transaction Expenses as of or at the Closing.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

“Commitment Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6.

“Commonly Controlled Entity” means any Person that, at the relevant time, together with the Company or any Subsidiary, is treated as a single
employer under Section 4001(b) of ERISA or Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.

“Communications Act” means the Communications Act of 1934.

“Communications Laws” means the Communications Act and all other applicable federal, state and local Laws governing telecommunications
services and facilities.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Company and Blockerco Fundamental Representations” means the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 4.1
(Organization and Good Standing), Section 4.2 (Authorization of Agreement), Section 4.3(a)(i) (Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties), Section 4.4
(Capitalization), Section 4.5 (Subsidiaries) and Section 4.24 (Financial Advisors) and the representations and warranties of the Blockercos set forth in
Section 5.1 (Organization and Good Standing), Section 5.2 (Authorization of Agreement), Section 5.3(a)(i) (Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties) and
Section 5.4 (Capitalization).

“Company Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(a).

“Company Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(f).

“Company Disclosure Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Article IV.

“Company Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2.

“Company Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Company Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Company Merger Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(f).
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“Company Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Company Related Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(e).

“Company Surviving Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(h).

“Company Unitholders” means the Class A Unitholders and the Class B Unitholders (other than the Blockercos).

“Confidentiality Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.5.

“Continuing Employee” means any individual employed by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Closing and who
continues his or her employment with the Company or the Subsidiaries following the Closing.

“Contract” means any written contract, agreement, indenture, note, bond, mortgage, loan, instrument, lease, or license (it being understood that,
for purposes of the foregoing, each Contract shall be deemed to include all service orders or similar supplements that are governed by such Contract, and such
service orders or similar supplements shall be deemed to be a part of such Contract and not to be separate Contracts).

“Controlled Group Liability” means any liabilities under (a) under Title IV of ERISA, (b) Section 302 or 4068(a) of ERISA or (c) Section 430(k)
or 4971 of the Code.

“Data Room” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a)(xiii).

“Debt” means, without duplication, all monetary obligations (including the principal, accrued and unpaid interest, prepayment and redemption
premiums or penalties (if any), unpaid fees or expenses and other obligations with respect thereto) of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries in
respect of (a) indebtedness for borrowed money, (b) other obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures, mortgages or similar instruments, (c) obligations
for the deferred purchase price of property or services, including any “earn-out” payments, except current trade accounts payable and accrued expenses
managed in the Ordinary Course of Business or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate action and for which reserves have been maintained in
accordance with GAAP, (d) obligations as lessee under leases that are required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP, (e) any drawn letters of credit
issued on behalf of any Blockerco, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, (f) obligations secured by a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any property or
asset of any Blockerco, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, whether or not such Person has assumed or become liable for such obligation, (g) obligations
of the Blockercos, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries pursuant to any surety bond or performance bond to the extent drawn upon, (h) obligations under
any interest rate protection, currency exchange, or commodity hedging agreements or other swap arrangements (including any swaps, forward contracts, caps,
floors, collars and similar agreements or arrangements) and (i) obligations of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (h) of any other Persons the payment
of which any Blockerco, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is responsible or liable for, directly or indirectly, as an obligor, guarantor, surety or
otherwise, in each case, currently in effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Debt” shall not include, (i) letters of credit, surety bonds or performance bonds to
the extent not drawn upon, (ii) intercompany indebtedness, (iii) obligations under operating leases and real property leases (other than capital leases),
(iv) Taxes, (v) amounts included as
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Closing Transaction Expenses or (vi) amounts taken into account in the calculation of Closing Net Working Capital.

“Debt Commitment Letter” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6.

“Designated Approvals” means the approval of this Agreement by the general partners and managers, as applicable, of the Blockercos and the
Company, as described in the Preamble, together with the adoption of this Agreement by the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder and the LTS BF VIII-A
Blocker Sole Stockholder.

“Designated Date” means the date on which the Designated Time occurs.

“Designated Time” means 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date.

“DGCL” means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

“Disclosure Schedules” means the Company Disclosure Schedule and the Blockerco Disclosure Schedule.

“Dispute Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(ii).

“Disputed Item” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(ii).

“Distribution Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

“DLLCA” means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act.

“DRULPA” means the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act.

“E&P Report” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11(h).

“Effect” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Material Adverse Effect”.

“Effective Times” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

“Enforceable” means, with respect to any Contract stated to be Enforceable by or against any Person, that such Contract is a legal, valid and
binding obligation enforceable by or against such Person in accordance with its terms, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties
thereto, except to the extent that enforcement of the rights and remedies created thereby is subject to (a) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium
or other similar laws of general application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and (b) general principles of equity, including principles of good
faith and fair dealing (regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

“Enterprise Value” means $7,100,000,000.
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“Environmental Claim” means any Claim, loss, cost, expense, liability, fine, penalty or damage arising out of or related to any violation of, or
liability under, Environmental Law or with respect to any Release of or exposure to any Hazardous Material.

“Environmental Law” means any applicable Law relating to pollution or to the protection of the environment, natural resources, threatened or
endangered species or biota, or human health and safety, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C.
§ 9601 et seq.), the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. App. § 1801 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901
et seq.), the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.) the Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et
seq.), the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act (42 U.S.C. § 11001 et seq.) and the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (7
U.S.C. § 136 et seq.).

“Environmental Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.18.

“Equity Plans” means the LTS Group Holdings LLC 2013 Equity Incentive Plan and the LTS Group Holdings LLC 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

“Equityholder Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Equityholder Group” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11.

“Equityholders” means the Company Unitholders and the Blockerco Equityholders.

“Equityholders’ Closing Proceeds” means the aggregate Allocable Proceeds payable to the Equityholders in respect of the Estimated Merger
Consideration.

“Equityholders’ Representative” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Equityholders’ Representative Expense Fund Amount” means $1,000,000.

“Equityholders’ Representative Expense Funds” means, as of any time, the amount of the Equityholders’ Representative Expense Fund Amount
then held by the Equityholders’ Representative pursuant to this Agreement.

“ERISA” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(a).

“Escrow Account” means the escrow account to be maintained by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow Agreement.

“Escrow Agent” means Citibank, N.A. or another nationally recognized escrow agent mutually agreed to by Buyer and the Equityholders’
Representative.

“Escrow Agreement” means an escrow agreement by and among Buyer, the Equityholders’ Representative and the Escrow Agent on the Escrow
Agent’s standard form and as mutually agreed to by Buyer and the Equityholders’ Representative acting in good faith that provides that the Adjustment
Escrow Amount is released in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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“Estimated Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

“Estimated Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

“Existing Credit Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the definition of “Existing Debt Agreements”, as amended, restated, amended and
restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Existing Debt Agreements” means (a) the First Lien Credit Agreement dated as of April 11, 2013 by and among LTS Intermediate Holdings C
LLC, LTS Buyer LLC, Sidera Networks, Inc., the other guarantors party thereto from time to time, the lenders party thereto in their capacities as lenders
thereunder and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (as amended, restated, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time,
the “Existing Credit Agreement”), (b) the Note Purchase Agreement, entered into as of August 12, 2015, by and among LTS Buyer LLC, Fibertech Holdings
Corp., the other guarantors party thereto from time to time and the investors party thereto from time to time as purchasers (as amended, restated, amended and
restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the “2022 Note Purchase Agreement”) and (c) the Note Purchase Agreement, entered into as of August 12,
2015, by and among LTS Intermediate Holdings B LLC and the investors party thereto from time to time as purchasers (as amended, restated, amended and
restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the “2025 Note Purchase Agreement”).

“FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission.

“Federal Trade Commission Act” means the Federal Trade Commission Act of 1914.

“Fee Letter” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6.

“Final Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(c)(i).

“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.6(a).

“Financing” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.6.

“Financing Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.10(b).

“Financing Source Parties” means the Financing Sources and their respective former, current and future directors, officers, managers, members,
stockholders, partners, employees, agents, advisors and representatives, and successors and assigns of the foregoing.

“Financing Sources” means the Commitment Parties and each other Person that has committed to provide or otherwise entered into any
commitment letter, engagement letter, credit agreement, underwriting agreement, purchase agreement, placement agreement, indenture or other agreement
with Buyer or any of its Affiliates in connection with, or that is otherwise acting as an arranger, bookrunner, underwriter, initial purchaser, placement agent,
administrative or collateral agent, trustee or a similar representative in respect of, any Financing.

“Fraud” means the making by a party hereto, to another party hereto, of an express representation and warranty of existing fact contained in this
Agreement; provided, that at the time such representation and warranty was made by such party (a) such representation and warranty was materially
 

- 12 -



inaccurate, (b) such party had actual knowledge (and not imputed or constructive knowledge), without any duty of inquiry or investigation, of the material
inaccuracy of such representation, (c) in making such representation and warranty such party had the specific intent to deceive such other party hereto, and
(d) such other party acted in reasonable reliance on such representation and warranty and suffered damages as a result of such reliance. For the avoidance of
doubt, “Fraud” does not include equitable fraud, promissory fraud, unfair dealings fraud, or any torts (including fraud) based on negligence or recklessness.

“Fund Administrator” means the entity that administers a state or the federal Universal Service Fund.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as of the date hereof (or, as used in Section 4.6, with respect to any
Financial Statements, as in effect as of the date such Financial Statements were prepared), consistently applied.

“Governmental Body” means any government or governmental or regulatory body thereof, or political subdivision thereof, whether federal, state,
local or foreign, or any agency, instrumentality or authority thereof (including any self-regulatory organization), or any court, tribunal or arbitrator (public or
private).

“Hazardous Material” means any petroleum or petroleum products, radioactive materials, electromagnetic radiation, asbestos or asbestos-
containing materials, toxic mold, lead and lead based paint and polychlorinated biphenyls and any other substance, material or waste that is regulated or that
can result in liability under any Environmental Law.

“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

“Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.6(a).

“Independent Accountant” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(iii).

“Initial Redemptions” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Insurance Expenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.9(a).

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property rights arising from or in respect of the following in any jurisdiction: (a) patents and
applications therefor, including continuations, divisionals, continuations-in-part, or reissues of patent applications and patents issuing thereon; (b) trademarks,
service marks, trade names, brand names, trade dress rights, logos, Internet domain names and other indications or origin, together with the goodwill
associated with any of the foregoing, and all applications, registrations and renewals thereof; (c) copyrights and registrations and applications therefor and
works of authorship; and (d) rights in Software and Technology.

“Interest Rate” means eight percent (8.0%) per annum during the period from the date that payment is due to the date of payment.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service and, to the extent relevant, the United States Department of Treasury.
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“Knowledge of Buyer” means the actual knowledge, or the knowledge that such individuals would have after reasonable inquiry of the officer or
employee of Buyer who has responsibility for the subject matter in question, of Daniel Schlanger, Son Nguyen and Kenneth Simon.

“Knowledge of the Company” means the actual knowledge, or the knowledge that such individuals would have after reasonable inquiry of the
officer or employee of the Company who has responsibility for the subject matter in question, of Robert Shanahan, Eric Sandman, Douglas Dalissandro,
Jason Campbell, Philip Olivero and David Mayer.

“Law” means any applicable foreign, federal, state or local law (including common law), statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation, Order or other
legal requirement of any Governmental Body.

“Law Firms” means Ropes & Gray LLP and Covington & Burling LLP.

“Legal Proceeding” means any judicial, administrative or arbitral claims, actions, causes of action, suits or proceedings (whether public or
private and whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative) by or before a Governmental Body.

“Legal Restraint” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1(a).

“Letters of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Lien” means any lien, encumbrance, pledge, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, lease, charge, option, right of first refusal or first offer,
easement, servitude or other transfer restriction (other than, in the case of a security, any restriction on the transfer of such security arising solely under
applicable Law).

“Lower Limit” means NEGATIVE $65,100,000.

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a).

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(a).

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in the Section 2.4(a).

“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder” means Berkshire Fund VII-A, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.
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“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Surviving Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(c).

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(b).

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in the Section 2.4(b).

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder” means Berkshire Fund VIII-A, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.

“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(d).

“LTS BF Blocker Sole Stockholders” means the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder and the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder.

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(c).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in the Section 2.4(c).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(e).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
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“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(d).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in the Section 2.4(d).

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(f).

“LTS Rollover Blocker” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Rollover Blocker Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(e).

“LTS Rollover Blocker Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“LTS Rollover Blocker Merger” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(e).

“LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“LTS Rollover Blocker Surviving Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(g).

“Material Adverse Effect” means any effect, change, event, occurrence, development, state of facts, condition or circumstance (any such item, an
“Effect”) that, individually or in the aggregate, has had or would reasonably be expected to (x) have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or
otherwise), business, assets, properties or results of operations of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (y) prevent or
materially impair or delay any of the Blockercos, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries from performing its material obligations under this Agreement or
consummating the Transactions as contemplated hereby; provided, however, that no Effect caused by or resulting from any of the following, either alone or in
combination, shall constitute or be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be a Material Adverse Effect: (a) any Effect affecting the
economy of the United States generally, including changes in the credit, debt, capital or financial markets (including changes in interest or exchange rates), or
the economy of any region or country in which any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries conducts business; (b) any Effect affecting the
industries in which any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries conducts business; (c) any Effect arising in connection with earthquakes, natural
disasters or global, national or regional political conditions, including hostilities, military actions, political instability, acts of terrorism or war or any
escalation or material worsening of any such hostilities, military actions,
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political instability, acts of terrorism or war existing or underway as of the date hereof; (d) any failure, in and of itself, by the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period (it being understood that the Effects
giving rise to such failure may be taken into account in determining whether there has been or will be a Material Adverse Effect); (e) compliance with, or any
action required to be taken by the any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries under, the terms of this Agreement or in connection with the
Transactions (other than pursuant to Section 7.2); (f) any Effect that results from any action taken at the express request of Buyer or with Buyer’s consent;
(g) the announcement of the execution of this Agreement, including the effects of the Transactions on relationships with customers, suppliers, Governmental
Bodies, employees, or other third-party relationships; (h) any change in Law or GAAP or interpretation thereof after the date of this Agreement; or (i) any
breach by Buyer of its obligations under this Agreement, unless, in the cases of the preceding clauses (a), (b), (c) or (h) such Effects would reasonably be
expected to have a materially disproportionate impact on the condition (financial or otherwise), business, assets, properties or results of operations of the
Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other affected participants in the industries in which the Blockercos, the
Company and the Subsidiaries conduct business (in which case, only the incremental disproportionate impact shall be taken into account in determining
whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect).

“Material Contracts” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.13(a).

“Material Network Contracts” means all pole attachment agreements, rights-of-way agreements, collocation agreements, conduit agreements,
ILEC interconnection agreements, fiber lease agreements, IRUs or similar agreement granting to the Company or any of the Subsidiaries rights to attach,
affix, maintain, repair, replace, run, lay or otherwise deploy fiber optic cable, or to locate power, electric or optronic equipment, and any master service
agreement setting forth the terms and conditions relating to any of the foregoing, in each case that is material to the business of the Company and the
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

“Material Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.17(b).

“Maximum Planned NRR Amount” means the aggregate amount of Planned NRR from January 1, 2017 through the month on which the
Designated Date occurs as set forth on Schedule 2 multiplied by 105%, as set forth on Schedule 2 (in the event the Designated Date does not occur on a
month end, the monthly Planned NRR Amount for the purposes of this definition shall be prorated based on the number of days in such month that have
elapsed prior to the Designated Date).

“Merger Consideration” means an amount equal to (a) the Enterprise Value, plus (b) the Closing Cash, minus (c) the Closing Debt, minus (d) the
Closing Transaction Expenses, plus (e) the amount, if any, by which the Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Upper Limit (for the avoidance of
doubt, the Closing Net Working Capital is a smaller negative number than the negative $53,100,000 Upper Limit (or a positive number)), less (f) the amount,
if any, by which the Lower Limit is greater than the Closing Net Working Capital (for the avoidance of doubt, the Closing Net Working Capital is a larger
negative number than the negative $65,100,000 Lower Limit), plus (g) the amount, if any, by which the Actual Capital Expenditure Amount is greater than
the Planned Capital Expenditure Amount, less (h) the amount, if any, by which the Planned Capital Expenditure Amount is greater than the Actual Capital
Expenditure Amount, less (i) the amount, if any, by which the Actual NRR Amount is
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greater than the Maximum Planned NRR Amount, plus (j) the amount, if any, by which the Minimum Planned NRR Amount is greater than the Actual NRR
Amount, plus (k) the Aggregate Delayed Closing Consideration, if any, less (l) the Adjustment Escrow Amount, less (m) the Equityholders’ Representative
Expense Fund Amount.

“Merger Subs” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Mergers” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Minimum Planned NRR Amount” means the aggregate amount of Planned NRR from January 1, 2017 through the month on which the
Designated Date occurs as set forth on Schedule 2 multiplied by 95%, as set forth on Schedule 2 (in the event the Designated Date does not occur on a month
end, the monthly Planned NRR Amount for the purposes of this definition shall be prorated based on the number of days in such month that have elapsed
prior to the Designated Date).

“Net Working Capital” means (a) the Specified Current Assets, minus (b) the Specified Current Liabilities, in each case, as determined in
accordance with and on the same basis set forth in the Net Working Capital Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A and calculated in accordance with the
Agreed Principles.

“Network Facilities” shall mean fiber optic cabling (or rights thereto) and other fixed network-related assets used by the Company and the
Subsidiaries to carry out their business as now conducted, whether owned or leased by the Company and the Subsidiaries and irrespective of whether they are
located on public or private property, including wires, cables, conduits and small cell nodes or other small cell facilities.

“Non-Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.13.

“NRR” means up-front customer funding amounts related to Capital Expenditures, including, for the avoidance of doubt, (a) up-front customer
funding amounts invoiced in 2017 and collected in cash, (b) up-front customer funding amounts recorded within accounts receivable at the Designated Date
and (c) up-front customer funding amounts recorded within unbilled accounts receivable at the Designated Date, each as determined in accordance with and
on the same basis set forth on Schedule 2.

“Off-Net Services” means any telecommunications service provided by a third-party directly to any of the Company’s or any Subsidiary’s
customers or end-users.

“Off-the-Shelf-Software” means commercial software obtained from a third party on general commercial terms pursuant to a standard license
agreement.

“Operating Agreement” means the Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company, as amended, restated, amended and restated or
otherwise modified from time to time.

“Order” means any order, decision, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, writ, assessment, stipulation or arbitration or other award entered by or
with any Governmental Body.
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“Ordinary Course of Business” means, with respect to any Person, the ordinary and usual course of day-to-day operations of such Person,
consistent with past practice.

“Owned Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.10(d).

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(a).

“Pass-Through Tax Return” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11(b).

“Pay-off Letters” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(c).

“Paying Agent” means Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

“Permits” means any approvals, authorizations, consents, licenses, permits, certificates, registrations, franchises or similar consents granted by a
Governmental Body, in each case, other than Telecommunication Permits.

“Permitted Liens” means (a) all defects, exceptions, restrictions, easements, rights of way and encumbrances disclosed in policies of title
insurance that do not adversely affect in any material respect the current use by the Company of the property to which such defects, exceptions, restrictions,
easements, rights of way or encumbrances relate; (b) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet due and payable or the amount or
validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries and for which adequate reserves have
been made in accordance with GAAP; (c) landlords’, mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, repairers’ and similar Liens arising or incurred in the Ordinary Course
of Business relating to obligations as to which there is no material default on the part of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or the validity of which are
being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (d) zoning, building code, entitlement and other land use and Environmental Laws in each case that
do not adversely affect in any material respect the current use by the Company of the property to which it relates; (e) title of a lessor under a capital or
operating lease, and leases, subleases, and similar transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business; (f) title or other interest of a pole or conduit owner in poles
and conduits licensed to others that do not adversely affect in any material respect the current use by the Company of the property to which it relates; (g) title
of a Governmental Body to rights-of-way that do not adversely affect in any material respect the current use by the Company of the property to which it
relates; (h) licenses in Intellectual Property granted in the Ordinary Course of Business; (i) gaps in the chain of title for Intellectual Property evident from the
public records of the Governmental Body maintaining the applications or registrations therefor that do not adversely affect in any material respect the current
use by the Company of the property to which it relates; and (j) other immaterial imperfections in title, charges, easements, restrictions and encumbrances.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust,
unincorporated organization, Governmental Body or other entity.

“Personal Property Lease” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.11.

“Personal Property Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.11.
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“PIP Holder Closing Proceeds” means the aggregate Allocable Proceeds payable to the PIP Holders in respect of the Estimated Merger
Consideration.

“PIP Holders” means those Persons holding outstanding PIP Units immediately prior to the Company Merger Effective Time.

“PIP Plans” means the LTS Group Holdings LLC 2013 Performance Incentive Plan and the LTS Group Holdings LLC 2015 Performance
Incentive Plan.

“PIP Units” means the Notional Incentive Units granted pursuant to the PIP Plans.

“Planned Capital Expenditure Amount” means the aggregate amount of the Planned Capital Expenditures for the period from January 1, 2017
through the Designated Date, as described on Schedule 1, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1.2(a)(xiv)(A).

“Planned Capital Expenditures” means the Capital Expenditures described on Schedule 1.

“Planned NRR” means the NRR described on Schedule 2.

“Planned NRR Amount” means the aggregate amount of the Planned NRR for the period from January 1, 2017 through the Designated Date, as
described on Schedule 2, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1.2(a)(xv).

“Post-Closing Representation” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11.

“Pre-Closing Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(a).

“Pre-Closing Tax Audit” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11(d).

“Proposed Final Merger Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(i).

“Proposed Final Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b)(i).

“Real Property Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.10(a).

“Recourse Theory” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.13.

“Regulatory Restraint” means a Legal Restraint relating to (a) the HSR Act or (b) the Telecom Regulatory Consents set forth on Schedule 8.2(c)
hereto.

“Release” means any actual or threatened release, spill, emission, migration, leaking, dumping, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge,
dispersal, leaching or migration into or through the indoor or outdoor environment.

“Released Claims” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.15.

“Released Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.15.

“Releasing Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.15.
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“Reporting Firm” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11(h).

“Representatives” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s directors, managers, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants,
auditors, advisors or other Persons acting on behalf of such Person.

“Required Information” means (a) the audited consolidated statement of financial position of the Company and the Subsidiaries and the related
audited consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity and cash flows of the Company and the Subsidiaries as at and
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and for each subsequent fiscal year ended at least ninety (90) days prior to the Closing Date, together with audit
reports of the Company’s independent auditor, and (b) the unaudited consolidated statement of financial position of the Company and the Subsidiaries and the
related unaudited consolidated statements of operations and cash flows of the Company and the Subsidiaries as at and for each fiscal quarter (other than the
fourth fiscal quarter of any fiscal year) ended after the most recently completed fiscal year and at least forty-five (45) days prior to the Closing Date (and, in
the case of the second and third fiscal quarters of any fiscal year, the related six-month (6-month) or nine-month (9-month) interim period thereof and
comparable periods for the prior fiscal year (which, other than for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2017, shall have been reviewed by the Company’s
independent accountants as provided in AS 4015 (formerly SAS 100)).

“Requisite Section 280G Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.17.

“R&W Insurance Policy” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.16.

“Schedules” means the Disclosure Schedules and the other schedules hereto.

“Seller Returns” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11(b).

“Sherman Act” means the Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890.

“Significant Customers” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.21.

“Significant Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.21.

“Software” means any and all: (a) computer programs, including any and all software implementations of algorithms, models and methodologies,
whether in source code or object code; and (b) databases and compilations, including any and all data and collections of data, whether machine readable or
otherwise.

“Specified Current Assets” means the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ (a) accounts receivable, net; (b) unbilled revenue; (c) Tax receivables;
and (d) other current assets, in each case, determined in accordance with the Agreed Principles; provided, that the Specified Current Assets shall not include
(i) Cash; (ii) prepaid management fees; (iii) deferred financing fees; or (iv) deferred Tax assets.

“Specified Current Liabilities” means the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ (a) accounts payable; and (b) accrued expenses and other current
liabilities (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include all income and other Taxes payable), in each case, determined in accordance with the Agreed
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Principles; provided, that the Specified Current Liabilities shall not include (i) Debt; (ii) Transaction Expenses; (iii) deferred Tax liabilities; or (iv) deferred
revenue.

“State PUC” means any state public service, public utilities commission, utilities board or similar state agency responsible for regulating the
communications industry within a particular state having regulatory authority over services or Network Facilities of the Company and the Subsidiaries, in any
jurisdiction.

“State PUC Consents” means the waivers, authorizations, approvals and consents required to be obtained from any State PUC in connection with
the consummation of the Transactions.

“Straddle Period” means any taxable period that includes, but does not end on, the Closing Date.

“Subsequent Redemptions” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“Subsidiary” means any Person of which a majority of the outstanding share capital, voting securities or other voting equity interests are owned,
directly or indirectly, by the Company.

“Surviving Companies” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(h).

“Tax” or “Taxes” means: (a) all federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed by any Taxing Authority, including all net income, gross receipts,
capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, inventory, capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security,
unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property and estimated taxes imposed by a Taxing Authority; and (b) all interest, penalties, fines,
additions to tax or additional amounts imposed in connection with any item described in clause (a) of this definition.

“Tax Return” means any return, report, election or statement filed or required to be filed with a Taxing Authority relating to any Tax (including
any attachments thereto, and any amendment thereof).

“Taxing Authority” means any Governmental Body responsible for the imposition, assessment or collection of any Tax.

“Technology” means, collectively, all information, designs, formulae, algorithms, procedures, methods, techniques, ideas, know-how, research
and development, trade secrets, technical data, programs, subroutines, tools, materials, specifications, processes, inventions (whether patentable or
unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), improvements, apparatus, creations, improvements, works of authorship and other similar materials, and
all recordings, graphs, drawings, reports, analyses, and other writings, in any form whether or not specifically listed herein.

“Telecom Regulatory Consents” means the waivers, authorizations, approvals and consents to be obtained from Governmental Bodies pursuant
to the Telecom Regulatory Filings.

“Telecom Regulatory Filings” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(a)(ii).

“Telecommunication Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.22(a).
 

- 22 -



“Termination Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(a).

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement and all other agreements and instruments to be executed by any of the parties hereto at or prior
to the Closing pursuant to this Agreement.

“Transaction Expenses” means, without duplication, (a) all costs, fees and expenses incurred by any of the Blockercos, the Company or any of
the Subsidiaries in connection with the preparation, execution, negotiation and performance of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents or
the Transactions, to the extent incurred and unpaid prior to or at the Closing, including the out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses incurred by the Blockercos,
the Company or the Subsidiaries in connection with the Transactions for investment bankers, accountants, third party consultants, legal counsel and other
professional service advisors, including the fees and expenses of Evercore L.L.C., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Ropes & Gray LLP and Covington &
Burling LLP, and (b) to the extent unpaid prior to or at the Closing, all transaction-related bonuses or retention payments (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not
regular or contractually required bonuses payable in the Ordinary Course of Business for which an accrual is included in Specified Current Liabilities or,
other than associated payroll Taxes, amounts paid to the PIP Holders in respect of the PIP Units) payable to any Participant as a result of or in connection with
the consummation of the Transactions (alone or in combination with any other event, but not, for the avoidance of doubt, any amounts payable as a result of
any action taken solely by, or at the direction of, Buyer or one of its Affiliates following the Closing), including the employer’s share of payroll Taxes payable
on or triggered by such bonuses or payments or payments in respect of PIP Units or the awards granted under the Equity Plan (but excluding any post-Closing
liabilities or obligations arising as a result of both (i) the consummation of the Transactions and (ii) the occurrence of one or more additional post-Closing
events under so-called “double-trigger” severance provisions contained in any employment-related Contracts or Company Benefit Plans).

“Transaction Tax Expenses” means, without duplication, (a) payments to the PIP Holders in respect of the PIP Units pursuant to this Agreement
(including any associated payroll Taxes), (b) the pay down or satisfaction of any Closing Debt, (c) the payment of any Closing Transaction Expenses
(including any associated payroll Taxes) and (d) any other payments deductible for Tax purposes attributable to the Transactions that are economically borne
by the Equityholders.

“Transactions” means the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, including the Mergers.

“Transfer Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.11(a).

“Treasury Regulations” means the United States Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.

“Unblocked Equityholders” means the Equityholders other than the Blockercos.

“Universal Service Contributions” means any amount owed to a federal or state Universal Service Fund under applicable Law (or under any
forms or instructions related to the payment of such amounts, or any policies, practices or procedures adopted by the Fund Administrators), whether billed or
unbilled.
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“Universal Service Fund” means a state or the federal mechanism designated by Law to support the availability of communications services,
whether in high cost areas or to specific classes of customers (such as schools and libraries, low income consumers, hospitals or other designated customer
classes).

“Universal Service Subsidies” means any amounts paid from Universal Service Funds to carriers for services that qualify for support under a
state or the federal Universal Service Fund.

“Upper Limit” means NEGATIVE $53,100,000.

“Waiving Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.11.

“Willful Breach” means, with respect to any party, a knowing and intentional material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other
agreement set forth in this Agreement.

1.2 Other Definitional and Interpretive Matters.

(a) Unless otherwise expressly provided, for purposes of this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation shall apply:

(i) Calculation of Time Period. When calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is to be done or step
taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-
Business Day, the period in question shall end on the next succeeding Business Day. The word “day” shall mean “calendar day” unless “Business Day”
is expressly specified.

(ii) Dollars. Any reference in this Agreement to “$” shall mean U.S. dollars. The specification of any dollar amount in the representations and
warranties or otherwise in this Agreement or in the Exhibits or the Disclosure Schedules is not intended and shall not be deemed to be an admission or
acknowledgment of the materiality of such amounts or items, nor shall the same be used in any dispute or controversy to determine whether any
obligation, item or matter (whether or not described herein or included in the Disclosure Schedules) is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement.

(iii) Exhibits/Schedules. All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this
Agreement as if set forth in full herein and are an integral part of this Agreement. Any matter or item disclosed on one Section of a Disclosure Schedule
shall be deemed to have been disclosed on each other Section of the Disclosure Schedules with respect to which the relevance of such matter or item is
reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure. Disclosure of any item on any Section of the Disclosure Schedules shall not constitute an admission
or indication that such item or matter is material, establish any standard of materiality or define further the meaning of any terms defined in Section 1.1
(and, in particular, the inclusion of any item in a Disclosure Schedule shall not, in and of itself, be a basis for taking such item into account in
determining Closing Debt or Closing Net Working Capital or whether there has been a Material Adverse Effect). No disclosure on a Section of the
Disclosure Schedules relating to a possible breach or violation of any Contract, Law or Order shall be construed as an admission or indication that a
breach or violation exists or
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has actually occurred. Any capitalized terms used in any Exhibit or Schedule to this Agreement but not otherwise defined therein shall be defined as set
forth in this Agreement. The Disclosure Schedules and the information and statements contained therein are not intended to constitute, and shall not be
construed as constituting, representations, warranties, agreements, obligations or covenants of any party, nor shall they be taken as extending the scope
of any representation, warranty, agreement, obligation or covenant set out in this Agreement.

(iv) Gender and Number. Any reference in this Agreement to gender shall include all genders, and words imparting the singular number only
shall include the plural and vice versa.

(v) Headings. The provision of a Table of Contents, the division of this Agreement into Articles, Sections and other subdivisions and the insertion
of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect or be utilized in construing or interpreting this Agreement. All references in this
Agreement to any “Section” are to the corresponding Section of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.

(vi) Herein. The words “herein,” “hereinafter,” “hereof,” and “hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole and not merely to a subdivision in
which such words appear unless the context otherwise requires.

(vii) Including. The word “including” or any variation thereof means (unless the context of its usage otherwise requires) “including, without
limitation” and shall not be construed to limit any general statement that it follows to the specific or similar items or matters immediately following it.

(viii) Reflected On or Set Forth In. An item arising with respect to a specific representation or warranty shall be deemed to be “reflected on” or
“set forth in” financial statements, to the extent any such phrase appears in such representation or warranty, if (A) there is a reserve, accrual or other
similar item underlying a number on such financial statements that related to the subject matter of such representation or warranty, (B) such item is
otherwise specifically set forth on the financial statements or (C) such item is reflected on the financial statements and is specifically set forth in the
notes thereto.

(ix) And/Or. Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, when used herein “or” shall not be exclusive (i.e., “or” shall mean “and/or”).

(x) Amendments, etc. References to a particular statute or regulation include all rules and regulations thereunder and any successor statute, rule or
regulation, in each case, as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

(xi) Parties. Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, when used herein “party” or “parties” shall refer to the party or parties to this
Agreement.

(xii) Shall/Will. The word “shall” shall have the same meaning as the word “will” and vice versa.

(xiii) Data Room. References to documents or information being “made available” or “delivered” shall mean that any such document was posted
as of 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Time) on
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the date prior to the date of this Agreement in the online data room maintained by the Company with respect to the Transactions (the “Data Room”), to
the extent that Buyer or Buyer’s Representatives have been granted access to such documents or information in the Data Room.

(xiv) Capital Expenditure Principles. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or otherwise, for purposes of determining the
Actual Capital Expenditure Amount, and, in the case of clause (A), for purposes of determining the Planned Capital Expenditure Amount, (A) in the
event the Designated Date does not occur on a month end, the monthly target for such partial month shall be prorated based on the number of days in
such month that have elapsed prior to the Designated Date, and the amount of Capital Expenditures made by the Company and the Subsidiaries shall be
determined based on the amount of such Capital Expenditures actually made by them in such month through the date on which the Designated Time
takes place, (B) to the extent that any Capital Expenditure for work performed on or after January 1, 2017, is paid in Cash or included as a liability for
purposes of calculating Net Working Capital, it shall be deemed to be a Capital Expenditure made by the Company and the Subsidiaries for purposes of
calculating the Actual Capital Expenditure Amount, (C) the portion of the Capital Expenditures of the Company and the Subsidiaries for work
performed on or after January 1, 2017 attributable to capitalized labor shall be calculated consistent with the past practices of the Company and the
Subsidiaries and (D) amounts related to asset retirement obligations shall be excluded.

(xv) NRR Principles. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or otherwise, for purposes of determining the Actual NRR
Amount, and, in the case of clause (A), for purposes of determining the Planned NRR Amount, (A) in the event the Designated Date does not occur on
a month end, the monthly target for such partial month shall be prorated based on the number of days in such month that have elapsed prior to the
Designated Date, and the amount of NRR of the Company and the Subsidiaries shall be determined based on the amount of such NRR in such month
through the date on which the Designated Time takes place, (B) to the extent that any NRR is included as a receivable for purposes of calculating Net
Working Capital, it shall be deemed to be a NRR of the Company and the Subsidiaries for purposes of calculating the Actual NRR Amount, (C) only
amounts properly billed pursuant to enforceable Contracts may be included as NRR.

(b) The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or
interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as jointly drafted by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or
disfavoring any party with respect to any provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

THE MERGERS; CLOSING

2.1 Transaction Steps. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the parties agree that the following steps shall be
taken consecutively in the following order (and no step in the sequence below shall commence until the immediately preceding step has been completed in its
entirety, it being understood that the proceeds payable pursuant to the following steps shall be payable substantially simultaneously):
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(a) Initial Redemptions. At least one (1) day prior to the Closing Date, BF VII-A AP and BF VIII-A AP shall cause the Initial Redemptions to be
effected.

(b) Subsequent Redemptions. On the Closing Date, following the Initial Redemptions and immediately prior to the LTS BF VII-A Blocker
Merger, the Blockercos shall cause the Subsequent Redemptions to be effected.

(c) LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger. On the Closing Date, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in
accordance with the DGCL, LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub shall be merged with and into LTS BF VII-A Blocker at the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger
Effective Time. Following the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, the separate corporate existence of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub shall
cease and LTS BF VII-A Blocker shall continue as the surviving corporation in the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger (the “LTS BF VII-A Blocker Surviving
Company”) as a wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer, and shall succeed to and assume without further formality all the business, benefits, goodwill, rights and
obligations of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub in accordance with the DGCL.

(d) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger. On the Closing Date, following the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub shall be merged with and into LTS BF VIII-A
Blocker at the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time. Following the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, the separate corporate
existence of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub shall cease and LTS BF VIII-A Blocker shall continue as the surviving corporation in the LTS BF VIII-A
Blocker Merger (the “LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company”) as a wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer, and shall succeed to and assume without further
formality all the business, benefits, goodwill, rights and obligations of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub in accordance with the DGCL.

(e) LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger. On the Closing Date, following the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DLLCA and the DGCL, LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub shall be merged with and
into LTS Co-Invest Blocker I at the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time. Following the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time, the
separate corporate existence of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub shall cease and LTS Co-Invest Blocker I shall continue as the surviving limited liability
company in the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger (the “LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company”) as a wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer, and shall
succeed to and assume without further formality all the business, benefits, goodwill, rights and obligations of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub in
accordance with the DLLCA and the DGCL.

(f) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger. On the Closing Date, following the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DLLCA and the DGCL, LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub shall be merged with and
into LTS Co-Invest Blocker II at the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time. Following the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time, the
separate corporate existence of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub shall cease and LTS Co-Invest Blocker II shall continue as the surviving limited liability
company in the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger (the “LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company”) as a wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer, and shall
succeed to and
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assume without further formality all the business, benefits, goodwill, rights and obligations of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub in accordance with the
DLLCA and the DGCL.

(g) LTS Rollover Blocker Merger. On the Closing Date, following the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DLLCA and the DGCL, LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub shall be merged with and into
LTS Rollover Blocker at the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time. Following the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time, the separate
corporate existence of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub shall cease and LTS Rollover Blocker shall continue as the surviving limited liability company in
the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger (the “LTS Rollover Blocker Surviving Company”) as a wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer, and shall succeed to and assume
without further formality all the business, benefits, goodwill, rights and obligations of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub in accordance with the DLLCA and
the DGCL.

(h) Company Merger. On the Closing Date, following the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in
this Agreement, and in accordance with the DLLCA and the DGCL, Company Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company at the Company
Merger Effective Time. Following the Company Merger Effective Time, the separate corporate existence of Company Merger Sub shall cease and the
Company shall continue as the surviving limited liability company in the Company Merger (the “Company Surviving Company” and, together with the LTS
BF VII-A Blocker Surviving Company, the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company, the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company and the LTS Co-
Invest Blocker II Surviving Company, the “Surviving Companies”), and shall succeed to and assume without further formality all the business, benefits,
goodwill, rights and obligations of Company Merger Sub in accordance with the DLLCA and the DGCL.

2.2 Closing. The closing of the Transactions (the “Closing”) shall take place at 10:00 a.m. (Eastern Time) on a date to be specified by the parties,
which date shall be no later than the fifth (5th) Business Day after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VIII (other than those conditions
that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions at such time), at the offices of Ropes & Gray
LLP, 800 Boylston Street, Boston, Massachusetts, 02199, unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto. The date on which
the Closing actually occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the “Closing Date”.

2.3 Certificates of Merger. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, at the Closing, the parties shall cause the Mergers to be consummated by
filing in the order contemplated by Section 2.1, with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware:

(a) a certificate of merger with respect to the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger (the “LTS BF VII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger”), executed in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL;

(b) a certificate of merger with respect to the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger (the “LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger”), executed in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL;
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(c) a certificate of merger with respect to the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger (the “LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Certificate of Merger”), executed in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the DLLCA and the DGCL;

(d) a certificate of merger with respect to the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger (the “LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Certificate of Merger”), executed
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DLLCA and the DGCL;

(e) a certificate of merger with respect to the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger (the “LTS Rollover Blocker Certificate of Merger”), executed in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the DLLCA and the DGCL; and

(f) a certificate of merger with respect to the Company Merger (the “Company Certificate of Merger” and, together with the LTS BF VII-A
Blocker Certificate of Merger, the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger, the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Certificate of Merger, the LTS Co-Invest
Blocker II Certificate of Merger and the LTS Rollover Blocker Certificate of Merger, the “Certificates of Merger”), executed in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the DLLCA and the DGCL.

As soon as practicable at the Closing, the parties shall make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL, DLLCA and DRULPA, as applicable,
with respect to the Mergers.

2.4 Effective Times. The following effective times (collectively, the “Effective Times”) shall apply to the Mergers:

(a) LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger. The LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger shall become effective at such time as the LTS BF VII-A Blocker
Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such other time as Buyer and LTS BF VII-A Blocker shall agree in
writing and shall specify in the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger (the time the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger becomes effective being the “LTS
BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time”).

(b) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger. The LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger shall become effective at such time as the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker
Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such other time as Buyer and LTS BF VIII-A Blocker shall agree
in writing and shall specify in the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger (the time the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger becomes effective being the
“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time”).

(c) LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger. The LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger shall become effective at such time as the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I
Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such other time as Buyer and LTS Co-Invest Blocker I shall agree
in writing and shall specify in the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Certificate of Merger (the time the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger becomes effective being the
“LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time”).

(d) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger. The LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger shall become effective at such time as the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II
Certificate of Merger is duly filed with
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the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such other time as Buyer and LTS Co-Invest Blocker II shall agree in writing and shall specify in the LTS
Co-Invest Blocker II Certificate of Merger (the time the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger becomes effective being the “LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger
Effective Time”).

(e) LTS Rollover Blocker Merger. The LTS Rollover Blocker Merger shall become effective at such time as the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger
Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such other time as Buyer and LTS Rollover Blocker shall agree in
writing and shall specify in the LTS Rollover Blocker Certificate of Merger (the time the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger becomes effective being the “LTS
Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time”).

(f) Company Merger. The Company Merger shall become effective at such time as the Company Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such other time as Buyer and the Company shall agree in writing and shall specify in the Company
Certificate of Merger (the time the Company Merger becomes effective being the “Company Merger Effective Time”).

2.5 General Effects of the Mergers. Without limitation of the other terms of this Agreement, including the terms of Section 2.6, Section 2.7 and
Article III, the effects of the Mergers shall be as follows:

(a) LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger. At the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, the effects of the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger shall
be as provided in this Agreement, the DGCL and the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger.

(b) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger. At the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, the effects of the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger
shall be as provided in this Agreement, the DGCL and the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Certificate of Merger.

(c) LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger. At the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time, the effects of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger
shall be as provided in this Agreement, the DLLCA, the DGCL and the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Certificate of Merger.

(d) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger. At the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time, the effects of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II
Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement, the DLLCA, the DGCL and the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Certificate of Merger.

(e) LTS Rollover Blocker Merger. At the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time, the effects of the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger shall be
as provided in this Agreement, the DLLCA, the DGCL and the LTS Rollover Blocker Certificate of Merger.

(f) Company Merger. At the Company Merger Effective Time, the effects of the Company Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement, the
DLLCA, the DGCL and the Company Certificate of Merger.

2.6 Organizational Documents. Effective upon the applicable Effective Times, the organizational documents of the Blockercos and the Company
shall be as follows:
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(a) LTS BF VII-A Blocker Surviving Company. Effective upon the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, (i) the certificate of
incorporation of LTS BF VII-A Blocker shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the
certificate of incorporation of LTS BF VII-A Blocker until amended in accordance with applicable Law, and (ii) the bylaws of LTS BF VII-A Blocker shall be
amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the bylaws of LTS BF VII-A Blocker until amended in
accordance with applicable Law.

(b) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company. Effective upon the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, (i) the certificate of
incorporation of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the
certificate of incorporation of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker until amended in accordance with applicable Law, and (ii) the bylaws of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker shall
be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the bylaws of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker until
amended in accordance with applicable Law.

(c) LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company. Effective upon the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time, (i) the certificate of
formation of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the
certificate of formation of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I until amended in accordance with applicable Law, and (ii) the limited liability company agreement of LTS
Co-Invest Blocker I shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the limited liability
company agreement of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I until amended in accordance with applicable Law.

(d) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company. Effective upon the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time, (i) the certificate of
formation of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the
certificate of formation of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II until amended in accordance with applicable Law, and (ii) the limited liability company agreement of
LTS Co-Invest Blocker II shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the limited liability
company agreement of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II until amended in accordance with applicable Law.

(e) LTS Rollover Blocker Surviving Company. Effective upon the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time, (i) the certificate of formation
of LTS Rollover Blocker shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the certificate of
formation of LTS Rollover Blocker until amended in accordance with applicable Law, and (ii) the limited liability company agreement of LTS Rollover
Blocker shall be amended and restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the limited liability company
agreement of the LTS Rollover Blocker until amended in accordance with applicable Law.

(f) Company Surviving Company. Effective upon the Company Merger Effective Time, (i) the Certificate of Formation shall be amended and
restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the certificate of formation of the Company until amended in
accordance with applicable Law, and (ii) the Operating Agreement shall be amended and
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restated in the form designated by Buyer prior to the Closing, and as so amended shall be the limited liability company agreement of the Company until
amended in accordance with applicable Law.

(g) Indemnification and Exculpation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 2.6 shall be subject to Section 7.6(b).

2.7 Directors, Officers, Managing Members and General Partners. Effective upon the Effective Times, the directors, officers, managing members
and general partners of the Blockercos and the Company, as applicable, shall be as follows:

(a) LTS BF VII-A Blocker Surviving Company. The directors of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub at the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger
Effective Time shall be the initial directors of LTS BF VII-A Blocker and shall hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of
the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Surviving Company until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or
removal. The officers of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub at the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the LTS BF
VII-A Blocker Surviving Company and shall hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the LTS BF VII-A Blocker
Surviving Company until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal.

(b) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company. The directors of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub at the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger
Effective Time shall be the initial directors of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker and shall hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of
the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or
removal. The officers of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub at the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the LTS BF
VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company and shall hold office in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker
Surviving Company until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal.

(c) LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company. The directors of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub at the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger
Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company and shall hold such position in accordance with the certificate
of formation and limited liability company agreement of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Surviving Company until its successor is duly elected or appointed and
qualified or until its earlier resignation or removal.

(d) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company. The directors of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub at the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II
Merger Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company and shall hold such position in accordance with the
certificate of formation and limited liability company agreement of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company until its successor is duly elected or
appointed and qualified or until its earlier resignation or removal.

(e) LTS Rollover Blocker Surviving Company. The directors of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub at the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective
Time shall be the initial directors of the LTS Rollover Blocker Surviving Company and shall hold such position in accordance with the
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certificate of formation and limited liability company agreement of the LTS Rollover Blocker Surviving Company until its successor is duly elected or
appointed and qualified or until its earlier resignation or removal.

(f) Company Surviving Company. The directors of the Company Merger Sub at the Company Merger Effective Time shall be the initial directors
of the Company and shall hold office in accordance with the certificate of formation and limited liability company agreement of the Company Surviving
Company until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal. The officers of the Company
Merger Sub at the Company Merger Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the Company Surviving Company and shall hold office in accordance with
the certificate of formation and limited liability company agreement of the Company Surviving Company until their successors are duly elected or appointed
and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal.

ARTICLE III

EFFECTS OF THE MERGERS ON THE EQUITY INTERESTS OF THE BLOCKERCOS AND THE COMPANY

3.1 LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger. At the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, by virtue of the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger and
without any action on the part of any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS BF VII-A Blocker or any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS BF VII-A
Blocker Merger Sub, the following shall occur:

(a) Conversion of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Common Stock. All issued and outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of
LTS BF VII-A Blocker (“LTS BF VII-A Blocker Common Stock”) (other than any shares to be canceled pursuant to Section 3.1(b)) shall be converted into
and shall thereafter represent the right of the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder, as the sole holder thereof, to receive, following delivery of a duly
executed and completed LTS BF VII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal and the certificate or certificates representing such shares, duly endorsed or
accompanied by duly executed stock transfer powers, in each case, as contemplated by Section 3.7(a), an aggregate amount in cash equal to such
Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds, as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(b) Cancellation of Certain LTS BF VII-A Blocker Common Stock. Each share of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Common Stock that is owned by LTS
BF VII-A Blocker shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(c) Conversion of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub Common Stock. Each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub shall automatically be converted into and become one (1) validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Surviving Company.

3.2 LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger. At the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Effective Time, by virtue of the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger and
without any action on the part of
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any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker or any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub, the following
shall occur:

(a) Conversion of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Common Stock. All issued and outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of
LTS BF VIII-A Blocker (“LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Common Stock”) (other than any shares to be canceled pursuant to Section 3.2(b)) shall be converted into
and shall thereafter represent the right of the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder, as the sole holder thereof, to receive, following delivery of a duly
executed and completed LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal and the certificate or certificates representing such shares, duly endorsed or
accompanied by duly executed stock transfer powers, in each case, as contemplated by Section 3.7(a), an aggregate amount in cash equal to such
Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds, as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(b) Cancellation of Certain LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Common Stock. Each share of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Common Stock that is owned by LTS
BF VIII-A Blocker shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(c) Conversion of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub Common Stock. Each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, of LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub shall automatically be converted into and become one (1) validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Surviving Company.

3.3 LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger. At the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Effective Time, by virtue of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger
and without any action on the part of any holder of membership interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I or any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS Co-Invest
Blocker I Merger Sub, the following shall occur:

(a) Conversion of Membership Interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I. The outstanding membership interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I held by
an Equityholder (other than any such equity interests to be canceled pursuant to Section 3.3(b)) shall be converted into and shall thereafter represent the right
of such Equityholder to receive, following delivery of a duly executed and completed LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Letter of Transmittal as contemplated by
Section 3.7(a), an aggregate amount in cash equal to such Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds, as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(b) Cancellation of Certain Membership Interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I. Each membership interest of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I that is
owned by LTS Co-Invest Blocker I shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange
therefor.

(c) Conversion of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub Common Stock. Each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Merger Sub shall automatically be converted into and become one (1) validly issued membership interest of the LTS Co-
Invest Blocker I Surviving Company.
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3.4 LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger. At the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Effective Time, by virtue of the LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger
and without any action on the part of any holder of membership interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II or any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS Co-
Invest Blocker II Merger Sub, the following shall occur:

(a) Conversion of Membership Interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II. The outstanding membership interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II held by
an Equityholder (other than any such equity interests to be canceled pursuant to Section 3.4(b)) shall be converted into and shall thereafter represent the right
of such Equityholder to receive, following delivery of a duly executed and completed LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Letter of Transmittal as contemplated by
Section 3.7(a), an aggregate amount in cash equal to such Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds, as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(b) Cancellation of Certain Membership Interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II. Each membership interest of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II that is
owned by LTS Co-Invest Blocker II shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange
therefor.

(c) Conversion of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub Common Stock. Each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01
per share, of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub shall automatically be converted into and become one (1) validly issued membership interest of the LTS
Co-Invest Blocker II Surviving Company.

3.5 LTS Rollover Blocker Merger. At the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Effective Time, by virtue of the LTS Rollover Blocker Merger and
without any action on the part of any holder of membership interests of LTS Rollover Blocker or any holder of shares of capital stock of LTS Rollover
Blocker Merger Sub, the following shall occur:

(a) Conversion of Membership Interests of LTS Rollover Blocker. The outstanding membership interests of LTS Rollover Blocker held by an
Equityholder (other than any such equity interests to be canceled pursuant to Section 3.5(b)) shall be converted into and shall thereafter represent the right of
such Equityholder to receive, following delivery of a duly executed and completed LTS Rollover Blocker Letter of Transmittal as contemplated by
Section 3.7(a), an aggregate amount in cash equal to such Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds, as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(b) Cancellation of Certain Membership Interests of LTS Rollover Blocker. Each membership interest of LTS Rollover Blocker that is owned by
LTS Rollover Blocker shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(c) Conversion of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub Common Stock. Each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, of LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub shall automatically be converted into and become one (1) validly issued membership interest of the LTS Rollover
Blocker Surviving Company.
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3.6 Company Merger. At the Company Merger Effective Time, by virtue of the Company Merger and without any action on the part of any
holder of membership interests of the Company or any holder of shares of capital stock of Company Merger Sub, the following shall occur:

(a) Conversion of Membership Interests of the Company. The outstanding membership interests of the Company held by an Equityholder (other
than any such equity interests to be canceled or converted pursuant to Section 3.6(c)) shall be converted into and shall thereafter represent the right of such
Equityholder to receive, following delivery of a duly executed and completed Company Letter of Transmittal as contemplated by Section 3.7(a), an aggregate
amount in cash equal to such Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds, as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(b) Treatment of PIP Units. Each PIP Unit that is outstanding immediately prior to the Company Merger Effective Time shall be cancelled and
extinguished and automatically converted into the right of the applicable PIP Holder to receive an aggregate amount in cash equal to such PIP Holder’s
Allocable Proceeds (less any applicable withholding pursuant to Section 3.11), as payable at the times contemplated in this Agreement.

(c) Cancellation of Certain Membership Interests of the Company. Each membership interest of the Company that is owned by the Company
shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor. Each membership interest of
the Company that is owned by a Blockerco shall automatically be converted into and become the number of validly issued membership interests of the
Company Surviving Company that would result in such Blockerco owning the same percentage interest in the Company Surviving Company as such
Blockerco held in the Company immediately prior to the Company Merger Effective Time.

(d) Conversion of Company Merger Sub Common Stock. Each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of
Company Merger Sub shall automatically be converted into and become the number of validly issued membership interests of the Company Surviving
Company that would result in Buyer owning the same percentage interest in the Company Surviving Company as the Unblocked Equityholders held in the
Company immediately prior to the Company Merger Effective Time.

3.7 Exchange Matters.

(a) Exchange Procedures. As soon as reasonably practicable following the date hereof, the Equityholders’ Representative shall enter into a
paying agent agreement with the Paying Agent on terms that are mutually agreed in good faith by the Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer. Prior to the
Closing, (i) LTS BF VII-A Blocker shall mail or otherwise deliver, or cause the Paying Agent to mail or otherwise deliver, to the LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole
Stockholder, a Letter of Transmittal in the form of Exhibit B-1 attached hereto, with such changes thereto as may be reasonably required by the Paying Agent
(the “LTS BF VII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal”), (ii) LTS BF VIII-A Blocker shall mail or otherwise deliver, or cause the Paying Agent to mail or
otherwise deliver, to the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder, a Letter of Transmittal in the form of Exhibit B-2 attached hereto, with such changes
thereto as may be reasonably required by the Paying Agent (the “LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal”), (iii) LTS Co-Invest Blocker I shall mail or
otherwise deliver, or cause the Paying Agent to mail or otherwise deliver, to the holders of membership interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker I, a Letter of
Transmittal in the form of Exhibit B-3 attached hereto, with such changes
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thereto as may be reasonably required by the Paying Agent (the “LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Letter of Transmittal”), (iv) LTS Co-Invest Blocker II shall mail or
otherwise deliver, or cause the Paying Agent to mail or otherwise deliver, to the holders of membership interests of LTS Co-Invest Blocker II, a Letter of
Transmittal in the form of Exhibit B-4 attached hereto, with such changes thereto as may be reasonably required by the Paying Agent (the “LTS Co-Invest
Blocker II Letter of Transmittal”), (v) LTS Rollover Blocker shall mail or otherwise deliver, or cause the Paying Agent to mail or otherwise deliver, to the
holders of membership interests of LTS Rollover Blocker, a Letter of Transmittal in the form of Exhibit B-5 attached hereto, with such changes thereto as may
be reasonably required by the Paying Agent (the “LTS Rollover Blocker Letter of Transmittal”) and (vi) the Company shall mail or otherwise deliver, or cause
the Paying Agent to mail or otherwise deliver, to the holders of membership interests of the Company, a Letter of Transmittal in the form of Exhibit B-6
attached hereto, with such changes thereto as may be reasonably required by the Paying Agent (the “Company Letter of Transmittal” and, together with the
LTS BF VII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal, the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Letter of Transmittal, the LTS Co-Invest Blocker I Letter of Transmittal, the LTS
Co-Invest Blocker II Letter of Transmittal and the LTS Rollover Blocker Letter of Transmittal, the “Letters of Transmittal”). As of the applicable Effective
Time, and upon surrender by each Equityholder to the Paying Agent of a duly executed and completed Letter of Transmittal applicable to such Equityholder
(as described in the preceding sentence) (and, in the case of each of LTS BF VII-A Blocker Sole Stockholder and the LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Sole
Stockholder, the certificate or certificates representing the shares of Blocker Common Stock held by such Equityholder, in each case, duly endorsed or
accompanied by duly executed stock transfer powers) such Equityholder shall be entitled to receive, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
such Equityholder’s Allocable Proceeds.

(b) No Further Ownership Rights. All cash paid upon the surrender of the equity interests of the Blockercos and the Company in accordance with
the terms of this Article III shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all ownership rights in such equity interests, and the holders of such
equity interests shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except for the right to receive the applicable consideration to be paid in consideration
therefor as set forth in this Article III. From and after the applicable Effective Times, the transfer books of the Blockercos and the Company shall be closed
and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the transfer books of the Surviving Companies of the equity interests of the Surviving Companies that
were outstanding immediately prior to applicable Effective Times.

(c) No Liability. None of the parties hereto, the Paying Agent or any other Person shall be liable to any Person in respect of any cash delivered to
a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law.

(d) Termination of the Paying Agent Fund. Any portion of the amount to be paid to the Paying Agent pursuant to Section 3.9(a)(i) that remains
undistributed to the Equityholders for twelve (12) months after the Company Effective Time shall be delivered to the applicable Surviving Company (and the
Equityholders’ Representative shall cause such delivery), and any Equityholder, to the extent such Person has not theretofore complied with Section 3.7(a),
shall thereafter look only to the applicable Surviving Company for, and the applicable Surviving Company shall remain liable for the portion of the merger
consideration to which such Equityholder is entitled pursuant to this Agreement. Any amount remaining unclaimed by the Equityholders six (6) years after
the Company Effective Time (or such earlier date immediately prior to such time as such amounts would otherwise escheat to or become property of any
Governmental Body) shall, to the extent permitted by Law, become the property of the
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applicable Surviving Company free and clear of any claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

(e) No Further Obligation. Upon the payment by Buyer (i) to the Paying Agent, the Escrow Agent or the Equityholders’ Representative, as
applicable, of any amount for the benefit of the Equityholders under the terms of this Agreement and (ii) to the Company Surviving Company (or a subsidiary
thereof) of any amount for the benefit of the PIP Holders under this Agreement, Buyer will have no further obligation to such Equityholder or PIP Holder in
respect of such amount. In no event shall Buyer, any of the Merger Subs or any of the Surviving Companies be responsible for payments to the Equityholders
and the PIP Holders, in the aggregate, in excess of the Estimated Merger Consideration, except, if the Final Merger Consideration exceeds the Estimated
Merger Consideration, as required by Section 3.10(c)(i).

3.8 Pre-Closing Deliverables. No later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall provide Buyer with:

(a) payment instructions, including account details, with respect to the payment of the Adjustment Escrow Amount;

(b) payment instructions, including account details, with respect to the payment of the Equityholders’ Representative Expense Fund Amount;

(c) a copy of customary pay-off letters reasonably acceptable to Buyer relating to the Debt outstanding as of the Closing under the Existing Debt
Agreements (the “Pay-off Letters”); and

(d) payment instructions, including account details, with respect to the payment of the Closing Transaction Expenses, along with invoices related
to any Closing Transaction Expenses.

3.9 Closing Deliverables.

(a) Closing Payments. At the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained herein, Buyer shall pay, or cause to be paid, by wire
transfer of immediately available funds:

(i) to the Paying Agent, an aggregate amount of cash equal to the Equityholders’ Closing Proceeds, which shall be distributed by the Paying
Agent to the Equityholders in accordance with the Distribution Schedule;

(ii) to the Company Surviving Company or a Subsidiary designated by the Company Surviving Company (for the benefit of, and further payment
through payroll to, the PIP Holders), an aggregate amount of cash equal to the PIP Holder Closing Proceeds, which shall be distributed, less any
applicable withholding pursuant to Section 3.11, by the Company Surviving Company or a subsidiary thereof, as applicable, as soon as practicable
following the Closing Date, in accordance with the Distribution Schedule;

(iii) to the Escrow Agent, in accordance with the instructions provided by the Company pursuant to Section 3.8(a), an amount of cash equal to the
Adjustment Escrow Amount;
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(iv) to the Equityholders’ Representative, in accordance with the instructions provided by the Company pursuant to Section 3.8(b), an amount of
cash equal to the Equityholders’ Representative Expense Fund Amount;

(v) on behalf of the Company and the Subsidiaries, the amount of cash required to discharge fully the balance of all Debt outstanding as of the
Closing under the Existing Debt Agreements, in accordance with the Pay-off Letters delivered by the Company pursuant to Section 3.8(c), to the
accounts designated in the Pay-off Letters; and

(vi) on behalf of the Company and the Subsidiaries, the amount of cash required to discharge fully the then-outstanding balance of all Closing
Transaction Expenses, to the account(s) designated in the instructions delivered by the Company pursuant to Section 3.8(d).

(b) Other Closing Deliverables. At the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions contained, herein:

(i) the Company shall deliver to Buyer the certificates to be provided pursuant to Section 8.2(a) and Section 8.2(b);

(ii) Buyer shall deliver to the Company the certificate to be provided pursuant to Section 8.3(a) and Section 8.3(b);

(iii) the Company shall deliver to Buyer a certification complying with the provisions of Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-11T(d)(2), in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit C-1; provided, however, that Buyer’s sole recourse in the event that the obligation set forth in this clause (iii) is not
satisfied is to withhold Taxes in accordance with and subject to the terms of Section 3.11 (Withholding);

(iv) each Blockerco shall deliver to Buyer a certificate from such Blockerco complying with the provisions of Treasury Regulations Sections
1.897-2(h) and 1.1445-2(c)(3), in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-2; provided, however, that Buyer’s sole recourse in the event that the
obligations set forth in this clause (iv) are not satisfied is to withhold taxes in accordance with and subject to the terms of Section 3.11 (Withholding);

(v) the Company shall deliver to Buyer evidence reasonably satisfactory to Buyer of the release of any Liens that secure the Company’s or any
Subsidiary’s obligations under the Existing Debt Agreements and any other Debt;

(vi) the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer a duly executed letter of resignation from each director, manager or officer of the
Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries, other than those directors, managers or officers identified in writing by Buyer no later than three
(3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date; and

(vii) the Buyer and the Equityholders’ Representative shall each deliver to the Escrow Agent and each other an executed copy of the Escrow
Agreement.

3.10 Adjustment to the Estimated Merger Consideration.
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(a) Estimated Statement. Not earlier than five (5) Business Days and not later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the
Company shall provide Buyer with a written statement (the “Estimated Statement”) setting forth in reasonable detail, with reasonable supporting
documentation, the Company’s good faith estimate of (i) the Closing Cash, (ii) the Closing Debt, (iii) the Closing Transaction Expenses, (iv) the Closing Net
Working Capital, (v) the Actual Capital Expenditure Amount, (vi) the Actual NRR Amount and (vii) the Aggregate Delayed Closing Consideration, if any,
each prepared in accordance with the Agreed Principles (including all underlying calculations, formulas and amounts therein), together with its calculation,
based thereon, of the Merger Consideration (the “Estimated Merger Consideration”), along with a schedule setting forth the portion of the Allocable Proceeds
payable to each Equityholder and each PIP Holder (the “Distribution Schedule”) in respect of the Estimated Merger Consideration. Not later than one
(1) Business Day after receipt of the Estimated Statement, Buyer shall provide to the Equityholders’ Representative a detailed funds flow memorandum in
excel format (including all underlying calculations, formulas and amounts therein) setting forth all payments to be made by or on behalf of Buyer pursuant to
Section 3.9(a).

(b) Determination of the Final Merger Consideration.

(i) Proposed Final Statement. As promptly as practicable, but in no event later than sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall cause to be
prepared and delivered to the Equityholders’ Representative a statement (the “Proposed Final Statement”) setting forth in reasonable detail, with
reasonable supporting documentation, Buyer’s good faith calculation of (i) the Closing Cash, (ii) the Closing Debt, (iii) the Closing Transaction
Expenses, (iv) the Closing Net Working Capital, (v) the Actual Capital Expenditure Amount, (vi) Actual NRR Amount and (vii) the Aggregate Delayed
Closing Consideration, if any, each prepared in accordance with the Agreed Principles, together with its calculation, based thereon, of the Merger
Consideration (the “Proposed Final Merger Consideration”). If Buyer does not timely cause to be prepared and delivered to the Equityholders’
Representative the Proposed Final Statement within sixty (60) days following the Closing Date, the Estimated Closing Statement shall be deemed to be
the Proposed Final Statement for all purposes of this Agreement, and the Estimated Closing Statement shall be final, conclusive and binding on the
parties hereto.

(ii) Dispute Notice. During the forty-five (45) day period following receipt of the Proposed Final Statement by the Equityholders’ Representative,
the Equityholders’ Representative and its advisors shall have the right, upon reasonable notice to the Company, to reasonable access to the books and
records of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries, appropriate staff members and such other information as the Equityholders’
Representative shall reasonably request in order to review and analyze the Proposed Final Statement. The Proposed Final Statement shall be conclusive
and binding on all parties unless the Equityholders’ Representative, prior to the later of (A) the forty-sixth (46th) day following receipt of the Proposed
Final Statement and (B) the third (3rd) Business Day following receipt of all information reasonably requested by the Equityholders’ Representative in
order to review and analyze the Proposed Final Statement, delivers a written notice to Buyer stating that the Equityholders’ Representative disagrees
with the Proposed Final Statement and specifying in reasonable detail the items therein with which the Equityholders’ Representative disagrees and the
basis therefor (any such notice, a “Dispute Notice” and any such disputed item, a “Disputed Item”). The Equityholders’ Representative shall be deemed
to have agreed with all other items
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contained in the Proposed Final Statement that are not the subject of a Dispute Notice, and such items shall be final and binding on the parties hereto.

(iii) Dispute Resolution. If a Dispute Notice is duly delivered pursuant to Section 3.10(b)(ii), the Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer shall,
during the fifteen (15) days following such delivery, use their commercially reasonable efforts to reach agreement on the Disputed Items in order to
determine, as applicable, the amount of the Closing Cash, the Closing Net Working Capital, the Closing Debt, the Actual Capital Expenditure Amount
and the Aggregate Delayed Closing Consideration, if any. If during such period, the Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer are unable to reach
agreement on all Disputed Items, they shall promptly thereafter cause the dispute resolution group of KPMG LLP or such other independent accounting
firm on which the Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer mutually agree, which agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed (the “Independent Accountant”) to review the Disputed Items for the purpose of calculating the Merger Consideration (it being understood and
agreed that in making such calculation, the Independent Accountant shall adhere to the provisions of this Section 3.10 (and related definitions), and
shall not conduct an independent review). Each of the Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer, (A) agrees to execute, if requested by the Independent
Accountant, a reasonable engagement letter, and (B) may simultaneously deliver a written submission to the Independent Accountant in support of its
interpretation of the Disputed Items on such date and at such time and in such manner as is, in each case, determined by the Independent Accountant. In
making its calculation of the Merger Consideration, the Independent Accountant shall consider only the Disputed Items. The Independent Accountant’s
determination of each Disputed Item shall not be greater than the greatest value for such Disputed Item claimed by either the Equityholders’
Representative in the Dispute Notice, on the one hand, or Buyer in the Proposed Final Statement, on the other hand, or less than the lowest value for
such Disputed Item claimed by either the Equityholders’ Representative in the Dispute Notice, on the one hand, or Buyer in the Proposed Final
Statement, on the other hand, as applicable. The Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer shall direct the Independent Accountant to deliver to the
Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer, as promptly as practicable (but in any case no later than thirty (30) days from the date of its engagement), a
report setting forth such calculation. Absent fraud or manifest error, such report shall be final and binding upon the Equityholders’ Representative and
Buyer, shall be deemed a final determination that is binding on the parties hereto, and neither Buyer nor the Equityholders’ Representative shall seek
further recourse to courts or other tribunals, other than to enforce such report in any court of competent jurisdiction. The Independent Accountant will
determine the allocation of the cost of its review and report based on the inverse of the percentage its determination (before such allocation) bears to the
total dollar amount of the Disputed Items as originally submitted to the Independent Accountant. For example, should the Disputed Items total $1,000
and the Independent Accountant awards $600 in favor of the Equityholders’ Representative’s position, sixty percent (60%) of the costs of its review
would be borne by Buyer, and forty percent (40%) of the costs would be borne by the Equityholders’ Representative (from the Equityholders’
Representative Expense Funds, subject to Section 10.3(e)). The Independent Accountant shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator in connection
with any dispute submitted for resolution pursuant to this Section 3.12(b)(iii).

(c) Adjustments.
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(i) Payment by Buyer. If the Merger Consideration as finally determined pursuant to Section 3.10(b) (the “Final Merger Consideration”) exceeds
the Estimated Merger Consideration, then, within five (5) Business Days following the date on which the Final Merger Consideration is finally
determined pursuant to Section 3.10(b), Buyer shall pay or cause to be paid to the Paying Agent (for the benefit of, and further payment to, the
Equityholders) and to the Company Surviving Company or a subsidiary thereof (for the benefit of, and further payment through payroll to, subject to
Section 3.11, the PIP Holders), in accordance with an updated version of the Distribution Schedule to be delivered to Buyer by the Equityholders’
Representative, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, an aggregate amount in cash equal to the amount of such excess.

(ii) Payment to Buyer from the Adjustment Escrow Funds. If the Final Merger Consideration is less than the Estimated Merger Consideration,
then within five (5) Business Days following the date on which the Final Merger Consideration is finally determined pursuant to Section 3.10(b), the
Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer shall deliver a joint written instruction to the Escrow Agent directing the Escrow Agent to release and
promptly pay to Buyer, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, to the bank account designated in such joint written instruction, from the
Escrow Account, an aggregate amount equal to the lesser of such shortfall and the amount of the Adjustment Escrow Funds (it being understood and
agreed by the parties hereto that in no event shall any amount payable pursuant to this Section 3.10(c)(ii) exceed the amount of the Adjustment Escrow
Funds).

(iii) Release of Escrow Funds. As soon as reasonably practicable following payment of any amounts determined to be owed pursuant to
Section 3.10(c)(i) or Section 3.10(c)(ii), or any final determination pursuant to Section 3.10(b) that the Final Merger Consideration equals the Estimated
Merger Consideration, the Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer shall deliver a joint written instruction to the Escrow Agent directing the Escrow
Agent to release and promptly pay to the Paying Agent (for the benefit of, and further payment to, the Equityholders) and to the Company Surviving
Company or a subsidiary thereof (for the benefit of, and further payment through payroll to, subject to Section 3.11, the PIP Holders), in accordance
with an updated version of the Distribution Schedule to be delivered to the Escrow Agent by the Equityholders’ Representative, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds, any remaining Adjustment Escrow Funds.

(iv) Interest. All payments under this Section 3.10(c) shall be without interest, except that any amounts not paid when required by Section 3.10(c)
(i) or Section 3.10(c)(ii) shall bear interest from the date due under Section 3.10(c)(i) or Section 3.10(c)(ii), as applicable, to, and including, the date of
payment, at the Interest Rate.

(v) Taxes. Any payments made pursuant to this Section 3.10(c) shall be treated as adjustments to the applicable purchase price for Tax purposes.

3.11 Withholding. Buyer (and each of its Affiliates), the Paying Agent and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold any amount
from any amount payable pursuant to or contemplated by this Agreement to the extent required by applicable Law; provided, however, that no deduction or
withholding shall be made pursuant to Section 1445 of the Code with respect to any amount otherwise payable to or for the benefit of any Person pursuant to
this Agreement or the Escrow
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Agreement unless (A) with respect to payments to a Company Unitholder, both (i) the Company fails to deliver, or fails to cause to be delivered, to Buyer at
or prior to the Closing a certificate dated as of (or no more than thirty (30) days prior to) the Closing Date complying with the provisions of Treasury
Regulations Section 1.1445-11T(d)(2), in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-1, and (ii) such Company Unitholder (or, in the event that such Company
Unitholder is an entity disregarded as separate from its owner for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Person treated as the transferor of the applicable
Equity Interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes) fails to deliver, or fails to cause to be delivered, to Buyer at or prior to the Closing, or if later the date of
the making of such payment, a certificate complying with the requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b)(2), or (B) with respect to payments
to a Blockerco Equityholder, both (i) the relevant Blockerco fails to deliver, or fails to cause to be delivered, to Buyer at or prior to the Closing a certificate
(and accompanying notices) dated as of (or no more than thirty (30) days prior to) the Closing Date complying with the provisions of Treasury Regulations
Section 1.897-2(h) and 1.1445-2(c)(3), in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C-2, and (ii) such Blockerco Equityholder (or, in the event that such Blockerco
Equityholder is an entity disregarded as separate from its owner for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Person treated as the transferor of the applicable
Blockerco Equity Interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes) fails to deliver, or fails to cause to be delivered, to Buyer at or prior to the Closing, or if later
the date of the making of such payment, a certificate complying with the requirements of Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b)(2). Any deducted and
withheld amounts shall be paid over to the appropriate Taxing Authority and treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in
respect of which such deduction and withholding was made. Provided that the Equityholders timely provide any Tax forms and other information reasonably
requested by Buyer to determine whether withholding is required, the applicable withholding agent shall provide reasonable advance notice to the
Equityholders’ Representative prior to withholding any amount in respect of any payment to be made hereunder to the Equityholders (other than in respect of
any payroll withholdings made in connection with compensatory payments to the PIP Holders), and the applicable withholding agent shall reasonably
cooperate with the Equityholders’ Representative to reduce or eliminate such withholding, upon reasonable request. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this Agreement, all compensatory amounts subject to payroll reporting and withholding and payable pursuant to or as contemplated by this Agreement,
including any amounts in respect of the PIP Units, shall be remitted to the Company Surviving Company (or a subsidiary thereof) for payment in accordance
with applicable payroll procedures after applicable withholding.

3.12 Purchase Price Allocation.

(a) Tax Treatment. For U.S. federal income Tax purposes (and applicable state and local income Tax purposes), the parties shall treat the
Transactions as a purchase by Buyer of (i) the equity interests of each Blockerco from the applicable Blockerco Equityholders in exchange for the Allocable
Proceeds payable to such Blockerco Equityholders and the redemption of equity interests of the applicable Blockercos in exchange for payment of the
Blockerco Cash held by such Blockercos and (ii) equity interests of the Company from the Company Unitholders in exchange for the Allocable Proceeds
payable to the Company Unitholders (and any assumed liabilities in accordance with Section 752(d) of the Code), all in accordance with the Distribution
Schedule, as the same may be updated from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof, and the parties shall not take any position inconsistent therewith. The
parties agree for Tax reporting purposes that the payments pursuant to Section 3.9(a)(v) and Section 3.9(a)(vi), and any other satisfaction by Buyer of
expenses of the Company and the
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Subsidiaries, shall not be treated as consideration realized by the Equityholders other than, if at all, pursuant to Section 752(d) of the Code (and corresponding
provisions of state and local law).

(b) Allocation.

(i) Within ninety (90) days following the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare (or cause to be prepared) a schedule setting forth an allocation of the
purchase price (as determined for Tax purposes) allocable to the equity interests of the Company held by the Company Unitholders (as determined in
accordance with the Distribution Schedule, as the same may be updated from time to time pursuant to the terms hereof) among the assets of the
Company and the Subsidiaries (the “Allocation Schedule”).

(ii) The Allocation Schedule shall be prepared in accordance with Section 751, Section 755 and Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury
Regulations thereunder and the allocation principles set forth on Exhibit D. Within ninety (90) days following the Closing Date, Buyer shall deliver a
draft of the Allocation Schedule to the Equityholders’ Representative. The Equityholders’ Representative shall respond to Buyer’s draft Allocation
Schedule in writing within thirty (30) days of receipt, providing either (A) its acceptance of Buyer’s draft Allocation Schedule, in which case the
Allocation Schedule shall become final and binding on the parties, or (B) any objections to the Allocation Schedule’s allocation amongst the assets of
the Company and the Subsidiaries; provided that if the Equityholders’ Representative does not object to Buyer’s draft Allocation Schedule in writing
within thirty (30) days of receipt, Buyer’s draft Allocation Schedule shall become final and binding on the parties. Buyer and the Equityholders’
Representative agree to act in good faith to resolve any differences between them with respect to determining the Allocation Schedule within thirty
(30) days of receipt of the Equityholders’ Representative’s objections, and upon resolution of all such differences, the Allocation Schedule shall
become final and binding on the parties. In the event that agreement cannot be reached within such thirty (30) day period, the parties shall prepare
separate allocations for Tax reporting purposes; provided, that the parties shall, in all cases, report in accordance with the allocation principles set forth
on Exhibit D. Once the Allocation Schedule becomes final and binding, it shall be revised from time to time in a manner consistent with this
Section 3.12(b)(ii) so as to report any matters that need updating (e.g., as a result of payments pursuant to Section 3.10(c)), and all income Tax Returns
and reports filed by the Equityholders, the Equityholders’ Representative, Buyer (or its Affiliates), the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries
shall be prepared in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule and the Distribution Schedule, as the latter may be updated from time to time
pursuant to the terms hereof.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth on the corresponding section of the disclosure schedule of the Company delivered by the Company to Buyer prior to the
execution of this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Schedule”) (or in one or more of the other sections of the Company Disclosure Schedule to the extent
the relevance of such disclosure to such other section is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure), the Company hereby represents and warrants to
the Buyer Parties that:
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4.1 Organization and Good Standing. The Company is a limited liability company validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
State of Delaware and has all requisite limited liability power and authority to own, lease and operate its material properties and to carry on its business in all
material respects as now conducted. The Company is duly qualified, licensed and authorized to do business as a foreign limited liability company and is in
good standing under the laws of each jurisdiction in which it owns or leases real property and each other jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or
the ownership of its properties requires such qualification, license or authorization, except where the failure to be so qualified, licensed, authorized or in good
standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, be material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. True, complete and correct copies of
the Certificate of Formation and the Operating Agreement (including any amendments thereto) have been made available to Buyer.

4.2 Authorization of Agreement. The Company has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed by the Company in connection with
the consummation of the Transactions (the “Company Documents”), to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Transactions.
The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Company Documents by the Company, the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder
and thereunder and the consummation by the Company of the Transactions have been duly authorized by the board of managers of the Company, and no other
limited liability company action on the part of the Company, its managers or its members (other than the filing of the Company Certificate of Merger) is
necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Company Documents and the consummation of the
Transactions. This Agreement has been, and each of the Company Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and validly executed and delivered by
the Company. This Agreement is, and each Company Document when so executed and delivered shall be, Enforceable against the Company.

4.3 Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 4.3(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and subject to obtaining the consents set forth on Section 4.3(a) of
the Company Disclosure Schedule, none of the execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement or the Company Documents, the consummation by
the Company of the Transactions, or compliance by the Company with any of the provisions hereof or thereof will conflict with, or result in any violation of
or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of, or result in, termination, acceleration or cancellation of any
obligation or to a loss of benefit under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on the property or assets of the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries under, or give rise to any rights or entitlements under, any provision of: (i) the Certificate of Formation or the Operating
Agreement; (ii) any Material Contract, material Permit or Telecommunications Permit held by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or to which the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries is a party; (iii) any Order applicable to the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or by which any of the properties or assets
of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries are bound; or (iv) any applicable Law, other than, in the case of the preceding clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), such
conflicts, violations, defaults, terminations or cancellations that would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, (x) result in material
liability to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (y) prevent or materially impair or delay any of the Blockercos, the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries from performing its material obligations under this Agreement or consummating the Transactions as
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contemplated hereby or (z) materially impede or restrain the operation of the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as now
conducted.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 4.3(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no consent, waiver, approval, Order, Permit or authorization of, or
declaration or filing with, or notification to, any Governmental Body is required on the part of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries in connection with the
execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement or the Company Documents, the compliance by the Company with any of the provisions hereof or
thereof, or the consummation by the Company of the Transactions, except for: (i) filings required under and in compliance with the applicable requirements
of the HSR Act; (ii) the filing of the Company Certificate of Merger; (iii) the Telecom Regulatory Filings and the Telecom Regulatory Consents; and (iv) such
other consents, waivers, approvals, Orders, Permits or authorizations the failure of which to obtain would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the
aggregate, (x) result in material liability to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (y) prevent or materially impair or delay any of the
Blockercos, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries from performing its material obligations under this Agreement or consummating the Transactions as
contemplated hereby or (z) materially impede or restrain the operation of the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as now
conducted.

4.4 Capitalization.

(a) As of the date hereof, Section 4.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of (i) all of the issued and
outstanding equity interests of the Company (including the number and type of such equity interests) and (ii) the Persons that hold of record such equity
interests of the Company and the amounts that each Person holds. Subject to Section 7.19 with respect to the Blockercos and any of their transferees under
Section 7.19, each Person listed on Section 4.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule is the sole owner beneficially and of record of, and has good and valid
title to the number of, the equity interests set forth next to such Person’s name on Section 4.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. All of the equity
interests of the Company have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid and non-assessable, in each case, as applicable, and have not been
issued in violation of, and are not subject to, any preemptive rights other than those set forth in Section 3.2 of the Operating Agreement. There are no
accumulated but unpaid dividends or distributions with respect to any equity interests in the Company or any of the Subsidiaries.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 4.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) there is no outstanding option, warrant, call, right or Contract
of any character to which the Company is a party relating to, and there are no securities of the Company outstanding which upon conversion or exchange
would require, the issuance of any equity interests of the Company or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or evidencing the right to subscribe
for or purchase, equity interests of the Company, (ii) there are no outstanding obligations of the Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any
equity interests or other securities of the Company (or any outstanding rights to cause the Company, or any other Person, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise
acquire any equity interests or other securities of the Company) and (iii) there are no restrictions on the transfer of equity securities of the Company or any of
the Subsidiaries (other than restrictions under applicable securities Laws, the Operating Agreement or the Equity Plans and award agreements under the
Equity Plans). Except as set forth on Section 4.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company is not a party to any voting trust or other Contract
with respect to the voting, redemption, sale, transfer or other disposition of the
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equity interests of the Company. There are no bonds, debentures, notes or other Debt of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries having the right to vote (or
convertible into or exchangeable for or evidencing the right to subscribe for or purchase securities of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries having the right
to vote) on any matters on which any Equityholders are entitled to vote. All holders of Company Units have waived or are not entitled to any “appraisal
rights”, “dissenter’s rights” or any similar rights under the DLLCA in connection with the Transactions.

(c) As of the date hereof, there are 36,106,500 PIP Units outstanding, and the Company has made available to Buyer a true, correct and complete
list of (i) each PIP Holder and the number of PIP Units so held by each PIP Holder as of the date hereof and (ii) the number of PIP Units and awards under the
Equity Plans that are expected to vest in connection with the Transaction and the number of PIP Units and awards under the Equity Plans that are expected to
be forfeited in connection with the Transaction. Other than the PIP Units and the awards under the Equity Plans, there are no other potential rights or
entitlements to cash compensation that are linked in any way to the price or value of the equity interests in the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or the
value of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries outstanding on the date hereof. Each of the awards granted under the Equity Plans and each of the PIP Units
may be treated in connection with the Transactions as provided for in this Agreement, and the amounts paid to the holders of such awards and PIP Units
pursuant to this Agreement at the times provided for in this Agreement will fully satisfy and extinguish any rights to payment or other obligations of the
Company pursuant to the applicable Equity Plan or PIP Plan and the applicable award agreement.

(d) The calculation of the proceeds payable to each Equityholder and each PIP Holder provided in the Distribution Schedule delivered to Buyer
pursuant to Section 3.10 shall be determined in accordance with the Operating Agreement and each of the PIP Plans, as applicable.

4.5 Subsidiaries.

(a) Section 4.5 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the name of each of the Subsidiaries, and, with respect to each Subsidiary: (i) the
jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or organized; (ii) the number of shares of its authorized capital stock (if applicable); and (iii) the number and class of
shares of stock or other equity interests thereof duly issued and outstanding, the names of all holders thereof and the number of shares of stock or other equity
interests held by each such holder. Each of the Subsidiaries is a duly organized and validly existing corporation or other entity in good standing to the extent
such concepts are recognized under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, and has all requisite corporate (or similar entity) power
and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in all material respects as now conducted. Each of the Subsidiaries is duly
qualified, licensed and authorized to do business as a foreign corporation or entity and is in good standing to the extent such concepts are recognized under
the laws of each jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or the ownership of its properties requires such qualification, license or authorization, except
where the failure to be so qualified, licensed, authorized or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, be material to the Company and the
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(b) The outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each of the Subsidiaries are duly authorized and validly issued, fully paid
and non-assessable, in each case, as applicable, and have not been issued in violation of, and are not subject to, any preemptive rights, and all such shares or
other equity interests represented as being owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company
 

- 47 -



are owned by it, directly or indirectly through another Subsidiary, free and clear of any and all Liens other than Permitted Liens. There is no outstanding
option, warrant, call, right or Contract to which any of the Subsidiaries is a party requiring, and there are no (i) convertible securities of any of the
Subsidiaries outstanding which upon conversion would require, the issuance of any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of any of the Subsidiaries
or other securities convertible into shares of capital stock or other equity interests of any of the Subsidiaries or (ii) potential rights or entitlements to cash
compensation that are linked in any way to the price or value of any equity interests in any of the Subsidiaries or the value of any of the Subsidiaries, and no
Subsidiary has an obligation, contingent or otherwise, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its outstanding equity interests. Neither the Company
nor any of the Subsidiaries owns any stock, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity interest in any Person other than the Subsidiaries.

4.6 Financial Statements.

(a) The Company has made available to Buyer copies of: (i) the audited consolidated statements of financial position of the Company and the
Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, the related audited consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in
members’ equity and cash flows of the Company and the Subsidiaries for the fiscal years then ended; and (ii) the unaudited consolidated statement of
financial position of the Company and the Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017 and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations and cash flows
of the Company and the Subsidiaries for the three (3) month period then ended (such audited and unaudited statements, including the related notes and
schedules thereto, are referred to herein as the “Financial Statements”). Except as set forth in the notes thereto, each of the Financial Statements has been
prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, with the exception of the absence of normal year-end audit adjustments and footnotes in the
unaudited financial statements, and fairly presents in all material respects the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company and the Subsidiaries as at the dates and for the periods indicated therein.

(b) The Financial Statements have been derived from, and prepared in accordance with, the underlying books, records and accounts of the
Company and the Subsidiaries. The books, records and accounts of the Company and the Subsidiaries are complete and correct in all material respects and
represent actual, bona fide transactions. Each of the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ system of internal controls over financial reporting is sufficient to
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Since
December 31, 2016, no officer, director, manager, member or employee of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries has refused to execute any certification of
any kind whatsoever required by Law or requested by any accounting, banking, financial or legal firm or Person.

4.7 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has any liabilities of any kind, whether or not required to be
reflected in or reserved against on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and the Subsidiaries or in the notes thereto prepared in accordance with
GAAP and whether direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, secured or unsecured, disputed or undisputed, other than liabilities: (a) reflected in or reserved
against on the statement of financial position of the Company and the Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2017; (b) incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business after
March 31, 2017 and not in violation of this Agreement; (c) incurred as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise in connection with the
Transactions; (d) that have been discharged or paid off since March 31, 2017; (e) to be included in the computation of the
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Closing Debt, the Closing Transaction Expenses or the Closing Net Working Capital; or (f) that would not reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the
aggregate, material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

4.8 Absence of Certain Developments. Except as contemplated by this Agreement, since December 31, 2016: (a) the Company and the
Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses only in the Ordinary Course of Business other than with respect to the Transactions; (b) there has not
been any Material Adverse Effect; and (c) except in connection with the Transactions, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has taken any action
that would, if taken after the date hereof, be prohibited by Section 7.2(b).

4.9 Taxes.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 4.9 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company and each Subsidiary has timely filed (taking into
account any extensions of time within which to file) all income and other material Tax Returns required to be filed by it, and all Taxes required to be paid by
it either have been paid by it or are reflected in accordance with GAAP in the most recent financial statements of the Company and the Subsidiaries. All
income and other material Tax Returns of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries are true, correct and complete in all material respects insofar as such Tax
Returns reflect the liability for Taxes shown due thereon. There are no Liens with respect to Taxes upon any asset of the Company or the Subsidiaries other
than Permitted Liens. All material Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries
to any Person have been withheld and timely paid to the appropriate Taxing Authority.

(b) No unresolved deficiencies for any material amounts of Taxes have been assessed in writing against the Company or any of the Subsidiaries
by any Taxing Authority.

(c) No requests for waivers of the time to assess any material Taxes have been made that are still pending (other than waivers as a result of
extensions of time to file Tax Returns).

(d) No jurisdiction in which the Company and the Subsidiaries do not file Tax Returns has asserted in writing that the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Tax by such jurisdiction.

(e) Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is liable for a material amount of Taxes of any other Person as a transferee or successor or as
a result of any indemnification provision or other contractual obligation (other than those contained in agreements (i) entered into in the Ordinary Course of
Business and the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes or (ii) solely between the Company and any of the Subsidiaries or solely between the
Subsidiaries).

(f) Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has ever been a member of an “affiliated group” within the meaning of Code
Section 1504(a) filing a consolidated federal income Tax Return (other than such an “affiliated group” with respect to which any of the Subsidiaries was the
common parent) or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law.

(g) Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries will be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material
deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any change in accounting method,
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prepaid amount realized outside the Ordinary Course of Business, closing agreement described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any similar provision of state,
local or foreign law), installment sale or open transaction disposition.

(h) For U.S. federal income tax purposes, (i) the Company is and has always been properly classified as a partnership and (ii) each Subsidiary
(other than Yankee Metro Parent, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries) is and has always been properly classified as an entity disregarded as separate
from its owner.

(i) The Company has in effect a valid election under Section 754 of the Code.

(j) The Company has not made an election to apply the partnership audit provisions in Sections 6221 through 6241 of the Code that were enacted
pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 (P.L. 114-74).

(k) Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has engaged in any “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations
Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(l) No Subsidiary has constituted a “distribution corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a transaction intended to qualify under Section 355
of the Code within the two (2) year period ending on the date of this Agreement.

(m) The fair market value of the assets of Yankee Metro Parent, Inc. and each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries exceeds the fair market value
of the liabilities of Yankee Metro Parent, Inc. and each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries, respectively.

(n) As of December 31, 2016, Yankee Metro Parent, Inc. had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of at least $268,000,000.

4.10 Real Property.

(a) Section 4.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all leases of real property, in effect on the
date hereof, with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary is the lessee, involving annual payments in excess of $500,000 (individually, a “Real Property
Lease” and, collectively, the “Real Property Leases”) as lessee. To the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred or condition exists that with notice
or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material default by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries under any of the Real Property Leases. True, complete
and correct copies of all of the Real Property Leases (together with all material amendments, modifications or supplements thereto as of the date of this
Agreement) have been made available to Buyer.

(b) The Real Property Leases are in full force and effect and are valid and binding obligations of the Company or a Subsidiary and, to the
Knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto. There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened that would
reasonably be expected to curtail or interfere with the current use and operation of any real property subject to a Real Property Lease in any material respect.
All necessary Permits have been obtained which are required by Law for the current uses of each Real Property Lease premises for the conduct of business as
currently conducted and as planned to be conducted as of the date of this
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Agreement, and neither of the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any landlord under any Real Property Lease, has
received any written notice of violation of any applicable building, zoning, health or other Law, contractual restriction or covenant or easements in respect of
the use or occupation of the property and improvements subject to the Real Property Lease for the conduct of business as currently conducted or as planned to
be conducted as of the date of this Agreement (other than violations that are immaterial to the Business).

(c) Except as set forth on Section 4.10(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries leases as
sublessor any material real property subject to a Real Property Lease or has granted any third party the right to use, occupy or access any material real
property subject to a Real Property Lease (other than subleases or licenses to customers of the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ collocation services or similar
rights granted to customers in the Ordinary Course of Business).

(d) Section 4.10(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all real property owned by the Company or
any of the Subsidiaries (“Owned Real Property”). To the Knowledge of the Company, either the Company or a Subsidiary owns good and valid marketable
title in fee simple to the Owned Real Property, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens.

(e) Except as set forth on Section 4.10(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries leases as
lessor any Owned Real Property or has granted any third party the right to use, occupy or access any Owned Real Property (other than leases or licenses to
customers of the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ collocation services or similar rights granted to customers in the Ordinary Course of Business and (ii) there
are no rights of first refusal or rights of first offer to purchase any Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or any interest therein.

(f) Except as set forth on Section 4.10(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) there are no condemnation, eminent domain or similar
proceedings affecting any Owned Real Property or any real property subject to a Real Property Lease that are currently pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened, (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company, the buildings, structures and fixtures located upon the Owned Real Property, and the portions of
real property subject to the Real Property Leases occupied by the Company, have no material defects and are in good operating condition and repair (in each
case subject to ordinary wear, tear and maintenance that would not be likely to interfere with or adversely impact the Company’s use thereof), and have been
reasonably maintained consistent with prudent industry standards (giving due account to the age and length of use of the same), are adequate and suitable for
their present and future uses and, in the case of buildings and other structures, are structurally sound.

4.11 Tangible Personal Property. Section 4.11 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth all leases of personal property, in effect on the date
hereof, with respect to which the Company or a Subsidiary is the lessee, involving annual payments in excess of $500,000 and not terminable by the
Company or a Subsidiary on notice of ninety (90) days or less (individually, a “Personal Property Lease” and, collectively, “Personal Property Leases”).
Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has received any written notice of any default and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred
and no condition exists that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material default, by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries under any of
the Personal Property Leases. The
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Company and the Subsidiaries own good title to, hold a valid leasehold interest in or otherwise have the valid and legal right to use, all of the material
tangible personal property (including the Network Facilities) that they purport to own or that is used by them in their respective businesses, free and clear of
all Liens, except for Permitted Liens. To the Knowledge of the Company, all tangible personal property used by the Company and the Subsidiaries has been
maintained in the Ordinary Course of Business (other than immaterial tangible personal property), is in satisfactory operating condition (ordinary wear, tear
and maintenance excepted) and has been reasonably maintained consistent with prudent industry standards (giving due account to the age and length of use of
the same) and is adequate and suitable for their present and future uses.

4.12 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 4.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all the registered Intellectual Property
owned by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries and used in the Ordinary Course of Business of the Company and the Subsidiaries. The Company and the
Subsidiaries own, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), or have the right to use all material Intellectual Property used by them in the
Ordinary Course of Business. To the Knowledge of the Company as of the date of this Agreement, the material Intellectual Property owned or licensed by the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries (i) is not the subject of any pending revocation, reexamination or cancellation proceeding and (ii) is valid and
enforceable.

(b) To the Knowledge of the Company, the conduct of the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries does not, and did not during the past
eighteen (18) months, infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate any Intellectual Property of any other Person.

(c) To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person is materially infringing upon, has materially violated or has materially misappropriated any
Intellectual Property of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries.

(d) The Company and the Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable security measures to protect the confidentiality of and prevent
unauthorized disclosure or use of trade secrets and other confidential Technology that is material to the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries as now
operated, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such Technology that is material to the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries as now operated
has been disclosed or authorized to be disclosed to any third party, other than pursuant to a non-disclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of
the same and protects the proprietary interest therein.

(e) To the Knowledge of the Company, except as is not, and would not reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, material to
the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (A) there are no bugs, defects or malicious code in the software, hardware and network equipment used
in the business of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries and (B) there have been no unauthorized intrusions or breaches of the security of the Company’s or
any Subsidiary’s information technology systems.

4.13 Material Contracts.

(a) Section 4.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth all of the following Contracts, including all material amendments and
supplements thereto and all master service
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agreements and similar master agreements related thereto, to which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound, in each case, as
of the date of this Agreement (provided, however, that it is acknowledged and agreed by all Parties that no service orders or similar supplements issued
pursuant to any Material Contract have been included on Section 4.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, but that all such service orders or similar
supplements (other than immaterial service orders or similar supplements) constitute Material Contracts and shall be deemed to have been scheduled together
with the applicable Material Contract(s) (collectively, the “Material Contracts”):

(i) Contracts with any equityholder or any current officer, director or manager of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or any Affiliate of any
of the foregoing (other than any Company Benefit Plans, including awards granted under the Equity Plans or the PIP Plans) (collectively, the “Affiliate
Contracts”);

(ii) Contracts with any labor union or association representing any employee of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries;

(iii) Contracts for the sale of any of the assets of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries (A) within the last two (2) years prior to the date of this
Agreement, in each case, for consideration in excess of $1,000,000 (other than sales or dispositions of inventory or other assets in the Ordinary Course
of Business) or (B) that contain material indemnities or other financial obligations of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that are still in effect;

(iv) Contracts with any Significant Supplier;

(v) Contracts relating to any acquisition made by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries of any operating business or the capital stock of any
other Person, in each case, (A) on or after January 1, 2014 for consideration in excess of $5,000,000 or (B) that contain material indemnities or other
financial obligations of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that are still in effect;

(vi) Contracts with any Significant Customer;

(vii) Contracts (A) for the future sale of any assets by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or (B) that grant a right or option to purchase or
sell any assets of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries;

(viii) Contracts (A) for the future receipt of any assets or services, including the lease of machinery, equipment, tools, supplies, furniture, fixtures,
personalty, vehicles and other tangible personal property, that is reasonably expect to require any payment by the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken
as a whole, in excess of $1,000,000 individually or $5,000,000 in the aggregate during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 or in any future twelve
(12) month period;

(ix) Material Network Contracts;

(x) joint venture agreements, partnership agreements or similar Contracts;
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(xi) Contracts that (A) purport to limit the freedom of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries to compete in any line of business with any Person
or in any geographic area, (B) contain any “non-solicitation,” “non-hire” or similar provisions that restrict the Company or any of the Subsidiaries other
than standard non-hire provisions in non-disclosure agreements entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business, (C) grant any Person “most-favored
nation” status that applies to the price of products or services provided by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or (D) provides for “exclusivity” or
any similar requirement in favor of any Person other than the Company or any of the Subsidiaries;

(xii) Contracts relating to the incurrence, assumption or guarantee of any Debt, or the making of any loans, by the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries, in each case, involving amounts in excess of $200,000;

(xiii) Contracts under which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries has guaranteed any material obligations of any other Person;

(xiv) Contracts purporting to grant a license to, or to obtain a license from, any of the Company or the Subsidiaries of any rights to Intellectual
Property, in each case, for consideration in excess of $500,000 in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 or reasonably expected to require
consideration in excess of $500,000 in any subsequent fiscal year, other than (A) licenses of Off-the-Shelf-Software and (B) embedded software in
telecommunications equipment used by any of the Company or the Subsidiaries (including such equipment that may be deployed at a customer’s
premises);

(xv) Contracts entered into in connection with the settlement of any Legal Proceeding that contain any material ongoing obligations (other than
terms solely relating to confidentiality or non-disparagement) that bind the Company or any of the Subsidiaries; and

(xvi) any (A) broker, distributor, dealer, manufacturer, franchise, agency, sales promotion, market research, marketing, consulting or advertising
Contract, in each case, that required or is reasonably expected to require aggregate payments by the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in
excess of $250,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016 or the year ended December 31, 2017, or (B) Contract with any independent contractor or
consultant who is a natural person who is entitled to receive payments in excess of $100,000 per year thereunder for any one-year period beginning on
or after January 1, 2017.

(b) Other than the Affiliate Contracts that will be terminated pursuant to Section 7.15 or that terminate or expire in accordance with their terms,
each Material Contract is Enforceable against the Company or a Subsidiary, as applicable, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each counterparty thereto,
and is in full force and effect, except, in each case, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be material to the Company and the Subsidiaries,
taken as a whole. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries, nor to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto, is in breach of, or in
default under, any such Material Contract, and no event has occurred within the last twelve (12) months prior to the date of this Agreement that with notice or
lapse of time or both would constitute such a breach or default thereunder by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
any other party thereto, except for such breaches and defaults that would
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not reasonably be expected to be, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(c) The Company has made available to Buyer a complete and correct copy of each Material Contract prior to the date of this Agreement
(excluding service orders and immaterial supplements thereto that are governed by such Material Contract).

4.14 Employee Benefits Plans.

(a) Section 4.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each material “employee benefit plan” (as
defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”)) and each other material bonus, equity or equity-
based, deferred compensation, retirement, employment, retention, change of control, severance or other material benefit plan, program, policy or agreement
sponsored or maintained by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, to which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is a party or as to which the Company
or any of the Subsidiaries has any material liability, in each case, for the benefit of current or former directors, officers, managers, employees or other service
providers of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries (each, a “Participant”), other than any governmental or other statutorily mandated plan or program
(without regards to materiality, each, a “Company Benefit Plan”). The Company has made available to Buyer correct and complete copies of: (i) each material
Company Benefit Plan document and any amendments thereto; (ii) the most recently filed annual report on Form 5500 with respect to each material Company
Benefit Plan (if any such report was required); and (iii) any trust agreement or insurance or group annuity contract relating to any Company Benefit Plan.
Each Company Benefit Plan has been operated and administered in all material respects in accordance with its terms and applicable Law. There are no
material Legal Proceedings pending, or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to or involving any Company Benefit Plan (other than
routine claims for benefits).

(b) All Company Benefit Plans that are intended to be tax qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code have received a favorable determination or
opinion letter, and the Company has made available to Buyer a copy of the most recent determination or opinion letter received with respect to each such
Company Benefit Plan. To the Knowledge of the Company, no event or omission has occurred that would reasonably be expected to cause any such Company
Benefit Plan to lose its qualification under Section 401(a) of the Code.

(c) Within the past six (6) years, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries nor any Commonly Controlled Entity has maintained,
sponsored, contributed to or been required to contribute to (i) a plan subject to Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a “multi-
employer plan” within the meaning of Sections 3(37) or Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, or (iii) a plan with two (2) or more contributing sponsors at least two
(2) of whom are not under common control, within the meaning of Section 4063 of ERISA, or (iv) a multiple employer welfare arrangement as defined in
Section 3(40) of ERISA To the Knowledge of the Company, with respect to the Company, the Subsidiaries or any Commonly Controlled Entity, there does
not exist, nor do any circumstances exist that would reasonably be expected to result in, any Controlled Group Liability that would become a Controlled
Group Liability of the Buyer as a result of the consummation of the Transactions.
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(d) No Company Benefit Plan provides or promises any health or other welfare benefits (other than severance benefits) to employees after their
employment terminates other than as required pursuant to applicable Laws or individual agreements disclosed on Section 4.14(a) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule.

(e) Except as set forth on Section 4.14(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule or as contemplated by Article III of this Agreement, none of the
execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the Transactions (in each case, alone or in combination with any other event) will (i) entitle
any Participant to any compensation or benefit (including any increase in any pre-existing compensation or benefit), (ii) result in the payment of any amount
that would not be deductible by the Company and the Subsidiaries by reason of Section 280G of the Code or (iii) with respect to any Company Benefit Plan,
accelerate the time of payment, vesting or funding of any compensation or benefit or trigger any other payment or funding obligation. No Participant is
entitled to any gross-up, make-whole or other additional payment from the Company or any of the Subsidiaries in respect of any Tax or interest or penalty
related thereto under Sections 4999 or 409A of the Code.

4.15 Labor.

(a) No employees of the Company or any Subsidiary are represented by a union or other collective bargaining entity. Neither the Company nor
any of the Subsidiaries is a party to any labor or collective bargaining agreement.

(b) Since December 31, 2013, there has not been, nor is there pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, any material labor
dispute between the Company or any of the Subsidiaries and any labor organization, or any strike, work stoppage, work slowdown or lockout involving any
employee of, or affecting the Company or any of the Subsidiaries. There are no unfair labor practice charges, grievances or complaints pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened by or on behalf of any employee or group of employees of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries. Since
December 31, 2013, to the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has received notice of any investigation by a
Governmental Body responsible for the enforcement of labor or employment regulations, the resolution of which did, or would reasonably be expected to,
result in any material liability of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries.

(c) The Company and the Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to the employment of labor
(including independent contractors), labor relations and employment practices, including those related to worker classification, wages, hours, and collective
bargaining.

4.16 Litigation. There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or the
Subsidiaries that (a) individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole or
(b) seek an Order restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting or making illegal any of the Transactions. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is
subject to any Order, except to the extent the same would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and the
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

4.17 Compliance with Laws; Permits.
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(a) Since December 31, 2013, the Company and the Subsidiaries have operated and conducted their businesses in compliance in all material
respects with all Laws and Orders of any Governmental Body applicable to their respective businesses or operations and all internal or posted policies and
procedures. Since December 31, 2013, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has received any written notice alleging, or been charged with, any
violation of any Laws (other than violations that are immaterial to the Business).

(b) Section 4.17(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list, as of the date hereof, of all Permits that are
material to the conduct of the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as now conducted or necessary to permit them to own, lease
and operate their property, rights or other assets (“Material Permits”). All Material Permits are valid and in full force and effect, the Company and the
Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all Material Permits and there are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened, which have resulted or would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, reversal, stay, being set aside, annulment or
suspension of any Material Permit. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has received any notification from any Governmental Body alleging any
material violation of or material default under any Material Permit.

4.18 Environmental Matters. (a) The operations and properties of the Company and each of the Subsidiaries are, and, since December 31, 2011,
have been, in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, which compliance includes obtaining, maintaining and complying with any Permits
required under all applicable Environmental Laws necessary to operate their respective businesses as now conducted (“Environmental Permits”), except for
any non-compliance that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a
whole; (b) except for matters that have been resolved fully and finally, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has received any written notice from
any Person alleging that the Company or any of the Subsidiaries has violated, or may have liability under, any Environmental Law, or has received any
request by any Governmental Body for information pursuant to any Environmental Law, except in each case as would not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (c) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no existing
events, conditions or circumstances that would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ ability to
comply with Environmental Laws or Environmental Permits (other than proposed changes in state or federal Environmental Laws that have not become
effective) in the future or materially increase the cost of such compliance; (d) neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is subject to any pending, or to
the Knowledge of the Company, threatened Legal Proceeding under or relating to any Environmental Law or any Environmental Permit (an “Environmental
Claim”); (e) there has been no Release of or exposure to any Hazardous Materials at any location, including at or from the facilities currently or formerly
owned, leased or used for disposal by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries, in a manner that would reasonably be expected to result in any Environmental
Claim against the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that, individually or in the aggregate, is or would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company
and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (f) other than diesel fuel tanks associated with electric generators owned or operated by the Company or its
Subsidiaries, to the Knowledge of the Company there are no underground or aboveground storage tanks, on, at, under or about any real property owned or
leased by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or for which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is otherwise primarily responsible for operating or
maintaining; (g) except for matters that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in material liability to
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the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has retained or assumed, either contractually or by
operation of Law, any liabilities or obligations that could reasonably be expected to form the basis of any Environmental Claim against the Company or any
of the Subsidiaries; and (h) the Company has made available to Buyer true, correct and complete copies of all Phase I and Phase II environmental site
assessments and, to the extent prepared on or after December 31, 2012, all other material reports, studies, audits or investigations, in each case in its
possession, relating to the environmental condition of the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ current or former businesses or properties or relating to their
respective liabilities under or compliance with Environmental Law.

4.19 Insurance.

(a) Section 4.19(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of each material insurance policy maintained
by, or for the benefit of, the Company and the Subsidiaries, other than any insurance policies relating to Company Benefit Plans. All of such insurance
policies are in full force and effect. With respect to each such insurance policy, (i) neither the Company, nor any of the Subsidiaries, is in material breach or
material default (including any such breach or default with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notice of claims), and, to the Knowledge of
the Company, no event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute such a material breach or material default, or permit
termination or modification, under any such policy and (ii) no written notice of cancellation or termination has been received other than in connection with
ordinary renewals.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 4.19(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) there are currently no claims in excess of $100,000 pending
under any insurance policies currently in effect and covering the property, business or employees of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries and (ii) there has
been no claim for more than $100,000 under any such policy made during the two (2) year period prior to the date of this Agreement that has been denied,
rejected, disputed or refused coverage, in whole or in part (other than a customary reservation of rights notice).

4.20 Related Party Transactions. Except for (a) normal advances to employees in the Ordinary Course of Business, (b) payment of compensation
for employment to employees in the Ordinary Course of Business, (c) participation by employees, officers and directors in any Company Benefit Plans and
(d) the Operating Agreement, no employee, director or officer of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or any Equityholder, or any member of such
employee’s, director’s, officer’s or Equityholder’s immediate family, or any Person controlled by such employee, director, officer or equityholder, is a party to
any Contract to which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of their respective assets or properties is bound, or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, has a material interest in any Contract, asset or property (real or personal), tangible or intangible, owned by, used in or pertaining
to the business of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Equityholder or officer of the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries or any of their respective spouses or immediate family members owns directly, on an individual or joint basis, or has any interest in any tangible
or intangible property that the Company or any of the Subsidiaries owns or uses in the conduct of its business, other than any ownership of equity interests in
the Company; provided, however, that the ownership of securities representing no more than one percent (1%) of the outstanding voting power of any Person,
and which are listed on any national securities exchange or traded actively in the national over-the-counter market, shall not be deemed to be an “interest”
under
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this Section 4.20 as long as the Person owning such securities has no other connection or relationship with such Person.

4.21 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) Section 4.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the names of (i) the ten (10) largest
customers of the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, measured by the aggregate amount billed to such customers by the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries during the twelve (12) months ended March 31, 2017 (the “Significant Customers”) and (ii) the ten (10) largest suppliers from which the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries purchased goods or services measured by the aggregate expenditures of the Company and the Subsidiaries during the
twelve (12) months ended March 31, 2017 (the “Significant Suppliers”). Except as set forth on Section 4.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the
date hereof, none of the Significant Customers or Significant Suppliers has cancelled, terminated or otherwise materially altered (including any non-renewals)
or notified the Company or any of the Subsidiaries of any intention to do any of the foregoing or otherwise threatened in writing to cancel, terminate or
materially alter its relationship with the Company or any of the Subsidiaries.

(b) Section 4.21(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all discontinuance or non-renewal notices
received between December 31, 2016 and the date of this Agreement from customers of the Company and the Subsidiaries with respect to circuits for which
recurring charges exceed Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) per month.

4.22 Telecommunications Matters.

(a) The Company and the Subsidiaries hold all licenses, authorizations, certificates and registrations required by the FCC and by each State PUC
that regulates the Business as are required for the operation of the Business (collectively, the “Telecommunication Permits”), and Section 4.22(a) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all such Telecommunication Permits. Except as set forth on Section 4.22(a) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule, or as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, each
Telecommunication Permit is in full force and effect, there are no Legal Proceedings pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened which have
resulted or would reasonably be expected to result in any revocation, suspension, default or violation of or with respect to any Telecommunication Permit, or
any material fine or forfeiture in connection therewith.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 4.22(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, since December 31, 2013, the Company and the Subsidiaries
have operated and conducted their business in all material respects in compliance with the terms and conditions of the Telecommunication Permits and the
Communications Laws, including timely and accurately submitting all material reports, notifications and applications required by applicable Communications
Laws, and the payment of all material regulatory fees, assessments and contributions, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to (i) result in material liability to the Company and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) prevent or materially interfere with or delay the
consummation of any of the Transactions or (iii) materially affect, impede, or restrain the operation of the business of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries
as now conducted; provided that, for purposes of the foregoing, (x) “material reports” shall include FCC Forms 499A and 499Q and (y) “material regulatory
fees, assessments and contributions”
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shall include FCC regulatory fees, all contributions to support federal universal service, interstate telecommunication relay service, the administration of the
North American Numbering Plan and the shared costs of local number portability administration.

(c) Since December 31, 2013, the Company and the Subsidiaries have filed all required Universal Service Fund reports and all such filings were,
when made, true, correct and complete and in accordance with existing precedent of the relevant Governmental Body. At the Closing, the Company and the
Subsidiaries shall have paid all federal and state Universal Service Contributions billed by Fund Administrators prior to the Closing Date. At the Closing, the
Company and the Subsidiaries shall have filed all forms that were due prior to the Closing Date, and retained all supporting documentation, necessary for the
Fund Administrators to calculate its Universal Service Contributions. Where such forms are not due to be filed until after the Closing Date, the Company and
the Subsidiaries shall also have compiled and retained all documentation needed to file any forms necessary for the Fund Administrators to calculate
Universal Service Contributions for the period prior to the Closing Date. Since December 31, 2013, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has been
the subject of any audit, investigation, enforcement, Legal Proceeding, assessment, fine, penalty or interest related to Universal Service Subsidies or
Universal Service Contributions and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such audit, investigation, enforcement, Legal Proceeding, fine, penalty or
interests is threatened.

4.23 Illegal Payments. None of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any of their respective managers,
officers, directors employees or Representatives (acting in their capacity as such) has (a) offered, made, accepted or received any illegal payment,
contribution, expenditure, gratuity or gift of any kind, directly or indirectly, to any official, employee or agent of any Governmental Body or any candidate for
any office of any Governmental Body or (b) violated or operated in noncompliance with any export restrictions, anti-boycott regulations or embargo
regulations. To the Knowledge of the Company, there have been no false or fictitious entries made in the books or records of the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries relating to any payment prohibited by Law, and neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has established or maintained any fund for use
in making any such payments.

4.24 Financial Advisors. Other than Persons the fees and expenses of which are included as Transaction Expenses, no Person has acted, directly
or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor for the Company or the Subsidiaries in connection with the Transactions and no Person is entitled to any
fee or commission or like payment from the Company or the Subsidiaries in respect thereof.

4.25 Network Facilities Route. The Company has made available to Buyer the following information as of the end of the month prior to the date
hereof regarding the route and location of the Network Facilities of the Company and the Subsidiaries, which information is true, correct and complete in all
material respects as of the date hereof: (i) the network route map (including any backbone fiber routes under construction); (ii) the list of all on-network
buildings (including buildings services by the Company’s or the Subsidiaries’ networks and buildings services by the Company or a Subsidiary using the
facilities of another carrier); (iii) the collocation facilities operated by the Company and the Subsidiaries as commercial data centers; (iv) the locations
(including latitude and longitude) of all small cell nodes provided by the Company and the Subsidiaries; (v) the number of route miles and the number of fiber
miles of Network Facilities owned by the Company and the Subsidiaries, listed by
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metropolitan area; and (vi) the end points of Network Facilities leased by the Company and the Subsidiaries, listed by metropolitan area. There are no
material Network Facilities used by the Company or the Subsidiaries other than those set forth in the Data Room and no other assets are necessary for the use,
operation or maintenance of the Network Facilities consistent with the Company’s past practice.

4.26 Takeover Laws. No anti-takeover or similar Law is applicable to this Agreement or the Transactions.

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BLOCKERCOS

Except as set forth on the corresponding section of the disclosure schedule of the Blockercos delivered by the Blockercos to Buyer prior to the
execution of this Agreement (the “Blockerco Disclosure Schedule”) (or in one or more of the other sections of the Blockerco Disclosure Schedule to the
extent the relevance of such disclosure to such other section is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure), each Blockerco hereby severally and not
jointly represents and warrants to the Buyer Parties, solely with respect to such Blockerco, that:

5.1 Organization and Good Standing. Such Blockerco is a duly organized and validly existing corporation or other entity in good standing to the
extent such concepts are recognized under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization, and has all requisite corporate (or similar entity)
power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in all material respects as now conducted. Such Blockerco is duly
qualified licensed and authorized to do business as a foreign corporation or entity and is in good standing to the extent such concepts are recognized under the
laws of each jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or the ownership or lease of its properties requires such qualification, license or authorization,
except where the failure to be so qualified, licensed, authorized or in good standing would not reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay
any such Blockerco from performing its material obligations under this Agreement or consummating the Transactions as contemplated hereby

5.2 Authorization of Agreement. Such Blockerco has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other
agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed by such Blockerco in connection with the consummation of
the Transactions (the “Blockerco Documents”), to perform its obligations hereunder, and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery by such
Blockerco of this Agreement and the Blockerco Documents to which such Blockerco is a party, the performance by such Blockerco of its obligations
hereunder and thereunder and the consummation by such Blockerco of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary action on behalf of such
Blockerco, and no other corporate or similar action on the part of such Blockerco or its stockholders or other equity holders (other than the filing of the
Certificate of Merger applicable to such Blockerco) is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the
Blockerco Documents and the consummation of the Transactions. This Agreement has been, and each of the Blockerco Documents will be at or prior to the
Closing, duly and validly executed and delivered by such Blockerco. This Agreement is, and each Blockerco Document when so executed and delivered shall
be, Enforceable against such Blockerco.
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5.3 Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties.

(a) None of the execution and delivery by such Blockerco of this Agreement or the Blockerco Documents, the consummation by such Blockerco
of the Transactions, or compliance by such Blockerco with any of the provisions hereof or thereof will conflict with, or result in any violation of or default
(with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of, or result in, termination, acceleration or cancellation of any obligation or to a
loss of benefit under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on the property or assets of Blockerco under, or give rise
to any rights or entitlements under, any provision of: (i) the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or comparable organizational documents of such Blockerco;
(ii) any material Contract or material Permit to which such Blockerco is a party; (iii) any Order applicable to such Blockerco or by which any of the properties
or assets of such Blockerco are bound; or (iv) any applicable Law, other than, in the case of the preceding clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), such conflicts, violations,
defaults, terminations or cancellations that would not reasonably be expected to , individually or in the aggregate, (x) result in material liability to such
Blockerco or (y) prevent or materially impair or delay such Blockerco from performing its material obligations under this Agreement or consummating the
Transactions as contemplated hereby.

(b) No consent, waiver, approval, Order, Permit or authorization of, or declaration or filing with, or notification to, any Governmental Body is
required on the part of such Blockerco in connection with the execution and delivery by such Blockerco of this Agreement or the Blockerco Documents, the
compliance by such Blockerco with any of the provisions hereof or thereof, or the consummation by Blockerco of the Transactions, except for: (i) filings
required under and in compliance with the applicable requirements of the HSR Act; (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger applicable to such Blockerco;
and (iii) the Telecom Regulatory Filings and the Telecom Regulatory Consents.

5.4 Capitalization.

(a) Section 5.4 of the Blockerco Disclosure Schedule sets forth, with respect to such Blockerco: (i) the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or
organized; (ii) the number of shares of its authorized capital stock (if applicable); and (iii) subject to Section 7.19, the number and class of shares of stock or
other equity interests thereof duly issued and outstanding, the names of all holders thereof and the number of shares of stock or other equity interests held by
each such holder.

(b) The outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of such Blockerco are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, in each
case, as applicable, and have not been issued in violation of, and are not subject to, any preemptive rights. There are no accumulated but unpaid dividends or
distributions with respect to any equity interests in Blockerco.

(c) There is no outstanding option, warrant, call, right or Contract to which such Blockerco is a party requiring, and there are no securities of
such Blockerco outstanding which upon conversion or exchange would require, the issuance of any shares of capital stock or other equity interests of such
Blockerco or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or evidencing the right to subscribe for or purchase shares of capital stock or other equity
interests of such Blockerco. There are no outstanding obligations of Blockerco to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any equity interests or other
securities of Blockerco (or any outstanding rights to cause Blockerco, or any other Person, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any equity interests or
other securities of Blockerco).
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There are no restrictions on the transfer of equity securities of Blockerco (other than restrictions under applicable securities Laws and the Blockerco’s
organizational documents). Blockerco is not a party to any voting trust or other Contract with respect to the voting, redemption, sale, transfer or other
disposition of the equity interests of Blockerco. All holders of capital stock of Blockerco have waived or are not entitled to any “appraisal rights”, “dissenter’s
rights” or any similar rights under the Law in connection with the Transactions. Such Blockerco does not own any stock, partnership interest, joint venture
interest or other equity interest in any Person other than the Company.

5.5 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Other than with respect to Taxes, such Blockerco has no liabilities of any kind and is not liable for, directly or
indirectly, any liabilities.

5.6 Absence of Certain Developments. Except as contemplated by this Agreement, since December 31, 2016: (a) such Blockerco has conducted
its business only in the Ordinary Course of Business; and (b) except in connection with the Transactions, such Blockerco has not taken any action that would,
if taken after the date hereof, be prohibited by Section 7.2(b).

5.7 Taxes. Except as set forth on Section 5.7 of the Blockerco Disclosure Schedule:

(a) Such Blockerco has timely filed (taking into account any extensions of time within which to file) all income and other material Tax Returns
required to be filed by it, and all Taxes required to be paid by it have been paid by it. All income and other material Tax Returns of such Blockerco are true,
correct and complete in all material respects insofar as such Tax Returns reflect the liability for Taxes shown due thereon. There are no Liens with respect to
Taxes upon any asset of the Blockerco other than Permitted Liens. All material Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts
paid by such Blockerco to any Person have been withheld and timely paid to the appropriate Taxing Authority.

(b) No unresolved deficiencies for any material amounts of Taxes have been assessed in writing against such Blockerco by any Taxing Authority.

(c) No requests for waivers of the time to assess any material Taxes have been made that are still pending (other than waivers as a result of
extensions of time to file Tax Returns).

(d) Such Blockerco is not liable for a material amount of Taxes of any other Person as a transferee or successor or as a result of any
indemnification provision or other contractual obligation.

(e) Such Blockerco has never been a member of an “affiliated group” within the meaning of Code Section 1504(a) filing a consolidated federal
income Tax Return or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law.

(f) Such Blockerco will not be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material deduction from, taxable income for
any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any change in accounting method, prepaid amount realized outside the
Ordinary Course of Business, closing agreement described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law), installment
sale or open transaction disposition.
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(g) Such Blockerco has not engaged in any “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(h) Such Blockerco has not constituted a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a transaction intended to qualify under
Section 355 of the Code within the two (2) year period ending on the date of this Agreement.

5.8 Litigation. There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of such Blockerco, threatened against such Blockerco that
(a) individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to be material to Blockerco or (b) seek an Order restraining, enjoining or otherwise
prohibiting or making illegal any of the Transactions. Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries is subject to any Order.

5.9 Related Party Agreements. No director, manager, executive officer or Affiliate of such Blockerco, or any spouse, parent, brother, sister, child
or Affiliate of the foregoing, is a party to any material Contract or other commitment to which such Blockerco is a party or by which any of its assets or
properties is bound, or, to the knowledge of such Blockerco, has a material interest in any Contract or other commitment, asset or property (real or personal),
tangible or intangible, owned by or used in the business of such Blockerco.

5.10 Contracts. Other than this Agreement, its organizational documents (including its limited liability company agreement or agreement of
limited partnership, as applicable) and any other Contract incidental to the ownership of its equity interests or (on a direct or indirect basis) the equity interests
of the Company, such Blockerco is not a party to any Contract.

5.11 Blockerco Operations. Such Blockerco (a) was formed solely for the purpose of directly or indirectly holding equity interests of the
Company and entering into certain transactions related to the acquisition of such interests, directly or indirectly, by such Blockerco, (b) has not engaged in
any business activities or conducted any operations other than in connection with such purpose or transactions, (c) does not, and has not at any time had, any
employees, (d) as of immediately prior to the Closing, after giving effect to the Initial Redemptions and the Subsequent Redemptions, will own and have good
and valid title to the equity interests in the Company represented as being owned directly or indirectly by such Blockerco, free and clear of any and all Liens
and (e) does not control any other Person. Except for the equity interests it holds in respect of its direct or indirect ownership stake in the Company, such
Blockerco does not hold any assets.

5.12 Financial Advisors. Other than Persons the fees and expenses of which are included as Transaction Expenses, no Person has acted, directly
or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor for the Blockerco in connection with the Transactions and no Person is entitled to any fee or commission
or like payment from the Blockerco in respect thereof.

ARTICLE VI

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER PARTIES

The Buyer Parties, jointly and severally, hereby represent and warrant to the Blockercos and the Company that:
 

- 64 -



6.1 Organization and Good Standing.

(a) Buyer is a duly organized and validly existing corporation and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite
corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in all material respects as now conducted.

(b) Each Merger Sub is a duly organized and validly existing corporation and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and has
all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in all material respects as now conducted.

(c) No ten percent (10%) or greater equity or voting interest in any Buyer Party is directly or indirectly held by or attributable to a non-U.S.
Person pursuant to Section 63.18(h) of the rules of the FCC, 47 C.F.R. § 63.18(h).

6.2 Authorization of Agreement. Each Buyer Party has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other
agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed by such Buyer Party in connection with the consummation of
the Transactions (the “Buyer Documents”), to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and
delivery by each Buyer Party of this Agreement and the Buyer Documents to which such Buyer Party is a party, the performance by such Buyer Party of its
obligations hereunder and thereunder and the consummation by each Buyer Party of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary action on
behalf the Buyer Parties, and no other corporate or similar action on the part of the Buyer Parties (other than the filing of the Certificates of Merger) is
necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and each of the Buyer Documents and the consummation of the
Transactions. This Agreement has been, and each of the Buyer Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and validly executed and delivered by the
Buyer Parties party thereto. This Agreement is, and each Buyer Document when so executed and delivered shall be, Enforceable against the Buyer Parties
party thereto.

6.3 Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties.

(a) None of the execution and delivery by any Buyer Party of this Agreement or the Buyer Documents, the consummation by any Buyer Party of
the Transactions, or compliance by any Buyer Party with any of the provisions hereof or thereof will conflict with, or result in any violation of or default
(with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of, or result in, termination, acceleration or cancellation of any obligation or to a
loss of benefit under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on the property or assets of any Buyer Party under, or
give rise to any rights or entitlements under, any provision of: (i) the certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or comparable organizational documents) of any
Buyer Party; (ii) any material Contract or material Permit to which any Buyer Party is a party; (iii) any Order applicable to any Buyer Party or by which any
of the properties or assets of any Buyer Party are bound; or (iv) any applicable Law, other than, in the case of the preceding clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), such
conflicts, violations, defaults, terminations or cancellations that would not reasonably be expected to , individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially
impair or delay any Buyer Party from performing its material obligations under this Agreement or consummating the Transactions as contemplated hereby
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(b) No consent, waiver, approval, Order, Permit or authorization of, or declaration or filing with, or notification to, any Governmental Body is
required on the part of any Buyer Party in connection with the execution and delivery by any Buyer Party of this Agreement or the Buyer Documents, the
compliance by any Buyer Party with any of the provisions hereof or thereof, or the consummation by any Buyer Party of the Transactions, except for:
(i) filings required under and in compliance with the applicable requirements of the HSR Act; (ii) the filings of the Certificates of Merger; and (iii) the
Telecom Regulatory Filings and the Telecom Regulatory Consents and (iv) such other consents, waivers, approvals, Orders, Permits or authorizations the
failure of which to obtain would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially impair or delay any Buyer Party from
performing its material obligations under this Agreement or consummating the Transactions as contemplated hereby.

6.4 Litigation. There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Buyer, threatened against any Buyer Party that seek an Order
restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting or making illegal any of the Transactions. No Buyer Party is subject to any Order except to the extent the same
would not reasonably be expected to prohibit or restrain the ability of any Buyer to enter into this Agreement or consummate the Transactions.

6.5 Financial Advisors. Other than Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, no Person has acted, directly or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor
for any Buyer Party in connection with the Transactions and no such Person is entitled to any fee or commission or like payment from any Buyer Party in
respect thereof.

6.6 Sufficient Funds. Buyer will have available to it at the Closing sufficient funds to enable Buyer to consummate the Transactions and to satisfy
its obligations hereunder and thereunder, including the obligations pursuant to Section 3.9(a) and Section 3.10(c)(i). Buyer has delivered to the Company true,
correct and complete copies of the commitment letter, dated as of July 18, 2017, from Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., Bank of America, N.A. and
Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (the “Commitment Parties”), to Crown Castle International Corp. (the “Debt Commitment Letter”),
pursuant to which the Commitment Parties have committed, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein (subject to any “market flex”
provisions included in the fee letter dated as of July 18, 2017 referred to in the Debt Commitment Letter (the “Fee Letter”), a true and complete copy of which
has been delivered to the Company with fees, economic terms and “market flex” provisions redacted), to provide the financing set forth in the Debt
Commitment Letter (the “Financing”). The Debt Commitment Letter is (i) in full force and effect, (ii) the legal, valid and binding obligation of Crown Castle
International Corp. and, to the Knowledge of Buyer, of each of the Commitment Parties, and (iii) to the Knowledge of Buyer, Enforceable in accordance with
its terms against the Commitment Parties. As of the date hereof, no Commitment Party has notified Buyer or any of its Affiliates of its intention to terminate
the Debt Commitment Letter or not to provide its applicable portion of the Financing. The Debt Commitment Letter constitutes the entire and complete
agreement between the parties thereto with respect to the Financing and has not been amended, modified or terminated prior to the date hereof. Other than the
Debt Commitment Letter and the Fee Letter related thereto, neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates has entered into any side letter or other Contract that would
affect the amount, timing or availability of, or conditionality applicable to, the Financing. The commitments contained in the Debt Commitment Letter have
not been reduced, withdrawn or rescinded as of the date of this Agreement, and no event has occurred which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both,
would or would reasonably be expected to constitute a default or breach under any term or
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condition of the Debt Commitment Letter on the part of Crown Castle International Corp. or, to the Knowledge of Buyer, any of the Commitment Parties. To
the Knowledge of Buyer, assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth in Article IV and Article V such that the condition set forth in
Section 8.2(a) is satisfied and the satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in Section 8.1 or 8.2, there is no fact, occurrence or condition that would make
any of the assumptions or statements set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter inaccurate in any material respect or that would cause the commitments
provided in the Debt Commitment Letter to be terminated, reduced or ineffective or any of the conditions contained therein not to be met. The consummation
of the Financing is subject to no conditions precedent or contingencies other than those expressly set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter. Neither Buyer nor
any of its Affiliates has any reason to believe that it or any other party to the Debt Commitment Letter will be unable to satisfy on a timely basis any term
thereof that could affect the amount, timing or availability of, or conditionality applicable to, the Financing. All commitments and other fees required to be
paid under the Debt Commitment Letter prior to the date hereof have been paid in full. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth
in Article IV and Article V such that the condition set forth in Section 8.2(a) is satisfied and the satisfaction of the other conditions set forth in Section 8.1 or
Section 8.2, the aggregate proceeds contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter when funded, together with other cash-on-hand and available capacity
under Buyer’s revolving credit facility, would be sufficient for Buyer to pay the payments set forth in Section 3.9(a). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, Buyer expressly acknowledges and agrees that Buyer’s obligations hereunder are not conditioned in any manner upon Buyer obtaining any
financing.

6.7 Solvency.

(a) Immediately after giving effect to the consummation of the Transactions, including payment of the amounts required to be paid pursuant to
Section 3.9(a) and Section 3.10(c)(i) and payment of all related fees and expenses:

(i) the fair saleable value (determined on a going concern basis) of the assets of Buyer and the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries
shall be greater than the total amount required to pay their liabilities (including all liabilities, whether or not reflected in a balance sheet prepared in
accordance with GAAP, and whether direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, secured or unsecured, disputed or undisputed);

(ii) Buyer and the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries shall be able to pay their debts, obligations and liabilities in the Ordinary
Course of Business as they become due; and

(iii) Buyer and the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries shall not have unreasonably small capital for the operation of the businesses in
which they are engaged or proposed to be engaged thereafter.

(b) In completing the Transactions, no Buyer Party intends to hinder, delay or defraud any present or future creditors of Buyer, the Blockercos,
the Company or the Subsidiaries.

6.8 Operations of Merger Subs. Buyer owns beneficially and of record all of the outstanding capital stock of each Merger Sub. Each Merger Sub
was formed solely for the purpose of
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engaging in the Transactions and has not engaged in any business activities or conducted any operations other than in connection with such Transactions and
activities incidental thereto.

ARTICLE VII

COVENANTS

7.1 Access to Information.

(a) From the date of this Agreement until the Closing or the earlier termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 9.1 (such period,
the “Pre-Closing Period”), the Company and the Blockercos shall from time to time provide Buyer, subject to Section 7.5, with reasonable access (during
normal business hours) to the offices, properties, appropriate officers, books and records of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries, including any
updated quarterly consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Subsidiaries prepared during the Pre-Closing Period in the Ordinary Course of
Business of the Company and monthly financial statements upon request by Buyer. Any such investigation and examination shall be conducted during regular
business hours upon reasonable advance notice and under reasonable circumstances and shall be subject to restrictions under applicable Law. Buyer and its
Representatives shall cooperate with the Company and its representatives and shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption to
the Business. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no such investigation or examination shall be permitted to the extent that it would reasonably
be expected to require any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries to disclose information subject to attorney-client or other legal privilege,
conflict with any confidentiality obligations to which any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries is bound or violate any applicable Law,
including any applicable Antitrust Law. Notwithstanding the foregoing the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make reasonable and
appropriate substitute disclosure arrangements which would allow it to disclose to Buyer information of the types described above without resulting in any
such disclosures of information being subject to privilege, conflicts or violations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, during the Pre-
Closing Period, without the prior written consent of the Company, which may be withheld for any reason or no reason in the sole and absolute discretion of
the Company no Buyer Party or its Affiliates or Representatives shall have any right to perform invasive or subsurface investigations of the properties or
facilities of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries (other than non-invasive Phase I environmental and compliance audits).

(b) For a period of seven (7) years after the Closing, Buyer shall cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries to provide the
Equityholders’ Representative and its Representatives reasonable access to the appropriate officers, books and records (including all electronic data related
thereto) of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries during their regular business hours upon reasonable advance notice and reasonable
circumstances, including to the extent necessary for the preparation of insurance claims, financial statements, regulatory filings, Tax Returns of the
Equityholders or their Affiliates in respect of periods ending on or prior to the Closing, or in connection with any Legal Proceedings (other than Legal
Proceedings in respect of which Buyer is an adverse party, which access shall be governed by applicable Law). Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, no such access shall be permitted to the extent that it would reasonably be expected to require any of the Blockercos, the Company or the
Subsidiaries to disclose information subject to attorney-client or other legal privilege, conflict with any confidentiality obligations to which any of the
Blockercos, the
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Company or the Subsidiaries is bound or violate any applicable Law. Notwithstanding the foregoing the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to make reasonable and appropriate substitute disclosure arrangements which would allow it to disclose to the
Equityholders’ Representative information of the types described above without resulting in any such disclosures of information being subject to privilege,
conflicts or violations. The Equityholders’ Representative shall be entitled to make copies of the books and records to which it is entitled to access pursuant to
this Section 7.1(b). Buyer shall cause the Blockercos and the Company to hold all the books and records of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries
existing on the Closing Date and not to destroy or dispose of any thereof for a period of seven (7) years from the Closing Date or such longer time as may be
required by Law.

7.2 Conduct of the Business Pending the Closing.

(a) During the Pre-Closing Period, except (i) as required by applicable Law, (ii) as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or (iii) with the
prior written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Blockercos and the Company shall, and the
Company shall cause each of the Subsidiaries to, (A) conduct their respective businesses only in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) use commercially
reasonable efforts to preserve intact the respective businesses of the Company and the Subsidiaries and their current relationships with customers, suppliers,
vendors, employees and other Persons with which they have business relationships and (C) use commercially reasonable efforts to incur and fund the Planned
Capital Expenditures.

(b) During the Pre-Closing Period, except (i) as required by applicable Law, (ii) as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) with the prior
written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) or (iv) as set forth on Schedule 7.2(b) hereto, each of the
Blockercos and the Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of the Subsidiaries not to:

(i) other than in connection with the Initial Redemptions or the Subsequent Redemptions or as expressly provided under Section 7.19, transfer,
issue, authorize for issuance, sell or dispose of any shares of its capital stock or other securities, or grant options, warrants, calls, subscriptions or other
rights to purchase or otherwise acquire shares of its equity interests or other securities or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable
into its equity interests (other than, with respect to the repurchase of awards granted under the Equity Plans outstanding on the date hereof that are
vested on the date of such repurchase, in accordance with their respective terms);

(ii) other than in connection with the Initial Redemptions or the Subsequent Redemptions or as expressly provided under Section 7.19, (A) effect
any recapitalization, reclassification, subdivision, split, combination or exchange of any of its equity interests or effect any similar change in its
capitalization or (B) declare or pay any non-cash dividend or non-cash distribution on its equity interests, or redeem or otherwise acquire or repurchase
any of its equity interests;

(iii) other than as expressly provided under Section 7.19, amend or modify its organizational documents;
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(iv) other than as required by Law or Contract or the terms of any Company Benefit Plan (as in effect on the date hereof) or as contemplated by
this Agreement, (A) except for wage and salary increases for non-officer employees in the Ordinary Course of Business, increase the compensation or
benefits (including severance or termination benefits) of, or grant or enter into any new bonus, incentive, severance, or termination agreement or
arrangement with, any Participant (other than compensation or benefits increases, excluding severance or termination increases, for non-officer
employees in the Ordinary Course of Business), (B) take any action to accelerate the time of payment or vesting of any compensation or benefits of any
Participant, (C) establish, adopt, enter into, modify, amend or terminate any Company Benefit Plan, other than routine amendments that do not result in
materially increased administrative costs, (D) terminate the employment of any officer employees other than for cause (as reasonably determined by the
Company consistent with past practice), (E) hire any individual whose annual compensation would be in excess of $250,000, other than to fill
vacancies in the Ordinary Course of Business or (F) approve of, or consent to, any action of any Affiliate of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries
that would require Buyer’s consent pursuant to this Section 7.2(b)(iv) if such action were taken by the Company, or agree to reimburse or make whole
any such Affiliate for any such action;

(v) create, permit or authorize to exist any Lien on any of its equity interests or any of its material properties or assets (whether tangible or
intangible), except for Permitted Liens;

(vi) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, acquire any properties or assets that that have an aggregate purchase price in excess of
$1,000,000 in any individual transaction or $3,000,000 in the aggregate or acquire all or substantially all of the assets or equity interests of any other
Person, or enter into any partnership, joint venture or strategic alliance;

(vii) sell, assign, license, sublicense, transfer, convey, lease, sublease or otherwise dispose of any properties or assets that, individually or in the
aggregate, have a fair market value in excess of $1,000,000, in each case, except (A) in the Ordinary Course of Business, (B) for the purpose of
disposing of obsolete or worthless assets or (C) in connection with the normal repair and replacement of assets;

(viii) waive, release or assign any material rights or claims or cancel or compromise any material debt owing to such Person;

(ix) make or enter into any commitment to make any material Capital Expenditure, other than the Planned Capital Expenditures;

(x) enter into, modify or terminate any labor or collective bargaining agreement;

(xi) enter into or agree to enter into any merger or consolidation with any Person (other than a merger of any wholly-owned Subsidiary into the
Company or another Subsidiary);

(xii) incur, create, assume or otherwise become liable for any Debt or issue any debt securities or assume or guarantee the obligations of any
other Person, other than borrowings under the Company’s or any Subsidiary’s revolving credit facilities in existence as of the date hereof;

 
- 70 -



(xiii) other than routine advances to employees of the Company and the Subsidiaries in the Ordinary Course of Business or the extension of trade
credit or credits to customers in the Ordinary Course of Business, make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investment in, any other
Person, other than the Company or any of the Subsidiaries;

(xiv) (A) terminate, modify or amend any Material Contract or any Real Property Lease, (B) enter into any Material Contract or Real Property
Lease that, if entered into prior to the date hereof, would have been a Material Contract or Real Property Lease or (C) grant any waiver of any material
term under, exercise any material option under, or give any material consent with respect to any Material Contract or any Real Property Lease;
provided, however, that the foregoing shall in no event prohibit the Company or any of the Subsidiaries from terminating, modifying, amending or
entering into Material Contracts or Real Property Leases in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(xv) terminate, modify, amend or enter into any Affiliate Contract;

(xvi) settle or compromise any Claim or Legal Proceeding (whether or not commenced prior to the date of this Agreement), other than
settlements or compromises where (A) the settlement payment is less than $1,000,000, individually or in the aggregate and (B) such settlement or
compromise does not involve any injunctive, equitable or nonmonetary relief against the Company or any of the Subsidiaries (other than any
immaterial injunctive or equitable relief that is merely incidental to a primary obligation for monetary payment);

(xvii) except insofar as may be required by a change in GAAP (or any interpretation thereof) or applicable Law, (A) make any material change to
any of its methods of accounting for Tax purposes, (B) make or change any material election relating to Taxes, (C) settle or compromise any material
Tax claim or (D) amend any material Tax return;

(xviii) change its fiscal year, revalue any material asset for financial accounting purposes or, except insofar as may be required by GAAP, change
accounting policies or procedures;

(xix) abandon, forfeit or fail to maintain in full force and effect any material Telecommunications Permit or, other than in the Ordinary Course of
Business, make any filings, applications or petitions with, or seek any waivers from, the FCC or any State PUC that would result in any material change
to any material Telecommunications Permit;

(xx) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, abandon, forfeit, fail to maintain in full force and effect or materially amend any Material
Permit or Environmental Permit;

(xxi) engage in (A) any practice which would reasonably be expected to have the effect of accelerating to the Pre-Closing Period collections of
receivables or revenue that would otherwise be expected (in the Ordinary Course of Business) to be made in post-Closing periods (including invoicing
or other similar practices), or (B) any practice which would reasonably be expected to have the effect of postponing to post-Closing periods payments
by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries that would otherwise be expected (in the Ordinary Course of Business) to be made in the Pre-Closing
Period;
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(xxii) liquidate, dissolve, recapitalize, reorganize or otherwise wind up its business or operations, or adopt a plan with respect thereto, or fail to
maintain its existence; or

(xxiii) enter into a Contract or agree or commit to do anything prohibited by this Section 7.2(b).

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, (i) the failure of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries to take an action
prohibited by Section 7.2(b) shall in no event be deemed to constitute a breach of Section 7.2(a) and (ii) from the date of this Agreement until the Designated
Time, during the Pre-Closing Period, the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries shall be permitted to utilize any and all available Cash to (A) pay
expenses that would otherwise constitute Closing Transaction Expenses, (B) repay Debt, (C) pay bonuses that would otherwise be payable within the next
fiscal year in the Ordinary Course of Business of the Company or the Subsidiaries or (D) make cash distributions or dividends, in each case, at such times and
in such amounts as the Company or the applicable Subsidiary shall deem necessary, appropriate or desirable; provided, that, the amounts of any bonuses
payable pursuant to clause (C) if paid prior to the end of the applicable fiscal year, shall be paid pro-rated based on the portion elapsed of the applicable fiscal
year and actual performance through the payment date, and the Company and the Subsidiaries shall provide Buyer with reasonable notice prior to making any
such payment.

(d) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give any Buyer Party, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Company’s or any of
the Subsidiaries’ operations prior to the Closing.

7.3 Regulatory Approvals.

(a) Each of the parties agrees to (and agrees to cause its Affiliates to) use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all
actions, to file, or cause to be filed, all documents and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the Transactions. In
furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each of Buyer and, where applicable, the Company undertakes and agrees to (i) make, or cause to be made,
an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect to the Transactions as promptly as practicable (and in any event
within ten (10) Business Days after the date hereof, unless a later period is agreed to in writing by both Buyer and the Company) after the date hereof, and to
request and use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act; (ii) make, or cause to be made, the
telecommunications regulatory applications and other filings set forth on Schedule 7.3(a)(ii) hereto (the “Telecom Regulatory Filings”) as promptly as
practicable (and, with respect to all Telecom Regulatory Filings necessary to obtain any Telecom Regulatory Consents, in any event within fifteen
(15) Business Days after the date hereof, unless a later period is agreed to in writing by both Buyer and the Company) after the date hereof; and (iii) supply as
promptly as reasonably practicable any additional information and documentary material that may be requested pursuant to the HSR Act or in connection
with the Telecom Regulatory Filings.

(b) Further, and without limiting the generality of the rest of this Section 7.3, each of the parties shall cooperate (and shall cause their respective
Affiliates to cooperate) in all respects with each other in connection with any filing or submission and in connection with any investigation or other inquiry
and shall promptly (i) furnish to the other such necessary information and reasonable assistance
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as the other parties may request in connection with the foregoing, (ii) inform the other of any substantive communication from any Governmental Body
regarding any of the Transactions, and (iii) provide counsel for the other parties with copies of all filings made by such party, and all substantive
correspondence between such party (and its advisors) with any Governmental Body and any other information supplied by such party and such party’s
Affiliates to a Governmental Body or received from such a Governmental Body in connection with the Transactions; provided, however, that materials may
be redacted as necessary to comply with contractual arrangements and with applicable Law and to redact information that any party reasonably believes to be
subject to attorney-client or other legal privilege. Each party hereto shall, to the extent reasonably practicable and subject to applicable Law, permit counsel
for the other parties to review in advance, and consider in good faith the views of the other parties in connection with, any proposed substantive written
communication to any Governmental Body in connection with the Transactions. The parties agree not to participate, or to permit their Affiliates to participate
in any substantive meeting or discussion, either in person or by telephone, with any Governmental Body in connection with the Transactions unless, to the
extent reasonably practicable and permitted by applicable Law, it consults with the other parties in advance and, to the extent reasonably practicable and
permitted by such Governmental Body, gives the other parties the opportunity to attend and participate. Any disclosure or provision of information or
documents by one party hereto to the other under this Section 7.3 may be made on an outside counsel only basis, if appropriate. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in this Section 7.3, Buyer shall, in consultation with the Company, make the final determination as to the appropriate course of any action and
shall direct and control all aspects of the parties’ efforts to obtain regulatory clearance and approvals for the Transactions.

(c) Further, and without limiting the generality of the rest of this Section 7.3 and subject to Section 7.3(d), each Buyer Party shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to take any and all steps necessary to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment under any Antitrust Law or other Law
that may be asserted by any Governmental Body or private party with respect to this Agreement so as to make effective as promptly as practicable the
Transactions and to use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid any suit or proceeding, which would otherwise have the effect of preventing or delaying the
Closing beyond the Termination Date. The steps involved in the preceding sentence shall include, subject to Section 7.3(d), agreeing to take any other action
as may be required by a Governmental Body in order (i) to obtain all necessary consents, waivers, approvals and authorizations as soon as reasonably
possible, and in any event before the Termination Date or (ii) to effect the expiration or termination of any waiting period, which would otherwise have the
effect of preventing or delaying the Closing beyond the Termination Date. At the request of Buyer, the Company shall agree to take any action with respect to
the Company or any of the Subsidiaries in the two (2) preceding sentences; provided, that any such action is conditioned upon (and shall not be completed
prior to) the consummation of the Transactions. Each party shall not, and shall cause each of its Affiliates not to, take any action which is intended to or which
would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the ability of any of the parties hereto from obtaining (or cause delay in obtaining) any necessary approvals
of any Governmental Body required for the Transactions, from performing its covenants and agreements under this Agreement, or from consummating the
Transactions. Without limiting the foregoing, subject to Section 7.3(d), each Buyer Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, use commercially reasonable
efforts to (A) propose, negotiate, commit to and effect, by consent decree, hold separate orders, or otherwise, the sale, divestiture, disposition, or license of
any assets, properties, products, product lines, services, businesses, or rights of the Company or the Subsidiaries or any interest or interests therein, effective
as of the Closing, and (B) otherwise take or commit to take any action that limits its freedom of action with
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respect to, or its ability to retain, any of the assets, properties, products, product lines services, or businesses of the Company or the Subsidiaries or any
interest or interests therein, effective as of the Closing, in order to avoid the entry of, or to effect the dissolution of, any Order in any Legal Proceeding, or any
impediment under any Antitrust Law or other Law, which would otherwise have the effect of preventing the consummation of the Transactions.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement, including the provisions of this Section 7.3, shall be
construed to require Buyer or any of its Affiliates to, and in no event will the Company, the Blockercos or any of their respective Affiliates be permitted to
without the prior written consent of Buyer (which consent may be withheld at Buyer’s sole discretion), offer to take, agree to take or commit to take any
actions pursuant to this Section 7.3, that (I) individually or in the aggregate could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (it being agreed
that for purposes of this Section 7.3(d), Effects caused by or resulting from the matters set forth in clauses (e) and (f) of the definition of the term “Material
Adverse Effect” shall not be excluded from determining whether there has been or will be a Material Adverse Effect), (II) involve selling, divesting,
disposing, licensing, holding separate or otherwise restricting any assets, properties, products, product lines, services, businesses or rights of Buyer or its
Affiliates, or (III) involve pursuing any litigation against any Governmental Body.

(e) For purposes of this Section 7.3, in no event shall the Company or any of the Subsidiaries be considered an Affiliate of any portfolio company
of any investment fund affiliated with Berkshire, nor shall any portfolio company of any investment fund affiliated with Berkshire be considered an Affiliate
of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries.

7.4 Further Assurances. Subject to, and not in limitation of, Section 7.3, which shall exclusively govern the obligations of the parties set forth
therein, each of the Buyer Parties, the Blockercos and the Company shall use (and the Company shall cause each of the Subsidiaries to use) its reasonable best
efforts to (a) take all actions necessary or appropriate to consummate the Transactions and (b) cause the fulfillment at the earliest practicable date of all of the
conditions to their respective obligations to consummate and make effective the Transactions.

7.5 Confidentiality. Each Buyer Party acknowledges that the documents and other information made available to it in connection with this
Agreement and the Transactions is subject to the terms of the confidentiality agreement between Crown Castle International LLC and the Company dated
September 23, 2016 (the “Confidentiality Agreement”), which shall remain in effect during the Pre-Closing Period and shall terminate upon the earlier of
(a) the Closing Date or (b) the termination date specified in the Confidentiality Agreement. Each Buyer Party hereby agrees to be bound by the terms and
conditions of the Confidentiality Agreement applicable to Crown Castle International LLC, to the same extent as though originally party thereto.
Notwithstanding the termination of the Confidentiality Agreement at the Closing, from and after the Closing, each Buyer Party shall, and shall cause its
Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives to, keep confidential any information concerning the Equityholders furnished in connection with the
Transactions.

7.6 Indemnification, Exculpation and Insurance.

(a) From and after the Closing, Buyer shall, or shall cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries to, indemnify, defend and hold
harmless, to the fullest extent permitted
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under applicable Law, the Persons who at or prior to the Closing were directors, managers, managing members, officers, employees, attorneys, agents or
equityholders of any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Indemnitees”), with respect to all acts or omissions by any of them
or taken at the request of any of the Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries, as applicable, in each case, at or prior to the Closing, in and to the extent of
their capacities as such and not as Equityholders. Buyer agrees that, and shall cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries to ensure that, all
rights of the Indemnitees, in and to the extent of their capacities as such and not as Equityholders, to advancement, indemnification and exculpation from
liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Closing and, in each case, as provided in the Certificate of Formation, the Operating Agreement or
the comparable organizational documents of any of the Blockercos or the Subsidiaries and any indemnification agreements or arrangements of any of the
Blockercos, the Company or the Subsidiaries (in each case, as in effect on the date of this Agreement and that have been made available to Buyer), shall, in
each case, survive the Closing and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. Such rights, agreements or arrangements shall not be
amended or otherwise modified in any manner that would adversely affect the rights of the Indemnitees, in and to the extent of their capacities as such and not
as Equityholders, unless such modification is expressly required by Law. In addition, from and after the Closing, Buyer shall, or shall cause the Blockercos,
the Company and the Subsidiaries to, advance any expenses (including fees and expenses of legal counsel) of any Indemnitee under this Section 7.6
(including in connection with enforcing the indemnity and other obligations referred to in this Section 7.6), as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under
applicable Law; provided, that the Person to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it shall be determined that such
Person is not entitled to be indemnified pursuant to this Section 7.6(a) or applicable Law.

(b) Buyer, from and after the Closing, shall, or shall cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries, as applicable, to, cause (i) the
certificate of incorporation and bylaws or comparable organizational documents of the Blockercos to contain provisions no less favorable to the Indemnitees,
in and to the extent of their capacities as such and not as Equityholders, with respect to limitation of certain liabilities of directors, managers, managing
members, officers, employees, attorneys, agents or equityholders and indemnification than are set forth as of the date of this Agreement in the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws or comparable organizational documents of the Blockercos, (ii) the Certificate of Formation and the Operating Agreement to
contain provisions no less favorable to the Indemnitees with respect to limitation of certain liabilities of directors, managers, managing members, officers,
employees, attorneys, agents or equityholders and indemnification than are set forth as of the date of this Agreement in the Certificate of Formation and the
Operating Agreement and (iii) the certificate of incorporation and bylaws or comparable organizational documents of the Subsidiaries to contain the current
provisions regarding indemnification of directors, managers, managing members, officers, employees, attorneys, agents or equityholders, which provisions, in
each case, shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified in a manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of the Indemnitees, in and to
the extent of their capacities as such and not as Equityholders.

(c) Each Indemnitee shall have the right (but not the obligation) to control the defense of, including the investigation of, any litigation, claim or
proceeding (each, a “Claim”) relating to any acts or omissions covered under this Section 7.6 with counsel selected by the Indemnitee; provided, however,
that (i) the Company shall be permitted to participate in (but not control) the defense
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of such Claim at its own expense and (ii) the Company shall not be liable for any settlement effected without its written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.

(d) Subject to applicable Law and to the extent practicable, Buyer shall, and shall cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries to,
cooperate, and cause their respective Affiliates to cooperate, in the defense of any Claim, and shall provide access to properties and individuals as reasonably
requested and furnish or cause to be furnished books, records, information and testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials
or appeals, as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith.

(e) Buyer will, or will cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries to, purchase (at Buyer’s expense) the directors’ and officers’
“tail” or “runoff” insurance program currently available to be purchased under the existing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance plan covering the
Blockercos’, the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ directors, managers and officers, to the extent such plan remains available as of the Closing on materially
the same terms and conditions. To the extent that such plan is no longer available on materially the same terms and conditions at the Closing, Buyer will, or
will cause the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries to, purchase (at Buyer’s expense) a directors’ and officers’ liability “tail” or “runoff” insurance
program, reasonably satisfactory to the Equityholders’ Representative, for a period of six (6) years after the Closing (such coverage shall have an aggregate
coverage limit over the term of such policy in an amount not less than the annual aggregate coverage limit under the Company’s existing directors’ and
officers’ liability policy, and in all other respects comparable to such existing coverage); provided that in no event shall Buyer or the Surviving Companies be
required to pay, with respect to the entire six (6) year period following the Closing, premiums for insurance under this Section 7.6(e) which in the aggregate
exceed 200% of the aggregate premiums paid by the Company, the Subsidiaries and the Blockercos, taken as a whole, for the period from September 30, 2016
to, and including, September 30, 2017, for such purpose.

(f) The provisions of this Section 7.6: (i) are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each Indemnitee, his or her heirs and
his or her representatives; and (ii) are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any such Person may
have by Contract or otherwise.

(g) In the event that Buyer, a Blockerco, the Company or a Subsidiary, or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any
other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of
its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Buyer, such
Blockerco, the Company or such Subsidiary, as applicable, shall assume all of the obligations of Buyer, such Blockerco, the Company or such Subsidiary, as
applicable, set forth in this Section 7.6.

(h) The obligations of Buyer, the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries under this Section 7.6 shall not be terminated or modified in
such a manner as to adversely affect any Indemnitee to whom this Section 7.6 applies without the consent of the affected Indemnitee (it being expressly
agreed by the parties hereto that the Indemnitees shall be third party beneficiaries of this Section 7.6).
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7.7 Publicity. None of the Buyer Parties or the Company shall issue any press release or public announcement concerning this Agreement or the
Transactions without obtaining the prior written approval of the other parties hereto, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed, unless, in the sole judgment of the parties intending to make such release or public announcement, disclosure is otherwise required by applicable
Law or applicable stock exchange rules; provided, that the party intending to make such release or public announcement shall use its commercially reasonable
efforts to consult with the other party with respect to the timing and content thereof to the extent reasonably practicable and permitted by applicable Law;
provided, further, that the Equityholders and their respective Affiliates shall be permitted to report and disclose the status of this Agreement and the
Transactions to their limited partners if required by those governing documents with such limited partners (provided that the recipient of such information is
subject to a customary confidentiality and non-disclosure obligation) and shall be permitted to disclose the consummation of this Transaction on their
websites and otherwise in the Ordinary Course of Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the execution of this Agreement, the parties hereto shall
release a mutually agreed upon joint press release with respect to this Agreement and the Transactions (or, in lieu thereof, separate press releases which have
been approved by each party hereto).

7.8 Conduct of the Buyer Parties.

(a) During the Pre-Closing Period, each of the Buyer Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts not to take, or cause to be taken, any
action which would reasonably be expected to effectuate any change in its ownership that would result in a ten percent (10%) or greater equity or voting
interest in such Buyer Party directly or indirectly being owned by or attributable to a non-U.S. Person pursuant to Section 63.18(h) of the rules of the FCC, 47
C.F.R. § 63.18(h).

(b) During the Pre-Closing Period, other than communications in the Ordinary Course of Business, which communications shall be subject to
Section 7.5, each Buyer Party shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates and representatives not to, contact or communicate with the customers, suppliers or
lessors of the Company or the Subsidiaries in connection with the Transactions, except, in each case, with the prior written consent of the Company (such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(c) At the Closing, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that all undrawn letters of credit issued under the Existing Credit
Agreement shall be (i) cash collateralized by Buyer, (ii) back-stopped by a letter of credit reasonably satisfactory to the applicable issuer of such letter of
credit, (iii) deemed reissued under another agreement reasonably acceptable to the applicable issuer of such letter of credit or (iv) canceled and replaced by
Buyer.

7.9 Employee Matters.

(a) Unless otherwise agreed to in writing between Buyer and a Continuing Employee in respect to such Continuing Employee’s compensation
and benefits, for a period of twelve (12) months following the Closing, Buyer shall provide, or shall cause to be provided, to each Continuing Employee,
(i) annual base salary and base wages and incentive compensation opportunities, in each case, that are no less favorable than the annual base salary and base
wages and cash incentive compensation opportunities (excluding any equity-based compensation and change of control, retention or other one-off awards)
provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Closing and (ii) employee benefits that
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are substantially comparable in the aggregate to the employee benefits (excluding any equity-based compensation and change of control, retention or other
one-off awards) provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Closing. For all purposes (but not benefit accruals under any defined benefit
pension plan) under the employee benefit plans of Buyer or its Affiliates providing benefits to Continuing Employees (the “Buyer Plans”), Buyer shall credit
each Continuing Employee with his or her years of service with the Company, the Subsidiaries and any predecessor entities, to the same extent as such
Continuing Employee was entitled immediately prior to the Closing to credit for such service under any similar Company Benefit Plan; provided, however,
that no such service shall be credited to the extent that it would result in a duplication of benefits with respect to the same period of service. With respect to
any medical, dental or other welfare benefits that are provided under Buyer Plans to Continuing Employees, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts
to cause (A) to be waived any applicable pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work requirements or other similar limitations, eligibility waiting
periods and evidence of insurability requirements to the extent waived or satisfied by a Continuing Employee under any Company Benefit Plan for the plan
year in which the Continuing Employee first participates in a Buyer Plan and (B) any expenses incurred by a Continuing Employee under any Company
Benefit Plan for purposes of satisfying applicable deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket provisions during the plan year in which such
Continuing Employee first participates in a Buyer Plan (collectively, “Insurance Expenses”) to be taken into account for purposes of satisfying such
requirements under such Buyer Plan. The Company and each of the Subsidiaries shall use commercially reasonable efforts to, or cause their applicable vendor
partners to, provide, in a secure, electronic form, Buyer or its applicable vendor partners applicable information regarding the Insurance Expenses. Nothing in
this Section 7.9, express or implied, (x) is intended to or shall confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto, including any Continuing Employee, any
right, benefit, or remedy of any kind whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement, (y) is intended to or shall confer upon any Continuing Employee any
right to continued employment for any period or continued receipt of any specific employee benefit or (z) shall establish, or constitute an amendment,
termination or modification of, or an undertaking to amend, establish, terminate or modify, any Company Benefit Plan or Buyer Plan.

(b) Prior to the Closing Date, the Company and the Subsidiaries shall (i) take all actions necessary to cause each Company Benefit Plan intended
to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and containing a Section 401(k) cash or deferred arrangement to be terminated effective immediately prior to
the Closing and (ii) provide Buyer with executed resolutions or other reasonable documentation evidencing the steps taken to effectuate such terminations.
Effective as of the Closing Date, Buyer shall cause its 401(k) plan to immediately allow all Continuing Employees over the age of twenty-one (21) to
participate with no waiting period. Buyer will use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) provide Continuing Employees with the opportunity to roll over the
portion of their 401(k) plan account balances related to pre-tax deferrals or matching contributions, including any related outstanding loan balances, into its
401(k) plan and (B) assist with the roll over of the remaining portion of such 401(k) account balances, including any related outstanding loan balances, into an
individual retirement account. Buyer will, prior to the Closing Date, take all reasonable actions as are necessary to ensure that its 401(k) plan will accept the
rollovers of account balances and related loans described in clause (A).

7.10 Financing Activities.
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(a) Each Buyer Party acknowledges and agrees that the obligations of the Buyer Parties to consummate the Transactions (including the Mergers)
are not contingent upon obtaining any financing of any kind. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall, and shall cause the Subsidiaries to, use commercially
reasonable efforts to provide, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause any Representative retained by the Company to provide, all cooperation
reasonably requested by Buyer or its Affiliates in connection with the Financing and any offering(s) of debt or equity securities in lieu of the Financing,
including: (i) furnishing Buyer and Financing Sources, as promptly as reasonably practicable, with the Required Information; (ii) using commercially
reasonable efforts to cause its current or former independent accountants to provide assistance and cooperation in the Financing (and any offerings of debt or
equity securities in lieu of the Financing), including (A) providing any necessary written consents to use their audit reports relating to the Company and the
Subsidiaries and to be named as an “Expert” in any document related to the Financing and (B) providing any customary “comfort” letters (including
customary “negative assurance” comfort); (iii) executing and delivering (or using commercially reasonable efforts to obtain) at the Closing customary
certificates and consents in connection with the Financing; (iii) providing the Financing Sources, at least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date (to
the extent requested at least eight (8) Business Days prior to the Closing Date), with all documentation and other information required by regulatory
authorities and as reasonably requested by Buyer with respect to the Company and the Subsidiaries in connection with applicable “know your customer” and
anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the USA PATRIOT ACT, Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001); and
(iv) consenting to the use of the Company’s and the Subsidiaries’ trademarks, service marks or logos in connection with the Financing prior to the Closing;
provided that (A) such requested cooperation shall not unreasonably interfere with the business or the ongoing operations of the Company and/or the
Company’s Subsidiaries; (B) the Company and the Subsidiaries shall not be required to pay any expenses or commitment or other similar fee in connection
with the Financing (or any offerings of debt or equity securities in lieu of the Financing); (C) none of the Company, its Subsidiaries or their respective
officers, directors or employees shall be required to execute or enter into, perform or authorize any agreement with respect to the financing contemplated by
the Debt Commitment Letter (or any offerings of debt or equity securities in lieu of such financing) that is not contingent upon the Closing or that would be
effective prior to the Closing Date , (D) nothing in this Section 7.10(a) shall require cooperation to the extent that it would (1) cause any condition to the
Closing set forth in Sections 8.1 or 8.2 to not be satisfied or otherwise cause any breach of this Agreement or (2) reasonably be expected to conflict with or
violate the Company’s organizational documents or any Law, or result in the contravention of, or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any
Material Contract and (E) nothing shall obligate the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to provide, or cause to be provided, any legal opinion by their
counsel. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that none of the Company, the Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates, managers, directors, officers,
employees, representatives and advisors (including legal, financial and accounting advisors) shall incur any liability to any Person under or in connection with
the Financing or any offering(s) of debt or equity securities in lieu of the Financing prior to the Closing. Except in the case of losses arising or resulting from
Fraud, intentional or willful misrepresentation, gross negligence or willful misconduct, in each case as determined by a final, non-appealable judgment by a
court of competent jurisdiction, Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company, the Subsidiaries and their respective Affiliates, managers, directors,
officers, employees and Representatives from and against any and all losses suffered or incurred by them in connection with their cooperation hereunder and
compliance with Section 7.13 and the arrangement of the Financing (and any offering(s) of debt or equity securities in lieu of the
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Financing) and any information utilized in connection therewith (other than information provided by or on behalf of the Company for use in connection
therewith). Buyer shall, upon the request of the Company, promptly reimburse the Company for all documented out-of-pocket costs or expenses reasonably
incurred by the Company, the Subsidiaries and their Affiliates in connection with cooperation provided for in this Section 7.10(a) and compliance with
Section 7.13 (but only for third party costs and expenses that otherwise would not have been incurred but for the requirements of Section 7.13 or cooperation
with the Financing or any offering(s) of debt or equity securities in lieu of the Financing).

(b) Buyer shall (i) use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things
necessary, proper or advisable to arrange, obtain and consummate the Financing on the terms and conditions described in the Debt Commitment Letter
(including, to the extent required in accordance with the terms thereof, the exercise of so-called “flex” provisions in the Fee Letter) or any offering(s) of debt
or equity securities in lieu of the Financing, including using commercially reasonable efforts to (A) satisfy on a timely basis all conditions precedent to
funding applicable to Buyer in the Debt Commitment Letter and the Financing Agreements to be entered into pursuant thereto and, upon the satisfaction or
waiver of all of the conditions set forth in Sections 8.1 and 8.2, such Debt Commitment Letter and such Financing Agreements, to consummate the Financing
no later than the Closing in accordance with Section 2.2, and (B) maintain in full force and effect the Debt Commitment Letter until the funding of the
Financing or any offering(s) of debt or equity securities in lieu of the Financing and unless the Buyer shall have consummated an offering of debt or equity
securities in lieu of the Financing, to negotiate, execute and deliver definitive agreements prior to the Closing with respect to such Financing consistent with
the terms and conditions contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letter (subject to any applicable “flex” provisions of the Fee Letter) or, if applicable, on
terms that are no less favorable to Buyer than the terms contained in the Debt Commitment Letter (taking into account any “flex” provisions applicable
thereto) (the “Financing Agreements”), (ii) upon the satisfaction of all conditions precedent to funding in the Debt Commitment Letter and the Financing
Agreements, enforce the obligations of the Financing Sources to fund the Financing, and (iii) comply in all material respects with its obligations under the
Debt Commitment Letter and the Financing Agreements, to the extent within its control. Upon the reasonable request of the Company, Buyer shall reasonably
promptly update the Company in reasonable detail of any material developments concerning the status of the Financing. In the event any portion of the
Financing becomes unavailable on the terms and conditions contemplated in the Debt Commitment Letter (subject to any applicable “flex” provisions of the
Fee Letter), (A) Buyer shall notify the Company, and (B) Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do,
or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to arrange to obtain alternative financing from alternative sources (the “Alternative Financing”),
upon terms and conditions not materially less favorable to Buyer than the terms and conditions set forth in the Debt Commitment Letter, in an aggregate
amount, together with cash-on-hand and available capacity under Buyer’s revolving credit facility, that would be sufficient to make the payments set forth in
Section 3.9(a) and Section 3.10(c)(i). In the event any Alternative Financing is obtained in accordance with this Section 7.10(b), references in this Agreement
to the Financing shall be deemed to refer to such Alternative Financing to the extent the Financing has been replaced thereby, if one or more commitment
letters are entered into in connection with such Alternative Financing (such commitment letters, the “Alternative Debt Commitment Letter”), references in
this Agreement to the Debt Commitment Letter shall be deemed to refer to the Alternative Debt Commitment Letter to the extent the Debt Commitment
Letter has been replaced thereby, and all obligations of Buyer and the Company pursuant to this Section 7.10 shall be applicable thereto to the
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same extent as the obligations of Buyer and the Company with respect to the Financing replaced thereby. Buyer shall have the right from time to time to
amend, supplement or otherwise modify, or waive any of its rights under, the Debt Commitment Letter for all or any portion of the Financing from the same
or alternative financing sources; provided that Buyer shall not permit or consent to (1) any amendment, supplement or modification to, or any waiver of any
provision under, the Debt Commitment Letter if such amendment, supplement, modification or waiver (w) imposes new or additional conditions, or otherwise
expands any of the conditions, to the initial funding of the Financing at Closing from those set forth therein on the date hereof, (x) would reasonably be
expected to materially and adversely impact the ability of Buyer to enforce its rights against the other parties to the Debt Commitment Letter, (y) would
reasonably be expected to materially impair, materially delay or prevent the availability of all or a portion of the Financing or the consummation of the
Transactions, or (z) would reduce the aggregate cash amount of the Financing to an amount, together with cash-on-hand and available capacity under Buyer’s
revolving credit facility, that is not sufficient to make the payments set forth in Section 3.9(a) and Section 3.10(c)(i), or (2) early termination of the Debt
Commitment Letter (other than in connection with an Alternative Financing or any offering(s) of debt or equity securities in lieu of the Financing). Buyer
shall furnish to the Company a copy of any amendment, modification or waiver of the Debt Commitment Letter following execution thereof, in each case, to
the extent entered into prior to the Closing. Buyer shall promptly notify the Company in writing (I) of any material breach or default (or any event or
circumstance that, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, could reasonably be expected to give rise to any material breach or default) by any party to
the Debt Commitment Letter or Financing Agreement of which Buyer obtains knowledge, (II) of the receipt by Buyer or any of its Affiliates or
Representatives of any written notice or other written communication from any Financing Source with respect to any actual, threatened or alleged material
breach, default, termination or repudiation by any party to the Debt Commitment Letter or any Financing Agreement or any provision of the Financing
contemplated pursuant to the Debt Commitment Letter or Financing Agreement (including any proposal by any Financing Source to withdraw, terminate or
make a material change in the terms of (including the amount of Financing contemplated by) the Debt Commitment Letter), (III) if for any reason Buyer
believes in good faith that it will not be able to obtain all or any portion of the Financing on the terms, in the manner or from the sources contemplated by the
Debt Commitment Letter or the Financing Agreements and (IV) of the termination or expiration prior to Closing of the Debt Commitment Letter or Financing
Agreement. As soon as reasonably practicable, Buyer shall provide any material information reasonably requested by the Company relating to any of the
circumstances referred to in this Section 7.10(b).

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 7.10 or otherwise in this Agreement, following the consummation of any offering or
offerings of equity or debt securities in lieu of the Financing, Buyer shall have the right in its sole discretion to cancel or terminate any and all of the
commitments under the Debt Commitment Letter, so long as after giving effect to such cancellation or termination, Buyer shall maintain available cash-on-
hand, committed financing (including under any portion of the Debt Commitment Letter) and available capacity under its revolving credit facility sufficient in
the aggregate to enable Buyer to consummate the Transactions on the Closing Date, including to pay the payments set forth in Section 3.9(a) and
Section 3.10(c)(i).

7.11 Tax Matters.

(a) Transfer Taxes. All sales, use, transfer, intangible, recordation, documentary, stamp or similar Taxes or charges applicable to, or resulting
from, the Transactions (“Transfer Taxes”)
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shall be borne by Buyer. The Blockercos and the Company (or the Buyer, as applicable) shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, and file all Tax Returns related
to Transfer Taxes arising from the Transactions, and shall, prior to filing, provide the Equityholders’ Representative (on behalf of the Equityholders) with
copies of such Tax Returns for its review and approval (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(b) Preparation of Tax Returns. The Equityholders’ Representative shall prepare, duly and timely file (or cause to be prepared and filed) (A) all
Pass-Through Tax Returns for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date and (B) all income Tax Returns of each of the
Blockercos and each Subsidiary that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes that are required to be filed after the Closing Date for any
taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, ((A) and (B) collectively, “Seller Returns”). Except as otherwise required by applicable Law, all Seller
Returns shall be prepared on a basis consistent with past practice. Not later than thirty (30) days prior to the due date for filing of a Seller Return, the
Equityholders’ Representative shall provide Buyer with a draft of such Seller Return for review and comment. The Equityholders’ Representative shall
consider any comments provided by Buyer in good faith. Buyer shall prepare and file all Tax Returns of the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries
other than Seller Returns. “Pass-Through Tax Return” means any income Tax Return filed by or with respect to the Company or any of the Subsidiaries to the
extent that (a) the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is treated as a pass-through entity for purposes of such Tax Return and (b) the results of operations
reflected on such Tax Return are also reflected on the Tax Returns of the Equityholders or the direct or indirect owners of any Equityholder, including
information returns relating to income Taxes (including IRS Form 1065 and any Schedules K-1).

(c) Straddle Periods. With respect to any Straddle Period, the amount of any Taxes (or refunds of Taxes) not based upon or measured by income,
activities, events, the level of any item, gain, receipts, proceeds, profits or similar items for the taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date will be
deemed to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire Tax period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Tax period
ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of days in such Straddle Period. The amount of any other Taxes (or Tax refunds) for a
Straddle Period that relate to the taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date will be determined based on an interim closing of the books as of the
close of business on the Closing Date (and for such purpose, the taxable period of any partnership or other pass-through entity in which the Company or any
of the Subsidiaries holds an interest will be deemed to terminate at such time); provided, however, that any item determined on an annual or periodic basis
(such as deductions for depreciation or real estate Taxes) shall be apportioned on a daily basis.

(d) Tax Audits. If any of Buyer (or any of its Affiliates), a Blockerco, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries receives notice of any review, audit
or examination by a Taxing Authority or any judicial or administrative proceeding relating to Taxes in respect of any Pass-Through Tax Return for a taxable
period ending on or before the Closing Date (a “Pre-Closing Tax Audit”), then such party will promptly (and in any event within fifteen (15) days) give
written notice to the Equityholders’ Representative. The Equityholders’ Representative will have the right to control the defense of the Pre-Closing Tax Audit
at the Equityholders’ Representative’s expense, subject to Section 10.3(e). Buyer shall be entitled to participate in the defense of any Pre-Closing Tax Audit.
The Equityholders’ Representative shall not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any compromise or settlement
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with respect to a Pre-Closing Tax Audit without the prior written consent of Buyer, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(e) Amendments. Unless consented to in writing by the Equityholders’ Representative, Buyer shall not (i) file any Pass-Through Tax Return for
any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date, (ii) initiate or enter into any voluntary disclosure agreement or program with any
Taxing Authority with respect to a Pass-Through Tax Return or otherwise with respect to the Company or any Subsidiary (other than Yankee Metro Parent,
Inc. and any of its subsidiaries) for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date or (iii) make or change any Tax election of
the Company or any Subsidiary (other than Yankee Metro Parent, Inc. and any of its subsidiaries) that has retroactive effect to a taxable period beginning on
or before the Closing Date.

(f) Certain Other Tax Matters.

(i) Neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates (including the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries) shall take any action outside the
Ordinary Course of Business and not contemplated by this Agreement on the Closing Date after the Closing. The Equityholders shall not be liable for
any Taxes (and shall be entitled to an amount equal to any reduction in any amount of consideration payable pursuant to this Agreement) attributable to
actions not in the Ordinary Course of Business and not contemplated by this Agreement taken by Buyer or any of its Affiliates (including the
Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries) on the Closing Date after the Closing.

(ii) Neither Buyer nor any of its Affiliates shall make or permit to be made any election under Section 338 of the Code or under Section 336 of
the Code or any similar provision of state or local Law with respect to the Transactions.

(iii) With respect to the preparation of Tax Returns, the parties agree that, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, all Tax deductions (including
any Tax deductions relating to the Transaction Tax Expenses) that any Blockerco, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is entitled pursuant to
applicable Law to take on or before the Closing Date shall be included as deductions on the Tax Returns of such entity for the taxable period that ends
on the Closing Date. The parties agree that seventy percent (70%) of success-based fees shall be treated as deductible in accordance with Revenue
Procedure 2011-29.

(g) Tax Year-End. The parties agree that as a result of the consummation of the Transactions, Buyer shall cause the taxable year end of each of
the Blockercos, the Company and each of the Subsidiaries to terminate for U.S. federal (and applicable state and local) income Tax purposes as of the end of
the day on the Closing Date.

(h) Earnings and Profits. The Equityholders’ Representative shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause an accounting firm designated by
the Equityholders’ Representative and reasonably satisfactory to Buyer (the “Reporting Firm”) to prepare a report (including reasonably detailed supporting
documentation) setting forth the Reporting Firm’s calculation of the earnings and profits, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as of the Closing Date of
Yankee Metro Parent, Inc. and its subsidiaries and each of the Blockercos (the “E&P Report”). The Equityholders’ Representative shall
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use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Reporting Firm to provide Buyer a copy of the E&P Report (including all supporting documentation) no
later than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date. Buyer shall be responsible for the fees and expenses of the Reporting Firm with respect to the
E&P Report. The Equityholders’ Representative and Buyer agree to regularly consult with each other and the Reporting Firm with respect to the
methodologies, assumptions, estimates and conclusions used in the preparation of, or to be reflect in, the E&P Report.

(i) Pre-Closing Tax Indemnity. Buyer and each of its Affiliates shall be indemnified from and against any and all liability for Taxes of (or payable
by) any Blockerco, the Company or any of the Subsidiaries attributable to any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date, except
to the extent of the amount of Taxes taken into account in the calculation of Net Working Capital, as finally determined. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in this Agreement or otherwise, none of the Equityholders, their respective Affiliates or any of their respective current or former officers,
managers, directors, equityholders, employees, limited or general partners, members, advisors, successors, permitted assigns, estates, heirs, executors or
administrators shall be required to indemnify Buyer or any of its Affiliates pursuant to this Section 7.11(i).

7.12 Notices and Consents. Reasonably promptly following the execution of this Agreement, the Company will give applicable notices to third
parties and thereafter will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain at the earliest practicable date any third-party consents required in connection with
the consummation of the Transactions, in each case, if reasonably requested by Buyer and in form and substance reasonably acceptable to each of Buyer and
the Company; provided that, except as expressly set forth in Section 7.3 with respect to consents of, and filings with, Governmental Bodies, nothing in this
Agreement shall require the Company, any Blockerco or any of the Subsidiaries to grant any accommodation (financial or otherwise) to any third party in
connection with obtaining any third party consent unless such accommodation is conditioned upon and effective only following the occurrence of the Closing.

7.13 Delivery of Financial Statements. During the Pre-Closing Period, as promptly as reasonably practicable, and, in any event, (a) within forty-
five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, the Company shall deliver to Buyer the unaudited consolidated statement of financial position of the
Company and the Subsidiaries and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations and cash flows of the Company and the Subsidiaries (including
footnotes) in form in compliance with Regulation S-X and otherwise consistent with the Financial Statements (other than the inclusion of such required
footnotes), (b) within forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, the aggregate amount of Capital Expenditures made and paid for by the
Company and the Subsidiaries, (c) within forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, the aggregate amount of NRR received by the Company and
the Subsidiaries and (d) within fifteen (15) Business Days after the end of each calendar month, the Company shall deliver to Buyer, (i) the aggregate amount
of Capital Expenditures made and paid for by the Company and the Subsidiaries during such month and (ii) the aggregate amount of NRR received by the
Company and the Subsidiaries during such month. To the extent such fiscal year has ended at least ninety (90) days prior to the Closing Date, the Company
shall deliver to Buyer the audited consolidated statement of financial position of the Company and the Subsidiaries and the related audited consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity and cash flows of the Company and the Subsidiaries as at and for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2017, together with audit reports of the Company’s independent auditor.
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7.14 Exclusivity. During the Pre-Closing Period, the Company and the Blockercos shall not (and shall cause their respective Representatives not
to), directly or indirectly, (a) solicit, initiate, encourage or accept any other inquiries, proposals or offers from any Person relating to an Alternative
Acquisition Proposal, (b) participate in any discussions, conversations, negotiations or other communications with any Person regarding, or furnish to any
Person other than Buyer any information with respect to, or otherwise cooperate in any way, assist or participate in, facilitate or encourage any effort or
attempt by any Person to seek to enter into an Alternative Acquisition Proposal or (c) enter into any agreement or arrangement with any Person for or with
respect to any Alternative Acquisition Proposal.

7.15 Termination of Affiliate Contracts. Except for those Affiliate Contracts set forth on Section 7.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, at or
prior to Closing, the Company shall cause any Affiliate Contract to be terminated or otherwise amended or modified to exclude the Company and the
Subsidiaries as parties thereto. The Company shall bear all costs and expenses incurred in connection with such termination, amendment or modification
described in this Section 7.15 and, for the avoidance of doubt, all such costs and expenses shall be deemed Transaction Expenses.

7.16 R&W Insurance Policy. On the Closing Date, Buyer may, at its sole discretion, obtain a “buyer’s” representations and warranties insurance
policy (the “R&W Insurance Policy”). The R&W Insurance Policy shall provide that the insurer may not seek to or enforce any subrogation rights it might
have against the Equityholders, or any of them, as a result of any alleged breach of any representation or warranty (except in the case of breaches involving
Fraud). Buyer shall pay the total premium for the R&W Insurance Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer and the Merger Subs acknowledge and agree that
the obtaining of a R&W Insurance Policy is not a condition to the Closing and Buyer and the Merger Subs shall remain obligated, subject only to the
satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VIII, to consummate the Mergers and the Transactions even if the R&W Insurance is not obtained
at or prior to the Closing.

7.17 Section 280G Matters. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an approval that complies
with the requirements of Section 280G(b)(5) of the Code and Treasury Regulations § 1.280G-1 with respect to payments and benefits that may be made or
provided to any Person who, with respect to the Company, is a “disqualified individual” (as such term is defined for purposes of Section 280G of the Code)
and that, absent such approval, would reasonably be expected to constitute “excess parachute payments,” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(1) of the
Code (such vote, the “Requisite Section 280G Approval”). All materials and information that are prepared by the Company and used in connection with any
effort to obtain the Requisite Section 280G Approval shall be provided to Buyer at least three (3) Business Days in advance of distribution for its reasonable
review and comment which the Company will consider in good faith. The parties acknowledge that this Section 7.17 shall not apply to any arrangements
entered into at the discretion of Buyer or between Buyer and its Affiliates, on one hand, and a disqualified individual, on the other hand prior to or at the
Closing with respect to the period on or following the Closing (“Buyer Arrangements”), unless such Buyer Arrangements have been disclosed to the
Company at least ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date, so that, for the avoidance of doubt, compliance with this Section 7.17 as it relates to the
quantification of “excess parachute payments” shall be determined as if such Buyer Arrangements that are not so disclosed had not been entered into.
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7.18 Redemption of Notes. The Company shall prior to the anticipated Closing Date, cause to be sent a notice of redemption to each holder of the
2022 Notes in accordance with Section 2.05(a) of the 2022 Note Purchase Agreement and to each holder of the 2025 Notes in accordance with
Section 2.05(a) of the 2025 Note Purchase Agreement in connection with the optional redemption of all of the then outstanding 2022 Notes and 2025 Notes,
respectively, as of a date to be specified by Buyer in writing (which date shall be the Closing Date) (such date, the “Redemption Date”) no later than ten
(10) days prior to the anticipated Closing Date, which notice shall state that the Closing is a condition precedent to the redemption of such 2022 Notes and
such 2025 Notes.

7.19 Blockerco Recapitalizations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement or elsewhere, during the Pre-Closing
Period, (a) any or all of the Blockercos may effect one or more recapitalizations, and the Blockerco Equityholders may transfer all or a portion of their
Blockerco Equity Interests to one or more other Affiliates or otherwise as permitted under the organizational documents of the applicable Blockerco, and
(b) the organizational documents of the Blockercos may be amended for purposes of reflecting any such transfers; provided that any such recapitalization,
transfer or amendment does not have or would not reasonably be expected to have any adverse Tax or other adverse consequences to Buyer or any of its
Affiliates.

ARTICLE VIII

CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

8.1 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Buyer Parties, the Blockercos and the Company. The respective obligations of the Buyer Parties,
the Blockercos and the Company to consummate the Transactions are subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following
conditions:

(a) There shall not be in effect any Order by a Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the
consummation of the Transactions (a “Legal Restraint”), and no Governmental Body shall have instituted any Legal Proceeding (which remains pending at
what would otherwise be the Closing Date) before any Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction seeking to restrain, enjoin or otherwise prohibit
consummation of the Transactions.

(b) The waiting period applicable to the Transactions under the HSR Act shall have expired or otherwise been terminated.

8.2 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Buyer Parties. The obligation of the Buyer Parties to consummate the Transactions is subject to
the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any or all of which may be waived by the applicable Buyer Party in whole
or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) (i) The Company and Blockerco Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any
“material”, “materially”, “materiality”, “Material Adverse Effect”, “material adverse change” or similar qualifiers contained in any of such representations
and warranties) and (ii) all other representations and warranties set forth in Article IV and Article V shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any
“material”, “materially”,
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“materiality”, “Material Adverse Effect”, “material adverse change” or similar qualifiers contained in any of such representations and warranties), except for
such failures to be true and correct that do not have and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect,
in the case of each of the preceding clauses (i) and (ii), as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date
(except to the extent that any such representation or warranty, by its terms, is expressly limited to a specific date, in which case, as of such specific date), and
Buyer shall have received from each of the Blockercos and the Company a duly executed certificate in the form attached as Exhibit E hereto, dated the
Closing Date, to the foregoing effect.

(b) The Blockercos and the Company shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations and agreements required by
this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them on or prior to the Closing Date, and Buyer shall have received from each of the Blockercos and the
Company a duly executed certificate in the form attached as Exhibit E hereto, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect; provided, that, for purposes of
determining whether the condition set forth in this Section 8.2(b) has been satisfied, the obligations set forth in Section 7.10 (Financing Activities) shall be
considered not to have been so performed and complied with in all material respects only if the Company is in breach of such obligations and such breach is a
proximate cause of Buyer’s failure to obtain the Financing (or the Alternative Financing).

(c) The Telecom Regulatory Consents set forth on Schedule 8.2(c) hereto shall have been obtained.

If the Closing occurs, all closing conditions set forth in this Section 8.2 which have not been fully satisfied as of the Closing shall be deemed to
have been fully waived.

8.3 Conditions Precedent to Obligations of the Blockercos and the Company. The obligations of the Blockercos and the Company to consummate
the Transactions are subject to the fulfillment, at or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any or all of which may be waived by the
Company in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) (i) The Buyer Fundamental Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects (without giving effect to any “material”,
“materially”, “materiality”, “material adverse change” or similar qualifiers contained in any of such representations and warranties) and (ii) all other
representations and warranties set forth in Article VI shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any “material”, “materially”, “materiality”, “material
adverse effect”, “material adverse change” or similar qualifiers contained in any of such representations and warranties), except for such failures to be true
and correct that do not have and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the business or
operations of the Buyer Parties or prohibit or restrain the ability of any of the Buyer Parties to consummate the Transactions, in the case of each of the
preceding clauses (i) and (ii), as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as if made on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent that
any such representation or warranty, by its terms, is expressly limited to a specific date, in which case, as of such specific date), and the Company shall have
received from the Buyer Parties a duly executed certificate in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect.
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(b) Each of the Buyer Parties shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations and agreements required by this
Agreement to be performed or complied with by such Buyer Party on or prior to the Closing Date, and the Company shall have received from the Buyer
Parties a duly executed certificate in the form attached as Exhibit F hereto, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect.

If the Closing occurs, all closing conditions set forth in this Section 8.3 which have not been fully satisfied as of the Closing shall be deemed to
have been fully waived.

8.4 Frustration of Closing Conditions. None of the Buyer Parties, the Blockercos or the Company may rely, either as a basis for not
consummating the Transactions or for terminating this Agreement and abandoning the Transactions, on the failure of any condition set forth in Section 8.1,
Section 8.2, or Section 8.3, as the case may be, to be satisfied if such failure was caused by any breach of a covenant, agreement, representation, or warranty
of this Agreement by such party.

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION

9.1 Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Closing as follows:

(a) At the election of the Company or Buyer on or after March 31, 2018 (the “Termination Date”) if the Closing shall not have occurred by the
close of business on such date; provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.1(a) shall not be available to a party if the failure
of the Closing to occur on or before the Termination Date was primarily due to the breach of such party’s obligations hereunder; provided, further, that the
Termination Date may be extended on or prior to such date by written notice (x) to Buyer from the Company or (y) to the Company from Buyer, in each case,
for ninety (90) days following the original Termination Date if all conditions to the Closing (other than the conditions set forth in Section 8.1(b) and
Section 8.2(c)) are satisfied or capable of then being satisfied, and such later date shall thereafter be the “Termination Date”;

(b) by mutual written consent of the Company and Buyer;

(c) by either the Company or Buyer if there shall have been a breach by a Buyer Party, on the one hand, or any of the Blockercos or the
Company, on the other hand, of any of their respective representations, warranties, covenants or obligations contained in this Agreement, which breach would
result in the failure to satisfy one or more of the conditions set forth in Section 8.2 (in the case of a breach by any of the Blockercos or the Company), or
Section 8.3 (in the case of a breach by a Buyer Party), and in any such case such breach shall be incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured, shall
not have been cured prior to the earlier of (i) thirty (30) days after providing written notice of such breach to the other party or parties and (ii) the Termination
Date; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.1(c) shall not be available to a party if such party is in breach of
any of its covenants or agreements under this Agreement so as to prevent any of the conditions set forth in Section 8.2 (in the case of a breach by any of the
Blockercos or the Company), or Section 8.3 (in the case of a breach by a Buyer Party), from being satisfied; or
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(d) by either the Company or Buyer if the condition set forth in Section 8.1(a) is not satisfied and the Legal Restraint giving rise to such non-
satisfaction has become final and non-appealable or is in effect as of the applicable Termination Date; provided, however, that the right to terminate this
Agreement under this Section 9.1(d) shall not be available to a party if such Legal Restraint was primarily due to the failure of such party to perform any of
its obligations under this Agreement.

9.2 Procedure upon Termination. In the event of termination by Buyer or the Company, or both, pursuant to Section 9.1, written notice thereof
shall forthwith be given to the other party or parties, which written notice shall specify the provision or provisions hereof pursuant to which such termination
is being effected, and this Agreement shall terminate (subject to the provisions of Section 9.3(a)), and the Transactions shall be abandoned, without further
action by Buyer or the Company.

9.3 Effect of Termination.

(a) In the event that this Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with Section 9.1 and Section 9.2, this Agreement shall immediately
become null and void and the parties hereto shall be relieved of their duties and obligations arising under or relating to this Agreement and such termination
shall be without liability to the Buyer Parties, the Equityholders’ Representative, the Blockercos or the Company or any other Person (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, any other Company Related Parties or Buyer Related Parties); provided, that (i) no such termination shall relieve any party hereto from
liability for such party’s Willful Breach of any of its covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement prior to termination and (ii) the provisions of
Section 7.5 (Confidentiality), Section 7.7 (Publicity), this Section 9.3 (Effect of Termination) and Article X (Miscellaneous) shall survive any such
termination and shall remain in full force and effect.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that this Agreement is validly terminated by either the Company or Buyer (i) pursuant to
Section 9.1(d), but only if the applicable Legal Restraint constitutes a Regulatory Restraint, or (ii) pursuant to Section 9.1(a) and, in the case of this clause (ii),
at the time of such termination, all of the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 have been satisfied (other than (A) Section 8.1(a) (but only if the
applicable Legal Restraint constitutes a Regulatory Restraint), Section 8.1(b) or Section 8.2(c) and (B) conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the
Closing, but that are capable of being satisfied if the Closing were to occur on the date of such termination), then Buyer shall pay to the Company or its
designee(s), by wire transfer of immediately available funds, a fee in the aggregate amount of $100,000,000 (the “Buyer Termination Fee”), such payment to
be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds within two (2) Business Days following the date of such termination; provided, however, that no
Buyer Termination Fee shall be payable pursuant to this Section 9.3(b) in the event that the failure of the conditions set forth in Section 8.1(a) (but only if the
applicable Legal Restraint constitutes a Regulatory Restraint), Section 8.1(b) or Section 8.2(c) to be satisfied is primarily caused by the Company’s breach of
Section 7.3 (other than any immaterial breach).

(c) The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that (i) the fees and other provisions of this Section 9.3 are an integral part of the Transactions,
(ii) the Buyer Termination Fee, if and when payable, shall constitute liquidated damages and not a penalty and (iii) without these agreements, the parties
hereto would not enter into this Agreement.
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(d) If Buyer fails to pay the Buyer Termination Fee when due, (i) the Buyer Termination Fee shall accrue interest for the period commencing on
the date the Buyer Termination Fee becomes past due through the date such fee is actually paid, at a rate equal to the Interest Rate, and (ii) Buyer shall also
pay to the Company or its designee(s) all of the costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by the Company and its Affiliates in connection with
all efforts to collect the Buyer Termination Fee.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, but subject to Section 10.14, each of the parties hereto expressly
acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s right to receive payment of the Buyer Termination Fee pursuant to Section 9.3(b) shall, in a circumstance in
which the Company or Buyer has terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1(a) or Section 9.1(d) and the Company or its designee(s) has or have been
paid the Buyer Termination Fee pursuant to Section 9.3(b) and none of the Buyer Parties has Willfully Breached any of its obligations under this Agreement,
shall constitute the sole and exclusive remedy of the Company and its Affiliates and any of their respective former, current or future general or limited
partners, equityholders, members, managers, directors, officers, employees, agents or Affiliates (collectively, the “Company Related Parties”) against Buyer
and its Affiliates, the Financing Source Parties and any of their respective former, current or future general or limited partners, equityholders, members,
managers, directors, officers, employees, agents or Affiliates (collectively, the “Buyer Related Parties”) for all damages relating to or arising out of this
Agreement or the Transactions (except that Buyer shall continue to be obligated to the Company or its designee(s) for amounts payable under Section 9.3(d)),
and upon such payment of the Buyer Termination Fee to the Company or its designee(s) pursuant to Section 9.3(b), none of the Buyer Related Parties shall
have any further liability or obligation to any of the Company Related Parties relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the Transactions (except that
Buyer shall continue to be obligated to the Company or its designee(s) for amounts payable under Section 9.3(d)).

ARTICLE X

MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Survival. None of the representations and warranties of any party contained in this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents
(including any certificate to be delivered under Article VIII) shall survive the Closing. None of the covenants of any party required to be performed by such
party before the Closing shall survive the Closing. Unless otherwise stated herein, the covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement which by their
terms are required to be performed after the Closing shall survive the Closing in accordance with their terms. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of
this Article X (Miscellaneous) shall survive the Closing.

10.2 No Other Representations or Warranties; Investigation.

(a) NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT OR OTHERWISE, (i) THE
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY SET FORTH BY THE COMPANY IN ARTICLE IV, BY THE BLOCKERCOS IN ARTICLE V
AND BY THE COMPANY AND THE BLOCKERCOS IN THE CERTIFICATES TO BE DELIVERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 3.9(b)(i), ARE AND
SHALL CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES TO THE BUYER PARTIES IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS, THE BLOCKERCOS, THE
 

- 90 -



COMPANY OR THE SUBSIDIARIES, (ii) THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY SET FORTH BY THE BUYER PARTIES IN
ARTICLE VI ARE AND SHALL CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES TO THE BLOCKERCOS,
THE COMPANIES OR THE SUBSIDIARIES IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS OR ANY OF THE BUYER
PARTIES AND (iii) EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REFERRED TO IN THE PRECEDING CLAUSES (i) AND (ii),
NONE OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OTHER PERSON HAS MADE OR IS MAKING ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, OF ANY NATURE, WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS, THE
BLOCKERCOS, THE COMPANY OR THE SUBSIDIARIES, INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR
WARRANTY AS TO THE MERCHANTABILITY, QUALITY, QUANTITY, SUITABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE
BUSINESS OR THE ASSETS OF THE BLOCKERCOS, THE COMPANY, THE SUBSIDIARIES OR THE BUYER PARTIES, AND ANY SUCH OTHER
PURPORTED REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ARE EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE
CONTRARY CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT OR OTHERWISE, EACH OF THE BUYER PARTIES REPRESENTS, WARRANTS, COVENANTS
AND AGREES, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND EACH OF THE OTHER BUYER RELATED PARTIES, THAT IN DETERMINING TO ENTER INTO
THIS AGREEMENT AND CONSUMMATE THE TRANSACTIONS, OTHER THAN THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES EXPRESSLY
SET FORTH BY THE COMPANY IN ARTICLE IV, BY THE BLOCKERCOS IN ARTICLE V AND BY THE COMPANY AND THE BLOCKERCOS IN
THE CERTIFICATES TO BE DELIVERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 3.9(b)(i), IT HAS NOT RELIED AND IS NOT RELYING UPON ANY
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, MADE OR PURPORTEDLY MADE BY OR ON BEHALF OF ANY
PERSON (INCLUDING ANY PURPORTED REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES DESCRIBED AS DISCLAIMED IN CLAUSE (iii) OF THE
FIRST SENTENCE OF THIS PARAGRAPH), OR UPON THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY DOCUMENTS OR INFORMATION
PROVIDED TO ANY OF THE BUYER RELATED PARTIES BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE BLOCKERCOS, THE COMPANY, THE SUBSIDIARIES
OR ANY OTHER PERSON.

(b) Without limiting the generality of the immediately preceding paragraph, it is understood and agreed by each of the Buyer Parties, on behalf of
itself and the other Buyer Related Parties, that any cost estimate, projection, forecast or other prediction, any data or information of any kind (including any
financial data or information) or any memoranda or offering materials or presentations, including any memoranda and materials provided by or on behalf of
the Company, its Affiliates or its or their representatives, or any other Person, are not and shall not be deemed to be or to include representations or warranties
(express or implied) of any Person, and have not been and are not being relied upon in determining to enter into this Agreement and consummate the
Transactions, except if and to the extent set forth in an express representation and warranty of the Company in Article IV, of the Blockercos in Article V, or
of the Company and the Blockercos in the certificates to be delivered pursuant to Section 3.9(b)(i).

(c) Each of the Buyer Parties acknowledges, covenants and agrees, on behalf of itself and each of the other Buyer Related Parties, (i) that it has
completed to its satisfaction its own due diligence investigation, and based thereon, formed its own independent judgment with respect to the Blockercos, the
Company and the Subsidiaries, (ii) that it has been furnished with or given full access to
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such documents and information about the Blockercos, the Company, the Subsidiaries and their respective businesses and operations as it and its
representatives have deemed necessary to enable it to make an informed decision with respect to the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement
and the Transactions, (iii) that, in entering into this Agreement, it has relied solely upon its own investigation and analysis and the representations and
warranties expressly set forth by the Company in Article IV, by the Blockercos in Article V, and by the Company and the Blockercos in the certificates to be
delivered pursuant to Section 3.9(b)(i), and (iv) that there are uncertainties inherent in attempting to make estimates, projections, forecasts, plans, budgets and
similar materials and information, such Buyer Party is familiar with such uncertainties, such Buyer Party is taking full responsibility for making its own
evaluation of the adequacy and accuracy of any and all estimates, projections, forecasts, plans, budgets and other materials or other information that may have
been delivered or made available to it or any of its representatives, such Buyer Party has not relied and shall not rely on such information (or the accuracy or
completeness thereof), and such Buyer Party shall not assert, and shall cause its Affiliates not to assert, any claims against the Blockercos, the Company or
any other Person with respect thereto. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agreement, including this Section 10.2, shall limit any claim by a party
hereto for Fraud by another party hereto.

10.3 Equityholders’ Representative.

(a) By virtue of the Designated Approvals, and without further action on the part of parties hereto or the Equityholders, the Equityholders’
Representative is hereby appointed the attorney-in-fact and agent of each Equityholder, with full power of substitution to act in the name, place and stead of
such Equityholder in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, and to do or refrain from doing all such further acts
and things, and to execute all such documents, as the Equityholders’ Representative shall deem necessary or appropriate in conjunction with the Transactions,
including the power:

(i) to negotiate, execute and deliver (A) the other Transaction Documents and (B) all ancillary agreements, certificates, statements, notices,
approvals, extensions, waivers, undertakings, amendments and other documents required or permitted to be given in connection with the consummation
of the Transactions;

(ii) to collect and receive any amounts due or paid for the benefit of such Equityholder and to disburse or cause to be disbursed such amounts to
such Equityholder pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement;

(iii) on behalf of such Equityholder, to initiate, pursue, defend or settle any disputes with Buyer (or its Affiliates) under this Agreement or the
other Transaction Documents, or otherwise arising in connection with the Transactions;

(iv) to determine the Final Merger Consideration in accordance with Section 3.10(b);

(v) to cause to be paid from the Adjustment Escrow Funds, in accordance with the terms of Section 3.10(c), any amounts due arising out of the
adjustment provisions set forth in Section 3.10(c);
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(vi) notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to make any equitable adjustment to the Allocable Proceeds that it, in its sole discretion,
acting in good faith, deems reasonably necessary or advisable, subject to the terms of the Operating Agreement;

(vii) to take all actions under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents expressly contemplated to be taken by the Equityholders’
Representative or the Equityholders; and

(viii) to take all actions under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents that may be taken by the Equityholders’ Representative or the
Equityholders, and to do or refrain from doing any further act or deed on behalf of the Equityholders’ Representative or the Equityholders that the
Equityholders’ Representative deems necessary or appropriate in its sole discretion relating to the subject matter of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents.

(b) The Equityholders’ Representative shall not be liable for any act taken or omitted by it as permitted under this Agreement, except if such act
is taken or omitted in bad faith or by willful misconduct. The Equityholders’ Representative shall also be fully protected in relying upon any written notice,
demand, certificate or document from the Equityholders that it in good faith believes to be genuine (including electronic copies thereof).

(c) The Equityholders shall, severally but not jointly, indemnify the Equityholders’ Representative for, and hold the Equityholders’
Representative harmless against, any loss, liability or expense incurred without bad faith or willful misconduct on the part of the Equityholders’
Representative, arising out of or in connection with the Equityholders’ Representative’s carrying out its duties under or in connection with this Agreement or
the other Transaction Documents, including costs and expenses of successfully defending the Equityholders’ Representative against any claim of liability with
respect thereto. The Equityholders’ Representative may consult with counsel and other advisors of its own choice and shall have full and complete
authorization and protection for any action taken by it in good faith and in accordance with the opinion of such counsel or other advisors, as applicable.

(d) All of the indemnities, immunities and powers granted to the Equityholders’ Representative under this Agreement shall survive the Pre-
Closing Period.

(e) Any and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Equityholders’ Representative shall be paid from the Equityholders’
Representative Expense Funds. In the event that any amount is owed by the Equityholders’ Representative, whether for fees, costs, expense reimbursement or
otherwise, in excess of the Equityholders’ Representative Expense Funds (or after any or all of the Equityholders’ Representative Expense Funds have been
dispersed to the Equityholders and the PIP Holders), the Equityholders’ Representative shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the Equityholders and the PIP
Holders based on their Allocable Share of any such reimbursement obligation. As soon as reasonably practicable following a determination by the
Equityholders’ Representative, in its sole discretion, that the Equityholders’ Representative is not reasonably likely to incur further costs or expenses in
connection with this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents or the Transactions, the Equityholders’ Representative shall pay or cause to be paid to the
Paying Agent (for the benefit of, and further payment to, the Equityholders) and to the Company Surviving Company or a subsidiary thereof (for the benefit
of, and further payment through payroll to, subject to Section 3.11, the PIP Holders), in accordance with an updated version of the Distribution Schedule (a
copy of
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which shall be promptly provided by the Equityholders’ Representative to Buyer), by wire transfer of immediately available funds, an aggregate amount in
cash equal to any such remaining Equityholders’ Representative Expense Funds.

(f) If BSR LLC becomes unable to serve as the Equityholders’ Representative, such other Person or Persons as may be designated by vote or
consent of a majority in interest of the Equityholders (based on the portion of equity interests of the Company such Persons held, directly or indirectly,
immediately prior to the Company Effective Time), shall succeed BSR LLC as the Equityholders’ Representative.

(g) The Buyer Parties, and any other third Person, shall be entitled to rely upon any action or decision of, or instruction by, or any document or
other paper delivered by, the Equityholders’ Representative on behalf of the Equityholders (without any obligation to inquire into the authority of the
Equityholders’ Representative or the genuineness or correctness of such document or other paper or any signature of the Equityholders’ Representative),
including any update to the Distribution Schedule or the Allocation Schedule, and, without limiting the foregoing, the Buyer Parties (and following the
Closing, the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries) shall not be liable to any Equityholder (i) for any action taken or omitted to be taken by any
Buyer Party in such reliance or with respect to actions, decisions and determinations of the Equityholders’ Representative or (ii) for any action or omission of
the Equityholders’ Representative, whether or not in accordance with this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents.

10.4 Expenses. Whether or not the Transactions are consummated, and except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each party to this
Agreement will bear its respective fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this
Agreement or the Transactions (including legal, accounting and other professional fees); provided, that (a) the Company will bear the fees, costs and expenses
incurred by the Equityholders and the Blockercos in connection with the negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the Transactions, all
of which shall be deemed to be Transaction Expenses, and (b) Buyer will pay and be solely responsible for Transaction-related fees and expenses of each
Buyer Party and any of their respective Affiliates, any “run-off” or “tail” policy purchased pursuant to Section 7.6(e) and all fees payable pursuant to
Section 7.3, including any filing fees payable under the HSR Act and any filing fees payable in connection with the Telecom Regulatory Filings. If any party
obtains an injunction, a decree or order of specific performance or other remedy against any other party pursuant to this Agreement or the other Transaction
Documents, the non-prevailing party or parties shall reimburse such party for all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including all reasonable,
documented fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, financial advisors, experts and consultants) incurred by or on behalf of such party or any Affiliate of
such party in connection with obtaining such injunction, a decree or order of specific performance or other remedy.

10.5 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process; Waiver of Jury.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 3.10(b)(iii) and Section 10.5(c), this Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties arising in whole
or in part out of or related to this Agreement, the negotiation, interpretation, construction, validity or enforcement of this Agreement or the Transactions, and
all disputes, actions and proceedings (in each case, whether at law or in equity, whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) arising out of or relating to any
of the foregoing, shall be
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governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware, applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed
entirely within that State, without regard to its rules of conflict of laws.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 3.10(b)(iii) and Section 10.5(c), the rights and obligations of the parties arising in whole or in part out of
or related to this Agreement, the negotiation, interpretation, construction, validity or enforcement of this Agreement or the Transactions, and all actions and
proceedings (in each case, whether at law or in equity, whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) arising out of or relating to any of the foregoing, shall be
heard and determined in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and any state appellate court therefrom within the State of Delaware (or, if the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular action or proceeding, the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware and any federal appellate court therefrom or, if the United States District Court for the District of Delaware declines to accept jurisdiction over a
particular action or proceeding, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware and any state appellate court therefrom within the State of Delaware) and the
parties hereto hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts in any such action or proceeding and irrevocably waive the
defense of an inconvenient forum or lack of jurisdiction to the maintenance of any such action or proceeding. The parties hereto agree that a final judgment in
any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by
applicable Law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, each of the parties hereto agrees that except as specifically set forth in the Debt Commitment
Letter, (i) the rights and obligations of the parties arising in whole or in part out of or related to the Debt Commitment Letter or the Financing, the negotiation,
interpretation, construction, validity or enforcement of the Debt Commitment Letter or the Financing, and all disputes, actions and proceedings (in each case,
whether at law or in equity, whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) arising out of or relating to any of the foregoing, shall be governed by, and
construed and enforced in accordance with, the Laws of the State of New York, applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed entirely within that
State, without regard to its rules of conflict of laws and (ii) it will not bring or support any actions or proceedings (in each case, whether at law or in equity,
whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) against any Financing Source Party in any way relating to this Agreement or the Transactions, including any
dispute arising out of or relating in any way to the Debt Commitment Letter or the Financing or the performance thereof, in any forum other than any federal
court of the United States of America located in, or, if that court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, in any state court located in, in each case, the
Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York.

(d) Each of the parties hereto hereby consents to process being served by any party to this Agreement in any action or proceeding described in
Section 10.5(b) by the delivery of a copy thereof (other than by email) in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.8, in addition to any other method of
service provided by applicable Law.

(e) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS, INCLUDING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ENCOMPASSED BY SECTION 10.5(a) OR SECTION
10.5(b) OR SECTION 10.5(c), IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND
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UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF SUCH ACTION OR
PROCEEDING (INCLUDING ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING INVOLVING ANY FINANCING SOURCE PARTY OR ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING IN ANY WAY TO THE DEBT COMMITMENT LETTER OR THE FINANCING). EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES
THAT: (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT
SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER;
(B) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER; (C) IT MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY AND
(D) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 10.5(e).

10.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the Schedules and the Exhibits hereto) and the Confidentiality Agreement represent the entire
understanding and agreement, written or oral, of the parties hereto with respect to the Transactions, and supersede all prior agreements or understandings,
written or oral, between or among the parties with respect to the Transactions.

10.7 Amendments and Waivers. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid and binding unless it is in writing and signed
by the parties hereto. Subject to Section 10.3, a provision of this Agreement can be waived only by a written instrument making specific reference to this
Agreement signed by the party against whom enforcement of such waiver is sought. The waiver by any party hereto of a breach of any provision of this
Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. No failure on
the part of any party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or
remedy. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 10.7 or elsewhere in this Agreement, this Section 10.7 and Sections 9.3(e), 10.5(c), 10.5(e),
10.10 and 10.13 (and any definition set forth in, or other provision of, this Agreement to the extent that an amendment or modification of such definition or
other provision would amend or modify the substance of this Section 10.7 or Sections 9.3(e), 10.5(c), 10.5(e), 10.10 and 10.13) may not be amended or
modified in a manner that would be adverse to any Financing Source without the prior written consent of such Financing Source (and any such amendment or
modification without such prior written consent shall be null and void).

10.8 Notices. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given (a) when delivered
personally by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) upon confirmation of receipt (or delivery by the sender within one (1) Business Day of a
confirming copy of such notice by reputable overnight courier), when sent by e-mail, (c) when received or rejected by the addressee if sent by registered or
certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or (d) one (1) Business Day following the day sent by reputable overnight courier (with written
confirmation of delivery), in each case at the following addresses (or to such other address as a party may have specified by notice given to the other party
pursuant to this provision):

If to the Company or the Blockercos, in each case, prior to the Closing, to:
 

- 96 -



LTS Group Holdings LLC
80 Central Street
Boxborough, Massachusetts 01719
Attention: Rob Shanahan
E-mail: rshanahan@lightower.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to each of:

Berkshire Partners LLC
200 Clarendon Street, 35th Floor
Boston, Massachusetts 02116
Attention: Lawrence S. Hamelsky and Sharlyn C. Heslam
E-mail: lhamelsky@berkshirepartners.com and sheslam@berkshirepartners.com

and

Ropes & Gray LLP
Prudential Tower
800 Boylston Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02199
Attention: Taylor J. Hart
E-mail: taylor.hart@ropesgray.com

If to the Equityholders’ Representative, to:

BSR LLC
c/o Berkshire Partners LLC
200 Clarendon Street, 35th Floor
Boston, MA 02116
Attention: Lawrence S. Hamelsky and Sharlyn C. Heslam
E-mail: lhamelsky@berkshirepartners.com and sheslam@berkshirepartners.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Ropes & Gray LLP
Prudential Tower
800 Boylston Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02199
Attention: Taylor J. Hart
E-mail: taylor.hart@ropesgray.com

If to the Buyer Parties or the Surviving Companies, to:

Crown Castle International Corp.
1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600
Houston, TX 77057
Attention: General Counsel (Kenneth J. Simon)
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With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Crown Castle International Corp.
2000 Corporate Drive
Cannonsburg, PA 15317
Attn: SCFS-Legal

and:

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
825 8th Avenue
New York, NY 10019
Attn:       Stephen L. Burns

Erik R. Tavzel
Johnny G. Skumpija

Email:     SBurns@cravath.com
ETavzel@cravath.com
JSkumpija@cravath.com

10.9 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced by any law or
public policy, all other terms or provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of
the Transactions is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal, or
incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely
as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the Transactions are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

10.10 Binding Effect; Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and permitted assigns. Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted
assigns and nothing herein expressed or implied shall give or be construed to give any Person, other than the parties and such successors and permitted
assigns, any legal or equitable rights hereunder; provided, however, that the parties hereto specifically acknowledge and agree that (a) the provisions of
Section 7.6 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, the Indemnitees, (b) the provisions of Section 9.3(e) are intended to be for the
benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, the Buyer Related Parties, (c) the provisions of Section 10.13 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be
enforceable by, the Non-Parties, (d) the provisions of Section 10.15 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, the Released Parties and
(e) the provisions of this Section 10.10 and Sections 9.3(e), 10.5(c), 10.5(e), 10.7 and 10.13 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by,
the Financing Source Parties. No assignment of this Agreement or of any rights or obligations hereunder may be made by any party hereto, directly or
indirectly (by operation of Law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto and any attempted assignment without the required
consents shall be void; provided that each of the Buyer Parties shall be permitted to assign its rights and remedies under this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents to one or more Affiliates of Buyer. No assignment of any obligations hereunder shall relieve the parties hereto of any such
obligations.
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10.11 Legal Representation. Buyer hereby agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of its directors, members, partners, officers, employees and
Affiliates, and each of their respective successors and assigns (all such parties, the “Waiving Parties”), that the Law Firms may represent the Equityholders’
Representative and any or all of the Equityholders in the event any such Person so requests, in each case, in connection with any dispute, litigation, claim,
proceeding or obligation arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including under Section 3.10 (any such representation, the “Post-Closing
Representation”), and Buyer on behalf of itself and the other Waiving Parties hereby consents thereto and irrevocably waives (and will not assert) any conflict
of interest or any objection arising therefrom or relating thereto. Each of Buyer, the Blockercos and the Company, for itself and the other Waiving Parties,
hereby irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that all communications between the Equityholders’ Representative, the Equityholders or any of their respective
Affiliates (the “Equityholder Group”) and their counsel, including the Law Firms, made in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, delivery
and performance under, or any dispute or proceeding arising out of or relating to, this Agreement or the Transactions, or any matter relating to any of the
foregoing, are privileged communications between the Equityholder Group and such counsel, and that the expectation of client confidence relating thereto
shall belong solely to the Equityholder Group, and none of Buyer, the Blockercos, the Company or any of the other Waiving Parties, nor any Person
purporting to act on behalf of or through Buyer, the Blockercos or the Company or any of the other Waiving Parties, will have any rights with respect thereto
nor seek to obtain access to the same by any process.

10.12 No Special Relationship. Each of the parties hereto hereby acknowledges that this Agreement embodies the justifiable expectations of
sophisticated parties derived from arm’s length negotiations; all parties to this Agreement specifically acknowledge that no party has any special relationship
with another party that would justify any expectation beyond that of an ordinary purchaser and an ordinary seller in an arm’s length transaction.

10.13 Non-Recourse. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or otherwise, (a) any claim of any type (whether at law or in
equity, whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) that may directly or indirectly arise under or relate to this Agreement, the negotiation, execution,
performance or breach (whether willful, intentional, unintentional or otherwise) of this Agreement, the Transactions, the Debt Commitment Letter or the
Financing (each of such above-described sources of claims, a “Recourse Theory”) may be made or asserted solely against (and are expressly limited to) the
Persons that are expressly identified as the parties hereto in the preamble to and signature pages of this Agreement and solely in their capacities as such and as
expressly permitted by and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, as applicable, and (b) no Person who
is not a party hereto (including (i) any former, current or future direct or indirect equity holder, controlling Person, management company, incorporator,
member, limited or general partner, manager, director, officer, employee, agent, Affiliate, attorney or representative of, or any financial advisor, or lender to a
party hereto or any Affiliate of such party and the Financing Source Parties and any Affiliate of any such Financing Source Party (all above-described Persons
in this clause (i), collectively, “Affiliated Persons”), and (ii) any Affiliated Persons of such Affiliated Persons (the Persons in clauses (i) and (ii), together with
their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors or administrators, collectively, but specifically excluding the parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns, “Non-Parties”)) has or shall have any liability whatsoever directly or indirectly arising under or relating to any Recourse
Theory. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company Related Parties agree for themselves and on behalf of each of their Representatives and
Affiliates and any of their respective successors, heirs or representatives that no such Person shall (i)
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have any rights or claims of any type (whether at law or in equity, whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) against any Financing Source Party in
connection with this Agreement, the Financing or the Debt Commitment Letter, or (ii) institute (and each Company Related Party shall cause its respective
Representatives and Affiliates not to institute) a legal proceeding (whether at law or in equity, whether in Contract, tort, statute or otherwise) in connection
with this Agreement, the Financing or the Debt Commitment Letter against any Financing Source Party, and each such Person and hereby waives any rights
or claims thereto, other than, in each case, with respect to the right to assert defenses in response to claims brought by any Financing Source Party.

10.14 Specific Performance.

(a) The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in
accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached, and that money damages or legal remedies would not be an adequate remedy for any such
damages. Therefore, it is accordingly agreed that prior to the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 9.1, each party shall be entitled to an
injunction or injunctions to prevent or restrain any breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by any other party and to enforce specifically the terms and
provisions of this Agreement, to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of, or to enforce compliance with, the covenants and obligations of any other party,
in any court of competent jurisdiction, and appropriate injunctive relief shall be granted in connection therewith. Any party seeking an injunction, a decree or
order of specific performance or other equitable remedy shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection therewith and any such
remedy shall be in addition to and not in substitution for any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law or in equity. If the Company brings any action
for an injunction to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of, or to enforce specifically the performance of, the terms and provisions hereof by any other
party, the Company may unilaterally extend the Termination Date (notwithstanding the termination provisions of Section 9.1(a)), so long as the Company is
actively seeking a court order for an injunction or injunctions or to specifically enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

(b) Each of the parties hereto hereby waives (i) any defenses in any action for injunction or specific performance, including the defense that a
remedy at Law would be adequate and (ii) any requirement under any Law to post a bond or other security as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief.

10.15 Release. Effective as of the Closing Date, except for any rights or obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement, the Equityholder
Agreements or the other Transaction Documents, as applicable, each of Buyer, the Blockercos, the Company and the Subsidiaries, on behalf of itself and each
of its Affiliates and each of its current and former officers, managers, management companies, directors, employees, limited or general partners, members,
advisors, successors, permitted assigns, estates, heirs, executors and administrators (collectively, the “Releasing Parties”), hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally (a) releases and forever discharges the Equityholders, their respective Affiliates and each of their respective current and former officers,
managers, management companies, directors, employees, limited and general partners, members, advisors, successors, permitted assigns, estates, heirs,
executors and administrators (collectively, the “Released Parties”) of and from any and all Legal Proceedings, executions, judgments, duties, debts, dues,
accounts, bonds, Contracts and covenants (whether express or implied), and demands whatsoever, whether known or unknown, whether liquidated or
unliquidated, whether actual or contingent, whether at law or in equity, whether in Contract, tort,
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statute or otherwise, which the Releasing Parties have or may have against any of the Released Parties, previously, now or in the future, in each case, in
respect of any actual or alleged fact, circumstance, action or omission occurring or arising on or prior to the date of this Agreement, other than a claim by a
Releasing Party that is a party hereto for Fraud by a Released Party that is a party hereto (the foregoing, collectively, “Released Claims), (b) covenants and
agrees that it shall not bring, initiate or support, directly or indirectly, or permit any other Person to bring, initiate or support, directly or indirectly, any
Released Claim and (c) waives any rights under California Civil Code Section 1542 or any similar provision of law; said Section 1542 provides: “A
GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER
FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR
HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR”.

10.16 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts including by facsimile or other means of electronic
transmission, such as by electronic mail in “.pdf” form, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken
together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.

10.17 Time of Essence. With regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement, subject to Section 1.2, time is of the
essence.

** REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK **
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective authorized officers, as of the date
first written above.
 

BUYER:

CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

MERGER SUBS:

LTS BF VII-A BLOCKER MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

LTS BF VIII-A BLOCKER MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

LTS CO-INVEST BLOCKER MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

LTS CO-INVEST BLOCKER II MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

LTS ROLLOVER BLOCKER MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel



LTS GROUP HOLDINGS MERGER SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Kenneth J. Simon
 Name: Kenneth J. Simon
 Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel



THE COMPANY:

LTS GROUP HOLDINGS LLC

By:  /s/ Robert J. Shanahan
 Name: Robert J. Shanahan
 Title: Chief Executive Officer



BF ACQUISITION PARTNERSHIPS:

BERKSHIRE FUND VII-A (LTS) ACQUISITION
PARTNERS
By: Seventh Berkshire Associates LLC, its authorized
signatory

By:  /s/ Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Title: Managing Director

BERKSHIRE FUND VIII-A (LTS) ACQUISITION
PARTNERS
By: Eighth Berkshire Associates LLC, its authorized signatory

By:  /s/ Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Title: Managing Director



BLOCKERCOS:

LTS BERKSHIRE FUND VII-A BLOCKER CORPORATION

By: /s/ Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Title: President

LTS BERKSHIRE FUND VIII-A BLOCKER
CORPORATION

By: /s/ Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Title: President

LTS CO-INVEST BLOCKER LLC
By: Eighth Berkshire Associates LLC, its manager

By: /s/ Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Title: Managing Director

LTS CO-INVEST BLOCKER II LLC
By: Eighth Berkshire Associates LLC, its manager

By: /s/ Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence S. Hamelsky
 Title: Managing Director

LTS ROLLOVER BLOCKER LLC
By: Sidera Networks, Inc., its manager

By: /s/ Robert J. Shanahan
 Name: Robert J. Shanahan
 Title: Chief Executive Officer

 



EQUITYHOLDERS’ REPRESENTATIVE:

BSR LLC
By: Berkshire Partners LLC, its sole member
By: BPSP, L.P., its managing member
By: Berkshire Partners Holdings LLC, its general partner

By:  /s/ Lawrence Hamelsky
 Name: Lawrence Hamelsky
 Title: Managing Director
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MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.
1585 Broadway

New York, NY 10036

 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER &

SMITH INCORPORATED
One Bryant Park

New York, NY 10036

CONFIDENTIAL

July 18, 2017

Crown Castle International Corp.
1220 Augusta Drive
Suite 600
Houston, TX 77057

Attention: Daniel K. Schlanger, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Project Beacon
$7,100,000,000 Senior Unsecured Bridge Facility

Commitment Letter

Ladies and Gentlemen:

You have advised Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. (“Morgan Stanley”), Bank of America, N.A. (“BofA”) and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated (together with its designated affiliates, “MLPFS” and, together with Morgan Stanley, BofA, the Additional Agents (as defined below) and
the Additional Committed Lenders (as defined below), “we” or “us”) that you intend to consummate the Transactions (such term and each other capitalized
term used but not defined herein having the meanings assigned to them in the Term Sheets (as defined below)).

In connection with the Transactions, each of Morgan Stanley and BofA (in such capacity, each, an “Initial Committed Lender” and, together with any
Additional Committed Lenders appointed as described below, collectively, the “Committed Lenders”) hereby commits to provide 50% of the Bridge Facility
upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth or referred to in this commitment letter (this “Commitment Letter”) and in the Summary of Principal
Terms and Conditions attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Bridge Facility Term Sheet” and, together with the Summary of Conditions Precedent attached
hereto as Exhibit B (the “Conditions Exhibit”), the “Term Sheets”). Those matters that are not covered by or made clear under the provisions hereof and of
the Term Sheets are subject to the approval and agreement of us and you. The commitments of each Committed Lender in respect of the Bridge Facility shall
be several and not joint.

You hereby appoint each of Morgan Stanley and MLPFS to act, and each of Morgan Stanley and MLPFS hereby agrees to act, as a joint lead arranger
and a joint bookrunner for the Bridge Facility (in such capacity, each, a “Lead Arranger” and, collectively, the “Lead



Arrangers”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth or referred to in this Commitment Letter and in the Term Sheets. You also hereby appoint
(a) Morgan Stanley to act, and Morgan Stanley hereby agrees to act, as sole administrative agent for the Bridge Facility and (b) MLPFS to act, and MLPFS
hereby agrees to act, as sole syndication agent for the Bridge Facility, in each case upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth or referred to in this
Commitment Letter and in the Term Sheets. Each of Morgan Stanley and MLPFS, in such capacities, will perform the duties and exercise the authority
customarily performed and exercised by it in such roles. It is further agreed that Morgan Stanley shall have “left side” designation and shall appear on the top
left of any Information Materials (as defined below) and all other offering or marketing materials in respect of the Bridge Facility. You agree that no other
agents, co-agents, arrangers or bookrunners will be appointed, no other titles will be awarded and no compensation will be paid in connection with the Bridge
Facility, unless you and we shall agree; provided that, you may appoint additional co-arrangers, agents, co-agents, managers or co-managers and allocate to
such additional financial institutions (or their lending affiliates) economics of the Bridge Facility (with any such allocation ratably reducing the economics of
the Bridge Facility that are allocated to Morgan Stanley and MLPFS; provided, however, that (x) each of Morgan Stanley and MLPFS shall retain its
respective economics set forth in the Fee Letter and (y) no Additional Agent (as defined below) shall be entitled to greater economics in respect of the Bridge
Facility than any of Morgan Stanley and MLPFS) as determined by you in consultation with Morgan Stanley and MLPFS (it being understood and agreed
that, to the extent you appoint any such additional financial institutions (or their lending affiliates), the commitments allocated to each of Morgan Stanley and
BofA (but not, for the purpose of clarity, any Additional Committed Lender) in respect of the Bridge Facility will be permanently reduced ratably by the
amount of the commitments allocated to such additional financial institutions (or their lending affiliates) upon the execution by such additional financial
institutions (or their lending affiliates) of customary joinder documentation and, thereafter, each such additional financial institution (or its lending affiliate)
shall constitute an “Additional Agent” and/or an “Additional Committed Lender”, as applicable, hereunder and under the Fee Letter).

We reserve the right, prior to or after the execution of definitive documentation for the Bridge Facility (the “Senior Bridge Credit Documentation”), to
syndicate all or a portion of the Committed Lenders’ commitments hereunder to one or more financial institutions that will become parties to such definitive
documentation (the financial institutions becoming parties to such definitive documentation, together with the Committed Lenders, being collectively referred
to as the “Lenders”), it being understood and agreed that we will not syndicate to those persons that are identified in writing to us on or prior to the date
hereof (collectively, the “Disqualified Institutions”). The selection of such financial institutions (a) from the date hereof until the date that is 45 days from the
date hereof (the “Initial Syndication Period”) shall be made jointly by you and us (it being understood that your approval shall not be required with respect to
any Lender otherwise identified in writing as an approved Lender by you and us prior to the date hereof (such Lenders, the “Approved Lenders”)) and
(b) following the Initial Syndication Period, if and for so long as a Successful Syndication (as defined in the Fee Letter) has not been achieved, shall be made
by us in consultation with you. Notwithstanding our right to syndicate the Bridge Facility and receive commitments with respect thereto and other than as set
forth in the proviso below, no Committed Lender shall be relieved, released or novated from its
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obligations hereunder (including its obligation to fund the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date) in connection with any syndication, assignment or
participation of the Bridge Facility, including its commitment in respect thereof, until after the initial funding under the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding
Date has occurred; provided, however, the commitments of each Committed Lender hereunder with respect to the Bridge Facility shall be reduced dollar-for-
dollar, on a ratable basis, and each Committed Lender shall be relieved, released and novated from its obligations hereunder (including its obligation to fund
the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date) as and when commitments for the Bridge Facility are received from Lenders (and during the Initial
Syndication Period, from Lenders selected pursuant to the syndication process set forth in the immediately preceding sentence), but only to the extent that
each such Lender both (i) is either (x) a Lender that is a party to the Credit Agreement (as defined in the Bridge Facility Term Sheet) as of the date hereof (an
“Existing Lender”) or (y) a commercial or investment bank (each, an “Investment Grade Lender”), whose senior unsecured long-term indebtedness has
investment grade ratings by each of Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”) and S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”) and (ii) becomes (x) party to this
Commitment Letter as an “Additional Committed Lender” with respect to the Bridge Facility pursuant to customary joinder documentation or other
documentation, in each case, reasonably satisfactory to us and you (which you agree to execute promptly upon our reasonable request) or (y) party to the
Senior Bridge Credit Documentation as a “Lender” thereunder. It is understood that on the Bridge Funding Date, each Committed Lender’s obligation to fund
its commitment under the Bridge Facility shall be limited to its then-outstanding commitment (as such commitment may have been reduced as forth herein).
We may decide to commence syndication efforts promptly, and you agree, until the earliest of (x) the termination of the syndication by us, (y) the date a
Successful Syndication is achieved and (z) the date that is 45 days after the Bridge Funding Date (such earliest date, the “Syndication Date”), actively to assist
(and to use your commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Acquired Companies to actively assist to the extent not in contravention of the Merger
Agreement) us in completing a timely and orderly Successful Syndication. Such assistance shall include (a) your using commercially reasonable efforts to
ensure that the syndication efforts benefit materially from your existing banking relationships, (b) direct contact during the syndication between your senior
management, representatives and advisors, on the one hand, and the proposed Lenders, on the other hand, in all cases at times and locations to be mutually
agreed upon, (c) your assistance (and using your commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Acquired Companies to assist to the extent not in contravention
of the Merger Agreement) in the preparation of a customary Confidential Information Memorandum for the Bridge Facility and other customary marketing
materials to be used in connection with the syndication (collectively, the “Information Materials”), (d) the hosting, with us, of not more than three meetings or
telephone conferences with prospective Lenders at times and locations to be mutually agreed upon, (e) using your commercially reasonable efforts to procure
ratings for the Bridge Facility and the Notes from each of S&P and Moody’s prior to the launch of general syndication and (f) there being no competing
issues, offerings, placements or arrangements of debt securities, equity securities or commercial bank or other credit facilities of you being issued, offered,
placed or arranged (other than, with respect to you and your subsidiaries, including, following the Acquisition, the Acquired Companies, (i) the Bridge
Facility, (ii) the Notes (or any other debt securities issued to refinance the Bridge Facility in whole or in part), (iii) the Equity Offering (or any other equity
securities issued to refinance the Bridge Facility in whole or in part), (iv) with respect to the Acquired Companies, debt permitted
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to be incurred pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, (v) intercompany debt, (vi) borrowings under existing credit facilities and any amendments
(including the Revolver Upsize Amendment; provided that syndication of the Revolver Upsize Amendment shall not be launched prior to the termination of
any commitment with respect to the Backstopped Amendment), extensions, renewals, replacements or refinancings thereof (provided, that the aggregate
principal amount of any existing term loan facilities (other than in respect of accrued and unpaid interest, fees and expenses) shall not be increased pursuant to
this clause (vi)), (vii) capital leases, letters of credit, purchase money and equipment financings incurred in the ordinary course of business, (viii) other debt in
an aggregate principal amount up to $500,000,000 and (ix) the issuance of any equity in connection with any employee stock plan or employee compensation
plan) without the consent of the Lead Arrangers (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld) if such issuance, offering, placement or arrangement could
reasonably be expected to materially impair the primary syndication of the Bridge Facility or the Notes Issuance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letter or any other letter agreement or undertaking concerning the financing of the Transactions to the
contrary, but without limiting your obligations to assist with syndication efforts as set forth herein, it is understood and agreed that neither the commencement
nor completion of the syndication of the Bridge Facility, nor the obtaining of the ratings referenced above, nor any other provision of this paragraph, shall
constitute a condition to the commitments hereunder or the funding of the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date. It is also understood and agreed that
you will not be required to provide any information to the extent that the provision thereof would violate (i) any attorney-client privilege, (ii) rule, law or
regulation applicable to you, the Acquired Companies or your or their respective affiliates or (iii) any obligation of confidentiality from a third party binding
on you, the Acquired Companies or your or their respective affiliates (so long as such confidentiality obligation was not entered into in contemplation of the
Transactions).

It is understood and agreed that the Lead Arrangers will, in consultation with you and subject to the immediately preceding paragraph, manage all
aspects of the syndication, including selection of Lenders, determination of when the Lead Arrangers will approach potential Lenders and the time of
acceptance of the Lenders’ commitments, the final allocations of the commitments among the Lenders and the amount and distribution of fees among the
Lenders; provided that, during the Initial Syndication Period, all such selections, determinations, allocations, amounts and distributions shall be jointly made
by you and us and (y) following the Initial Syndication Period, all such selections, determinations, allocations, amounts and distributions shall be made by us
in consultation with you and, in any event, will not include Disqualified Institutions. Until the Syndication Date, to assist the Lead Arrangers in their
syndication efforts, you agree promptly to prepare and provide (and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Acquired Companies to prepare and
provide to the extent not in contravention of the Merger Agreement) to the Committed Lenders all customary information with respect to the Acquired
Companies, you and your subsidiaries and the Transactions, including all financial information and projections (the “Projections”), as the Lead Arrangers
may reasonably request in connection with the structuring, arrangement and syndication of the Bridge Facility. If reasonably requested by the Lead Arrangers
prior to the Syndication Date, you agree to assist the Lead Arrangers in preparing a customary additional version of the Confidential Information
Memorandum (the “Public Side Version”) to be used by prospective
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Lenders’ public-side employees and representatives (such Lenders, “Public-Siders”; all other Lenders, “Private-Siders”) who do not wish to receive material
non-public information (within the meaning of the United States Federal or State securities laws) with respect to you and your affiliates and any of your or
their respective securities (such material non-public information, “MNPI”) and who may be engaged in investment and other market-related activities with
respect to your or your affiliates’ securities or loans. It is understood and agreed that, in connection with your assistance described above, (i) customary
authorization letters will be included in the Confidential Information Memorandum that authorize the distribution of the Confidential Information
Memorandum to prospective Lenders and confirm that the Public Side Version does not include MNPI and (ii) the Public Side Version will contain customary
language exculpating us and our affiliates and you and your affiliates (including the Acquired Companies and their affiliates) with respect to any liability
related to the use and misuse of the contents of the Public Side Version or any related marketing material. You agree to identify that portion of the Information
Materials that may be distributed to Public-Siders by clearly marking the same as “PUBLIC” (it being understood and agreed that you shall not be under any
obligation to mark the Information Materials as “PUBLIC”). You acknowledge that the Lead Arrangers will make available the Information Materials on a
confidential basis to the proposed syndicate of Lenders by posting such information on Intralinks, Debt X or SyndTrack Online or by similar electronic
means. You agree that the following documents may be distributed to both Private-Siders and Public-Siders, unless you advise the Lead Arrangers prior to
their intended distribution that such materials should only be distributed to Private-Siders and provided that you and your counsel have been given a
reasonable opportunity to review such documents: (1) administrative materials prepared by us for prospective Lenders (such as a lender meeting invitation,
bank allocation, if any, and funding and closing memoranda), (2) the Term Sheets and notification of changes in the Bridge Facility’s terms and conditions,
(3) the Patriot Act (as defined below) and other similar “know-your-customer” information and (4) drafts and final versions of the Senior Bridge Credit
Documentation. If you advise the Lead Arrangers that any of the foregoing should be distributed only to Private-Siders, then Public-Siders will not receive
such materials without further discussions with you.

You hereby represent and covenant that (a) all written information other than the Projections, other forward-looking material and information of a
general economic or industry specific nature (such written information, the “Information”) that has been or will be made available to us by or on behalf of
you, when taken as a whole, is or will be, when furnished, complete and correct in all material respects and does not or will not, when furnished, contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein not materially misleading in
light of the circumstances under which such statements are made (giving effect to all supplements and updates provided thereto); provided that such
representation and covenant with respect to the Acquired Companies is made to your knowledge; and (b) the Projections and other forward-looking material
that have been or will be made available to us by or on behalf of you have been and will be prepared in good faith based upon assumptions that are believed
by the preparer thereof to be reasonable at the time made and at the time made available to us (it being understood that (i) the Projections and other forward-
looking material relate to future events and are not to be viewed as facts, (ii) the Projections and other forward-looking material are subject to significant
uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond your and the Acquired Companies’ control, (iii) no
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assurance can be given that any particular Projections or other forward-looking information will be realized and (iv) actual results during the period or periods
covered by any such Projections or other forward-looking information may differ significantly from the projected results and such differences may be
material). You agree that if at any time from and including the date hereof until the Syndication Date, the representation and covenant in the immediately
preceding sentence would be incorrect in any material respect if the Information and Projections were being furnished and such representation and covenant
were being made at such time, then you will (or with respect to the Information and Projections relating to the Acquired Companies, will use commercially
reasonable efforts to) promptly supplement, or cause to be supplemented, the Information and the Projections so that such representation and covenant would
be correct in all material respects in light of the circumstances under which such statements are made (giving effect to all other supplements and updates
provided thereto); provided that any such supplementation shall cure any breach of such representation and covenant. In arranging the Bridge Facility,
including the syndication of the Bridge Facility, we (A) will be entitled to use and rely on the Information and the Projections without responsibility for
independent verification thereof and (B) do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the Information or the Projections. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Commitment Letter or the Fee Letter or any other letter agreement or undertaking concerning the financing of the
Transactions to the contrary, it is understood and agreed that the accuracy of the representations or compliance with the covenant set forth in this paragraph
shall not constitute a condition to the commitments hereunder or the funding of the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date.

As consideration for the Committed Lenders’ commitments hereunder and the agreement of the Committed Lenders and the Lead Arrangers to perform
the services described herein, you agree to pay (or cause to be paid) the fees as set forth in the Fee Letter dated the date hereof and delivered herewith with
respect to the Bridge Facility (the “Fee Letter”) in accordance with the terms thereof. Once paid, except as expressly provided in the Fee Letter, such fees
shall not be refundable under any circumstances.

The commitments of the Committed Lenders to fund the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date and the agreement of the Committed Lenders and
the Lead Arrangers to perform the services described herein are subject solely to the conditions set forth in the Conditions Exhibit (and no others).

Notwithstanding anything in this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets, the Fee Letter, the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation or any other letter
agreement or other undertaking concerning the financing of the Transactions to the contrary, (a) the only representations and warranties the accuracy of which
shall be a condition to the availability of the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date shall be (i) such of the representations and warranties made by the
Acquired Companies in the Merger Agreement as are material to the interests of the Lenders, but only to the extent that you have the right to terminate your
obligations under the Merger Agreement or not consummate the Acquisition as a result of a breach of such representations and warranties in the Merger
Agreement (to such extent, the “Specified Merger Agreement Representations”) and (ii) the Specified Representations (as defined below); and (b) the terms
of the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation shall be in a form
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such that they do not impair the availability of the Bridge Facility on the Bridge Funding Date if the conditions described in the immediately preceding
paragraph are satisfied. For purposes hereof, “Specified Representations” means the representations and warranties of you set forth in the Senior Bridge
Credit Documentation relating to organization and powers; authorization and enforceability, in each case, relating to the entering into and performance of the
Senior Bridge Credit Documentation; no conflict with material laws and constituent documents; solvency as of the Bridge Funding Date (after giving effect to
the Transactions) of you and your subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; Federal Reserve margin regulations and the Investment Company Act of 1940; OFAC
and anti-terrorism laws (including the Patriot Act); and use of proceeds of the Bridge Facility not in violation of FCPA. This paragraph, and the provisions
herein, shall be referred to as the “Certain Funds Provisions”.

By executing this Commitment Letter, you agree (a) to indemnify and hold harmless each of us and our respective affiliates and each of our and their
respective Related Parties (as defined below) (each, an “indemnified person”) from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses (subject to the limitations set forth below), joint or several, to which any such indemnified person may
become subject arising out of or in connection with this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets, the Fee Letter, the Transactions or the Bridge Facility or any
claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing (any of the foregoing, a “Proceeding”), regardless of whether any such
indemnified person is a party thereto or whether a Proceeding is initiated by or on behalf of a third party or you or any of your affiliates, and to reimburse
each such indemnified person upon demand for any reasonable and documented out-of-pocket legal expenses of one firm of counsel for all such indemnified
persons, taken as a whole, and, if necessary, of a single firm of local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (which may include a single firm of special
counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions) for all such indemnified persons, taken as a whole (and, solely in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest
where the indemnified person affected by such conflict informs you of such conflict and thereafter retains its own counsel, of another firm of counsel for all
such affected indemnified persons and, if necessary, of a single firm of local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (which may include a single firm of
special counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions) for all such affected indemnified persons), in each case incurred in connection with defending any of the
foregoing; provided that the foregoing will not, as to any indemnified person, apply to losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses to the extent
they (i) are found in a final and non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from the wilful misconduct, bad faith or gross
negligence of, or material breach of this Commitment Letter or the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation by, such indemnified person or any Related Persons
of such indemnified person or (ii) result from a proceeding that does not involve an act or omission by you or any of your affiliates and that is brought by an
indemnified person against any other indemnified person (other than claims against any arranger or agent in its capacity or in fulfilling its roles as an arranger
or agent hereunder or any similar role with respect to the Bridge Facility) and (b) upon and subject to the consummation of the Acquisition, to reimburse us
for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses (including the reasonable expenses of our due diligence investigation, reasonable consultants’ fees
and expenses, reasonable syndication expenses, reasonable travel expenses and reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of one firm of counsel for all
Committed Lenders and Lead Arrangers taken as a whole) incurred in
 

7



connection with the Bridge Facility and the preparation of this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets, the Fee Letter and the Senior Bridge Credit
Documentation. You acknowledge that we may receive a benefit, including without limitation, a discount, credit or other accommodation, from any counsel
based on the fees such counsel may receive on account of their relationship with us, including without limitation, fees paid pursuant hereto. Notwithstanding
any other provision of this Commitment Letter, (1) no indemnified person shall be liable for any damages directly or indirectly arising from the use by others
of information or other materials obtained through electronic, telecommunications or other information transmissions systems, except to the extent such
damages are found in a final and non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from the wilful misconduct, bad faith or gross
negligence of such indemnified person or any Related Persons of such indemnified person and (2) without in any way qualifying or limiting your
indemnification obligations hereunder, neither you nor any indemnified person shall be liable for any special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages in
connection with its activities related to the Bridge Facility or the Transactions; provided that nothing in this sentence shall relieve you of any obligation you
may have under the terms hereof to indemnify an indemnified person for any such damages asserted by an unaffiliated third party. You shall not, without the
prior written consent of the affected indemnified person (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), effect any settlement of any pending
or threatened Proceeding against such indemnified person in respect of which indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such indemnified person unless
such settlement (i) includes an unconditional release of such indemnified person in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified person
from all liability or claims that are the subject matter of such Proceeding and (ii) does not include any statement as to any admission of fault. You shall not be
liable for any settlement of any pending or threatened Proceeding effected without your consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed), but if settled with your prior written consent, you agree to indemnify and hold harmless each indemnified person from and against any and all
losses, claims, damages, liabilities and reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses by reason of such settlement or judgment in accordance with the
other provisions of this paragraph. For purposes hereof, “Related Parties” means, with respect to any person, the officers, directors, employees, agents,
trustees, managers, advisors, representatives and controlling persons of such person.

You acknowledge that we and our respective affiliates may be providing debt financing, equity capital or other services (including financial advisory
services) to other companies in respect of which you may have conflicting interests regarding the transactions described herein and otherwise. None of us or
any of our respective affiliates will use confidential information obtained from you by virtue of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter or
our other relationships with you in connection with the performance by us of services for other companies, and none of us or any of our respective affiliates
will furnish any such information to other companies. You also acknowledge that none of us or any of our respective affiliates has any obligation to use in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter, or to furnish to you or your subsidiaries or representatives, confidential
information obtained by us from any other company or person.

You further acknowledge and agree that (a) no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship between you, on the one hand, and us, on the other hand, is
intended to be or has
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been created in respect of any of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter and the Term Sheets, irrespective of whether any of us has advised
or is advising you on other matters, (b) we, on the one hand, and you, on the other hand, have an arms-length business relationship that does not directly or
indirectly give rise to, nor do you rely on, any fiduciary duty on the part of any of us, (c) you are capable of evaluating and understanding, and you understand
and accept, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter and the Term Sheets, (d) you have been advised that
each of us is engaged in a broad range of transactions that may involve interests that differ from your interests and that none of us has an obligation to
disclose such interests and transactions to you by virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship, (e) you have consulted your own legal, regulatory,
tax and financial advisors to the extent you have deemed appropriate in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Commitment Letter and the
Term Sheets and (f) you hereby waive, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims you may have against any of us for breach of fiduciary duty or
alleged breach of fiduciary duty in connection with this Commitment Letter and the transactions contemplated hereby and by the Term Sheets and agree that
none of us shall have any liability (whether direct or indirect) to you in respect of such a fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim
on behalf of or in right of you, including your stockholders, employees or creditors and that you shall not assert any such claim against any of us.

You further acknowledge that each of us is a full service securities firm engaged in securities trading and brokerage activities as well as providing
investment banking and other financial services. In the ordinary course of business, each of us may provide investment banking and other financial services
to, and/or acquire, hold or sell, for its own accounts and the accounts of customers, equity, debt and other securities and financial instruments (including bank
loans) and other obligations of, you and other companies with which you may have commercial or other relationships. With respect to any securities and/or
financial instruments so held by any of us or any of our customers, all rights in respect of such securities and financial instruments, including any voting
rights, will be exercised by the holder of the rights, in its sole discretion.

This Commitment Letter and the commitments hereunder shall not be assignable by you, and your obligations hereunder may not be delegated, without
the prior written consent of each of us, and any attempted assignment without such consent shall be void. This Commitment Letter may not be amended or
any provision hereof waived or modified except by an instrument in writing signed by each of us and you. This Commitment Letter may be executed in any
number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement. Delivery of an
executed counterpart of a signature page of this Commitment Letter by facsimile transmission or other electronic transmission (in “pdf” or “tif” format) shall
be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Commitment Letter. This Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets and the Fee Letter
supersede all prior understandings, whether written or oral, between us with respect to the Bridge Facility. This Commitment Letter is intended to be solely
for the benefit of the parties hereto and is not intended to confer any benefits upon, or create any rights in favor of, any person other than the parties hereto
and the parties required to be indemnified hereunder. This Commitment Letter and any claims, controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract
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or tort or otherwise) based upon, arising out of or relating to this Commitment Letter and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of
laws thereof; provided, that, notwithstanding the preceding sentence and the governing law provisions in this Commitment Letter, the Fee Letter and the
Senior Bridge Credit Documentation, it is understood and agreed that the interpretation of (i) “Material Adverse Effect” (as defined in the Merger Agreement)
and whether a “Material Adverse Effect” has occurred, (ii) the accuracy of any Specified Merger Agreement Representations and (iii) whether the
transactions have been consummated in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, in each case, shall be governed by, and construed and
interpreted in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware. Each of us may perform the duties and activities described hereunder through any of our
respective affiliates and the provisions of the fourth preceding paragraph shall apply with equal force and effect to any of such affiliates so performing any
such duties or activities. The parties hereby agree that MLPFS may, without notice to you or any other party to this Commitment Letter, assign its rights and
obligations under this Commitment Letter to any other registered broker-dealer wholly-owned by Bank of America Corporation to which all or substantially
all of Bank of America Corporation’s or any of its subsidiaries’ investment banking, commercial lending services or related businesses may be transferred
following the date of this Commitment Letter.

Each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that it will not commence any action, litigation or proceeding of any kind, whether in
law or equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against any Committed Lender or its affiliates or any of their respective officers, directors,
employees, managers, agents and controlling persons in any way relating to the Transactions, this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets or the Fee Letter or
the performance of services hereunder or thereunder in any forum other than the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York and any appellate court from any thereof, and each of the parties hereto irrevocably and
unconditionally submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and agrees that all claims in respect of any such action, litigation or proceeding may be heard and
determined in such New York State court or, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, in such Federal court. Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees
that service of any process, summons, notice or document by registered mail addressed to such party shall be effective service of process for any suit, action
or proceeding brought in any such court. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection to the laying of venue of any
such action, litigation or proceeding brought in any such court and any claim that any such action, litigation or proceeding has been brought in any
inconvenient forum. Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees that a final judgment in any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court shall be
conclusive and binding upon such party and may be enforced in any other courts to whose jurisdiction such party is or may be subject, by suit upon judgment.

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW,
ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS COMMITMENT LETTER, THE TERM SHEETS, THE FEE LETTER OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
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HEREBY OR THEREBY OR THE PERFORMANCE OF SERVICES HEREUNDER OR THEREUNDER (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT
OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY
OF ANY OTHER PERSON HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PERSON WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF
LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE
BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS COMMITMENT LETTER AND THE FEE LETTER BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL
WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS PARAGRAPH.

Each of the parties hereto agrees that this Commitment Letter is a binding and enforceable agreement with respect to the subject matter contained
herein, including an agreement to negotiate in good faith the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation by the parties hereto in a manner consistent with this
Commitment Letter and the Term Sheets and as promptly as reasonably practicable, it being acknowledged and agreed that the commitment provided
hereunder is subject only to conditions precedent as provided herein.

You agree that you will not disclose, directly or indirectly, this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets, the Fee Letter, the contents of any of the foregoing
or the activities of the Committed Lenders pursuant hereto or thereto to any person without the prior approval of the Committed Lenders, except that you may
disclose (a) this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets, the Fee Letter and the contents hereof and thereof (i) to your officers, directors, employees, attorneys,
accountants and advisors on a confidential and need-to-know basis, (ii) to any prospective Additional Committed Lender and its officers, directors,
employees, attorneys, accountants and advisors, (iii) pursuant to the order of any court or administrative agency or in any legal, judicial or administrative
proceeding or other compulsory process or otherwise as required by applicable law or regulations (in which case you shall promptly notify us, in advance, to
the extent lawfully permitted to do so), (iv) upon the request or demand of any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over you (in which case you shall
promptly notify us, in advance, to the extent lawfully permitted to do so) and (v) in connection with the exercise of remedies to the extent relating to this
Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets or the Fee Letter, (b) this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets and the contents hereof and thereof (but not the Fee
Letter or the contents thereof, except as otherwise provided in clause (i) of this clause (b)) (i) to the Equityholders (as defined in the Merger Agreement) and
the Acquired Companies and their respective officers, directors, employees, attorneys, accountants and advisors on a confidential and need-to-know basis
(provided that the Fee Letter and the contents thereof may be provided to such persons if redacted in respect of the amounts, percentages and basis points of
compensation set forth therein), (ii) in any prospectus or other offering memorandum relating to the Notes in a manner to be mutually agreed, (iii) in any
public filing in connection with the Transactions and (iv) to prospective Lenders or participants and to rating agencies in connection with obtaining ratings for
the Bridge Facility on a confidential basis, (c) the aggregate fee amount contained in the Fee Letter as part of projections, pro forma information or generic
disclosure of aggregate sources and uses related to fee amounts to the extent customary or required in marketing materials or any public filing or any
prospectus or other offering memorandum (and only to the extent aggregated with all other fees and expenses of the
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Transactions and not presented as an individual line item unless required by applicable law) and (d) general disclosure regarding the aggregate commitments
of the Committed Lenders hereunder (including the amount of such commitments) and the material terms (other than any fees paid to the Committed Lenders
and Lead Arrangers) and conditions of the Bridge Facility and the documentation executed in connection therewith to the extent customary or required in any
public filing or press release.

The Committed Lenders and their affiliates shall use all non-public information received by them in connection with the Bridge Facility and the
Transactions solely for the purposes of providing the services that are the subject of this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets and the Fee Letter and shall
treat confidentially all such information; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent them from disclosing any such information (a) to ratings
agencies on a confidential basis and in consultation with you, (b) to any Lenders or participants or prospective Lenders or prospective participants,
(c) pursuant to the order of any court or administrative agency or in any legal, judicial or administrative proceeding or other compulsory process or otherwise
as required by applicable law or regulations (in which case, the applicable Committed Lender or its affiliate, as the case may be, shall promptly notify you, in
advance, to the extent lawfully permitted to do so), (d) upon the request or demand of any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over them (in which case
the applicable Committed Lender or its affiliate, as the case may be, shall, except with respect to any audit or examination conducted by bank accountants or
any governmental bank regulatory authority exercising examination or regulatory authority, promptly notify you, in advance, to the extent lawfully permitted
to do so), (e) to our respective Related Parties who need to know such information in connection with the Transactions and are informed of the confidential
nature of such information and who agree (which agreement may be oral or pursuant to company policy) to be bound by the terms of this paragraph (or
language substantially similar to this paragraph), (f) to our affiliates and their respective Related Parties (provided that any such affiliate or Related Party is
advised of its obligation to retain such information as confidential, and the applicable Committed Lender shall be responsible for its affiliates’ and their
respective Related Parties’ compliance with this paragraph) who need to know such information solely in connection with the Transactions, (g) to the extent
any such information becomes publicly available other than by reason of disclosure by any Committed Lender, its affiliates or any of their respective Related
Parties in breach of this Commitment Letter, (h) to the extent such information is received by any Committed Lender from a third party that is not, to such
Committed Lender’s knowledge, subject to a confidentiality obligation to you with respect to such information, (i) in connection with the exercise of
remedies to the extent relating to this Commitment Letter, the Term Sheets or the Fee Letter and (j) for purposes of establishing a “due diligence” defense;
provided that the disclosure of any such information to any Lenders or prospective Lenders or participants or prospective participants referred to above shall
be made subject to the acknowledgment and acceptance by such Lender or prospective Lender or participant or prospective participant that such information
is being disseminated on a confidential basis (on the terms set forth in this paragraph or as is otherwise reasonably acceptable to you). Our obligations under
this paragraph shall automatically terminate and be superseded by the confidentiality provisions of the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation and shall, in any
event, terminate two years after the date hereof.
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We hereby notify you that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107 56 (signed into law October 26, 2001), as
subsequently amended and reauthorized) (the “Patriot Act”), each of the Lenders may be required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies you,
which information may include your name and address and other information that will allow each of the Lenders to identify you in accordance with the
Patriot Act. This notice is given in accordance with the requirements of the Patriot Act and is effective for each of the Lenders.

Please indicate your acceptance of the terms hereof and of the Fee Letter by signing in the appropriate space below and in the Fee Letter and returning
to the Lead Arrangers executed original copies (or facsimiles or other electronic copies in “pdf” or “tif” format thereof) of this Commitment Letter and the
Fee Letter not later than 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on July 19, 2017. The commitments hereunder will expire at such time in the event that the Lead
Arrangers have not received such executed original copies (or facsimiles or other electronic copies in “pdf” or “tif” format thereof) in accordance with the
immediately preceding sentence. In the event that the borrowing under the Bridge Facility does not occur on or before March 31, 2018 (or June 29, 2018 if
such date is extended pursuant to Section 9.1 of the Merger Agreement) or such earlier date on which the Acquisition is consummated or the Merger
Agreement is terminated, then this Commitment Letter and the commitments hereunder shall automatically terminate unless the Committed Lenders shall
agree to an extension. The syndication, compensation, reimbursement, indemnification, jurisdiction, governing law, waiver of jury trial, no fiduciary
relationship and, except as expressly set forth above, confidentiality provisions contained herein and in the Fee Letter shall remain in full force and effect
regardless of whether Senior Bridge Credit Documentation shall be executed and delivered and notwithstanding the termination of this Commitment Letter or
the commitments hereunder. You may terminate this Commitment Letter and/or any Committed Lender’s commitment with respect to the Bridge Facility (or
a portion thereof) at any time subject to the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence (the date on which this Commitment Letter is terminated
pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, the “Termination Date”).

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank]
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We are pleased to have been given the opportunity to assist you in connection with this important financing.
 

Very truly yours,

MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.

By /s/ Anish Shah
Name: Anish Shah
Title:   Authorized Signatory

 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By /s/ Eric Ridgway
Name: Eric Ridgway
Title:   Director

 
MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH
INCORPORATED

By /s/ Jeffery P. Standish
Name: Jeffery P. Standish
Title:   Director



Accepted and agreed to as of
the date first above written:

CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP.
 
By /s/ Daniel K. Schlanger

 Name:  Daniel K. Schlanger
 Title:  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
  



EXHIBIT A

CONFIDENTIAL
July 18, 2017

Project Beacon
$7,100,000,000 Senior Unsecured Bridge Facility

Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions1

 
Borrower:

  
The borrower under the Bridge Facility (as defined below) will be Crown Castle International Corp., a
Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”).

Transactions:

  

Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of July 18, 2017 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and
among LTS Group Holdings LLC (“Lightower”), Berkshire Fund VII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, Berkshire
Fund VIII-A (LTS) Acquisition Partners, LTS Berkshire Fund VII- Blocker Corporation, LTS Berkshire Fund
VIII- Blocker Corporation, LTS Co-Invest Blocker LLC, LTS Co-Invest Blocker II LLC, LTS Rollover Blocker
LLC, LTS BF VII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS BF VIII-A Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Co-Invest
Blocker Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Co-Invest Blocker II Merger Sub, Inc., LTS Rollover Blocker Merger Sub, Inc.,
LTS Group Holdings Merger Sub, Inc., the Borrower and BRS LLC, as equityholders’ representative, the
Borrower will acquire (the “Acquisition”), directly or indirectly, all of the outstanding equity interests of
Lightower (Lightower, together with its subsidiaries, the “Acquired Companies”) for aggregate cash
consideration equal to an amount previously disclosed to the Lead Arrangers (the “Purchase Price”).
 

In connection with the Acquisition, (a) the Borrower intends to (i) (1) issue common and/or preferred equity
securities or enter into other equity financing arrangements (including any convertible securities or equity-
linked securities) (collectively, the “Equity Offering”) and/or (2) issue senior unsecured notes (the “Notes”) in a
public offering or in a Rule 144A or other private placement (the “Notes Issuance”) and/or (ii) borrow up to
$7,100,000,000 (the “Committed Bridge Amount”), less the gross cash proceeds from the Equity

 
1 Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined have the meanings assigned thereto in the Commitment Letter to which this Exhibit A is

attached, including the other exhibits thereto (the “Commitment Letter”).



  

Offering, the Notes Issuance and any other Debt/Equity Financing Transactions (as defined below) on or prior
to the Bridge Funding Date (as defined below), if any, in aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured bridge
loans (the “Bridge Loans”) under a new senior unsecured bridge facility (the “Bridge Facility”) and (b) the
Borrower intends to apply the proceeds from the Equity Offering, the Notes Issuance, any other Debt/Equity
Financing Transactions and the Bridge Loans, together with cash on hand on the date on which the Acquisition
is consummated (the “Acquisition Closing Date”), to (i) fund the Purchase Price, (ii) to redeem, defease,
repurchase or repay (as applicable) certain outstanding indebtedness of the Acquired Companies (the
“Refinancing”) and (iii) pay the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions (as defined
below) (the “Transaction Costs”). In addition to the foregoing, the Borrower intends to amend the Credit
Agreement dated as of January 21, 2016 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time
to time, the “Credit Agreement”), among the Borrower, as borrower, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto,
and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as administrative agent, to (i) increase revolving commitments thereunder by
no more than $1,000,000,000 (the “Revolver Upsize Amendment”) and (ii) modify the financial maintenance
covenants therein and make certain other amendments to accommodate the Transactions (the “Backstopped
Amendment”, and together with the Revolver Upsize Amendment, the “Amendments”). The transactions
described in clauses (a) and (b) of this paragraph, together with the Acquisition but excluding the Amendments,
are collectively referred to herein as the “Transactions”.

Administrative Agent:

  

Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. will act as sole administrative agent for the Bridge Facility (in such
capacity, the “Administrative Agent”) for a syndicate of financial institutions (other than the Disqualified
Institutions) (the “Bridge Lenders”), and will perform the duties customarily associated with such role.
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Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint
Bookrunners:

  

Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated will act as joint
lead arrangers and joint bookrunners for the Bridge Facility (each in such capacity, a “Lead Arranger” and,
collectively in such capacities, the “Lead Arrangers”) and will perform the duties customarily associated with
such roles.

Syndication Agent:
  

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated will act as sole syndication agent for the Bridge Facility
(the “Syndication Agent”) and will perform the duties customarily associated with such role.

Use of Proceeds:

  

The proceeds of the Equity Offering, the Notes Issuance, any other Debt/Equity Financing Transactions and the
Bridge Loans, together with cash on hand at the Borrower on the Acquisition Closing Date, will be used by the
Borrower on the Acquisition Closing Date to pay the Transaction Costs, to consummate the Refinancing and to
fund the Purchase Price.

Availability:

  

The Bridge Loans will be required to be made in a single drawing on the Acquisition Closing Date substantially
simultaneously with the consummation of the Acquisition (the date on which the Bridge Loans are funded, the
“Bridge Funding Date”).

Ranking:
  

The Bridge Loans will be senior unsecured debt of the Borrower and will rank pari passu with all other senior
unsecured debt of the Borrower and senior to all future subordinated debt of the Borrower.

Guarantees:   None.

Collateral:   None.

Interest Rates and Fees:   As set forth on Annex I hereto.

Default Rate:
  

With respect to overdue principal, interest, fees or other amounts, the applicable interest rate plus 2.00% per
annum.

Amortization:   None.

Maturity Date:   The Bridge Loans shall mature on the 364-day anniversary of the Bridge Funding Date (the “Maturity Date”).
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Mandatory Prepayments and Commitment
Reductions:

  

(i) Subsequent to the date hereof and on or prior to the Bridge Funding Date, the aggregate commitments under
the Bridge Facility (the “Bridge Commitments”) shall be permanently reduced dollar-for-dollar by and (ii) after
the Bridge Funding Date and subject to the mandatory prepayment requirements under the Credit Agreement,
the Borrower will be required to prepay Bridge Loans on a pro rata basis, at par plus accrued and unpaid
interest, in an amount equal to: (a) 100% of the net cash proceeds (including any proceeds in escrow) received
from (x) the Equity Offering, (y) the Notes Issuance and (z) any other public or private equity or debt securities
offering or other equity or debt financing undertaken or incurred by the Borrower or its subsidiaries to finance
the Acquisition or to refinance the Bridge Facility, in whole or in part (other than borrowings of revolving loans
under existing credit facilities as amended from time to time; provided that, any increase in the aggregate
commitments under any existing revolving credit facilities shall be limited to the Revolver Upsize Amendment)
(collectively, the “Debt/Equity Financing Transactions”), plus (b) 100% of the net cash proceeds of (x) any
other debt for borrowed money incurred by the Borrower and its subsidiaries (other than Excluded Debt) and
(y) any other issuances of public equity by the Borrower (other than in connection with any employee stock
plan or employee compensation plan) plus (c) 100% of the net cash proceeds from any non-ordinary course
asset sales or other disposition (including as a result of casualty or condemnation) by the Borrower and its
subsidiaries, subject to in the case of this clause (c), to exceptions, reinvestment rights and baskets consistent
with the Documentation Considerations (as defined below) to be agreed.
 

For purposes hereof, “Excluded Debt” means, with respect to the Borrower and its subsidiaries, including,
following the Acquisition, the Acquired Companies, (i) intercompany debt, (ii) capital leases, letters of credit,
purchase money and equipment financings incurred in the ordinary course of business, (iii) borrowings under
existing credit facilities and any amendments (provided that, any increase in the aggregate commitments under
any existing revolving credit facilities shall be limited to the Revolver Upsize Amendment), extensions,
renewals, replacements or refinancings thereof (provided, that any increase in the aggregate principal amount of
any existing term loan facilities (other than in respect of accrued and
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unpaid interest, fees and expenses) shall not constitute “Excluded Debt”) and (iv) other debt (other than the
Notes and any other debt securities issued to refinance the Bridge Facility in whole or in part) in an aggregate
principal amount up to $500,000,000.

Optional Prepayments:
  

The Bridge Loans may be prepaid, at any time in whole or in part, at the option of the Borrower, at par plus
accrued and unpaid interest.

Senior Bridge Credit Documentation:

  

The definitive financing documentation for the Bridge Facility (the “Senior Bridge Credit Documentation”)
shall contain the terms and conditions set forth in the Commitment Letter and such other terms as the Borrower
and the Lead Arrangers shall agree; it being understood and agreed that the Senior Bridge Credit
Documentation will be customary for unsecured bridge facilities of this type and, to the extent not expressly set
forth in this Term Sheet, will contain terms and conditions (including with respect to covenants and events of
default) consistent with and substantially similar to those set forth in the Credit Agreement (collectively, the
“Documentation Considerations”).

Representations and Warranties:
  

The Senior Bridge Credit Documentation will contain customary representations and warranties that are
consistent with the Documentation Considerations.

Conditions Precedent to Initial Borrowing:  Limited to those specified in the Conditions Exhibit.

Affirmative Covenants:
  

The Senior Bridge Credit Documentation will contain affirmative covenants that are consistent with the
Documentation Considerations.

Negative Covenants:
  

The Senior Bridge Credit Documentation will contain negative covenants that are consistent with the
Documentation Considerations.

Financial Covenants:
  

Limited to the following (with definitions of financial terms and calculations of financial ratios to be consistent
with those set forth in the Credit Agreement):

  

(a) so long as the senior unsecured debt rating of the Borrower most recently announced by any two of S&P,
Moody’s and Fitch is lower than BBB-, Baa3 or BBB-, respectively, the Borrower shall maintain a
Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio as of the last day of any fiscal
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quarter of the Borrower of not less than 2.50 to 1.00;
 

(b) the Borrower will not permit the Total Net Leverage Ratio as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of the
Borrower to exceed 8.00 to 1.00, which shall step-down to 7.50 to 1.00 on the last day of the third full fiscal
quarter following the Bridge Funding Date; and
 

(c) the Borrower will not permit the Total Senior Secured Leverage Ratio as of the last day of any fiscal quarter
of the Borrower to exceed 3.50 to 1.00.

Events of Default:

  

The Senior Bridge Credit Documentation will contain events of default (including grace period and threshold
amounts) that are consistent with the Documentation Considerations.
 

If an event of default (other than a bankruptcy event of default) shall occur and be continuing, the
Administrative Agent (with the consent of the Required Bridge Lenders (as defined below)), by written notice
to the Borrower, may declare the principal of, and all accrued interest on, all Bridge Loans to be due and
payable immediately. If a bankruptcy event of default (with respect to the Borrower) occurs, the principal of
and accrued interest on the Bridge Loans will be immediately due and payable without any notice, declaration
or other act on the part of the holders of the Bridge Loans. An acceleration notice may be annulled and past
defaults (except for monetary defaults not yet cured) may be waived by the Required Bridge Lenders.

Voting:

  

Amendments and waivers of the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation will require the approval of Bridge
Lenders holding more than 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Bridge Loans (the
“Required Bridge Lenders”), except that (a) the consent of each Bridge Lender directly and adversely affected
thereby shall be required with respect to (i) reductions in the principal of any Bridge Loan owed to such Bridge
Lender, (ii) extensions of the Maturity Date or the due date of any interest or fee payment, (iii) reductions in the
rate of interest or the amount of any fees or other amounts owed to such Bridge Lender and (iv) changes in pro
rata sharing provisions and (b) the consent of 100% of the Bridge Lenders shall be required with respect to
modifications of any voting percentages.
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The Senior Bridge Credit Documentation shall contain provisions allowing the Borrower to replace a Bridge
Lender in connection with amendments and waivers requiring the consent of all Bridge Lenders or of all Bridge
Lenders directly affected thereby (so long as the consent of the Required Bridge Lenders has been obtained with
respect to such amendment or waiver).

Cost and Yield Protection:   The Senior Bridge Credit Documentation will contain customary cost and yield protection provisions.

Assignments and Participations:

  

Subject to the prior consent of the Administrative Agent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed) and compliance with applicable securities laws, the Bridge Lenders will have the right to assign
Bridge Loans (other than to any Disqualified Institution or a natural person) in consultation with (but without
the consent of) the Borrower.

  

The Bridge Lenders will have the right to participate their Bridge Loans (other than to any Disqualified
Institution or a natural person) without restriction, other than customary voting limitations. Participants will
have the same benefits as the selling Bridge Lenders would have (and will be limited to the amount of such
benefits) with regard to yield protection and increased costs, subject to customary limitations and restrictions.

  

The list of Disqualified Institutions provided by the Borrower (collectively, the “DQ List”) shall be posted to all
Bridge Lenders (and the Administrative Agent shall have the express authority to do so), and the Administrative
Agent shall further have the express authority to provide the DQ List to each Bridge Lender requesting the
same.

Expenses and Indemnification:

  

Upon and subject to the consummation of the Acquisition, the Borrower will pay all reasonable and
documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Administrative Agent, the Lead Arrangers, the Syndication
Agent, the Bridge Lenders and their respective affiliates associated with the syndication of the Bridge Facility,
the preparation, negotiation, execution, delivery and administration of the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation
and amendments, modifications and waivers thereof (including the reasonable and documented fees,
disbursements and other charges of one firm of counsel to the Administrative Agent and its affiliates). In
addition, all reasonable and
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documented out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, the Lead Arrangers, the Syndication Agent
and the Bridge Lenders (including the fees, disbursements and other charges of counsel to any of the foregoing)
for enforcement costs associated with the Bridge Facility are to be paid by the Borrower.
 

The Borrower will indemnify the Lead Arrangers, the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent, and the
Bridge Lenders and their respective affiliates and each of their respective directors, officers, employees,
trustees, agents, managers, representatives, controlling persons and advisors and hold them harmless from and
against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses
(including the fees, charges and disbursements of a single counsel for all the indemnified persons and one local
counsel for all the indemnified persons in each relevant local jurisdiction, which may include a one firm of
special counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions (and, in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest
where the indemnified person affected by such conflict informs the Borrower of such conflict and retains its
own counsel, of one firm of counsel for all such affected indemnified persons)) of any such indemnified person
arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, the Transactions, including the financings contemplated
thereby, or any transactions connected therewith or any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding (regardless
of whether any such indemnified person is a party thereto and regardless of whether such claim, litigation,
investigation or proceeding is brought by a third party or by the Borrower or any of its subsidiaries) that relate
to any of the foregoing; provided that the foregoing indemnity will not, as to any indemnified person, apply to
losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses to the extent they (i) are found in a final and non-
appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted from the wilful misconduct, bad faith
or gross negligence of, or material breach of the Commitment Letter or the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation
by, such indemnified person or such indemnified person’s affiliates, directors, officers, employees, trustees,
agents, managers, representatives, controlling persons or advisors or (ii) result from a proceeding that does not
involve an act or omission by the Borrower or any of its affiliates and that is brought by an indemnified person
against any other indemnified person
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(other than claims against any arranger or agent in its capacity or in fulfilling its roles as an arranger or agent
pursuant to the Commitment Letter or any similar role with respect to the Bridge Facility).

Governing Law and Forum:   New York.
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ANNEX I
 
Interest Rates:

  

On or prior to the Maturity Date, the Bridge Loans will accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the
Borrower’s option, Adjusted LIBOR (as defined below) plus the Applicable Rate or ABR plus the Applicable
Rate.
 

“Applicable Rate” means the ratings-based spread for Bridge Loans set forth in the pricing grid on Annex II.
 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, such Applicable Rate will increase by 25 bps at the end of the
first three-month period following the Bridge Funding Date and by an additional 25 bps at the end of each
three-month period thereafter (through, but not including, the Maturity Date).

  

Calculation of interest shall be on the basis of actual days elapsed in a year of 360 days.
 

Interest will be payable in cash in arrears at the end of each three-month interest period and on the Maturity
Date.

  

“ABR” means the Alternate Base Rate, which is the highest of (i) the Administrative Agent’s Prime Rate, (ii)
the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus  1⁄2 of 1.00% and (iii) the Adjusted LIBOR for a one-month interest
period plus 1.00%.

  

“Adjusted LIBOR” means for each three-month period after the Bridge Funding Date, the rate (adjusted for
statutory reserve requirements for Eurocurrency liabilities) for Eurodollar deposits for such three-month period
appearing on Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (or otherwise on the Reuters Screen). Adjusted LIBOR shall not
be less than 0.00% per annum.

Ticking/Commitment Fee:

  

Commencing on the date that is 60 days following the date hereof and without duplication of the Ticking Fee
set forth in the Fee Letter, the Borrower will pay a nonrefundable fee (the “Ticking/Commitment Fee”) for the
account of each Bridge Lender at a rate determined in accordance with the pricing grid set forth on Annex II on
the daily aggregate amount of the Bridge Commitments of such Bridge Lender as in effect from the date that is
60 days following the date hereof and from time to time through and including the date the Bridge
Commitments terminate in full or are otherwise reduced to zero



  

(including as a result of the funding of the Bridge Loans), which fee shall be earned and shall be payable in
arrears on the last business day of each of March, June, September and December and on the date the Bridge
Commitments terminate in full or are otherwise reduced to zero (including as a result of the funding of the
Bridge Loans).

Duration Fees:

  

Duration fees (“Duration Fees”) in an amount equal to the percentage, as determined in accordance with the
grid below, of the principal amount of the Bridge Loans outstanding at the close of business, New York City
time, on each date set forth in the grid below, payable on such date:

  
 
  Duration Fees

  
90 days after the Bridge Funding

Date   
180 days after the Bridge Funding

Date   
270 days after the Bridge Funding

Date
 0.50%   0.75%   1.00%
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ANNEX II

Pricing Grid
 

Level   

Senior Unsecured Debt
Rating (S&P /

Moody’s / Fitch)*   

Applicable
Rate for

LIBOR Loans 
Applicable Rate
for ABR Loans  

Ticking/Commitment
Fee

I
  

BBB+/Baa1/BBB+
or higher   1.125%  0.125%  0.125%

II   BBB/Baa2/BBB   1.250%  0.250%  0.150%
III   BBB-/Baa3/BBB-   1.375%  0.375%  0.200%
IV   BB+/Ba1/BB+   1.625%  0.625%  0.250%
V   BB/Ba2/BB or lower  2.000%  1.000%  0.350%

 
* For the purposes of the foregoing pricing grid, changes in the Applicable Rate or Ticking/Commitment Fee resulting from changes in the Level shall

become effective on the next business day after the date of the change in the related rating. The applicable level will be based on the highest rating
received from any of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch; provided that if the lowest rating received from any such rating agency is two or more rating levels below
the highest rating, the rating level next below the highest rating will apply; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing proviso, if any two
such ratings are both at the highest rating, then such highest rating shall apply.



EXHIBIT B

Summary of Conditions Precedent

The availability and funding of the Bridge Facility shall be subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of solely the following conditions.

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Commitment Letter (including the
Exhibits and Annexes thereto) to which this Exhibit B is attached.
 

1. The Borrower shall have executed and delivered the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation and the Lead Arrangers and the Committed Lenders shall
have received:

 

 (a) customary closing certificates, good standing certificates, borrowing notices and legal opinions; and
 

 (b) a certificate of the chief financial officer (or other officer with reasonably equivalent responsibilities) of the Borrower in an agreed form
certifying that the Borrower and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, after giving effect to the Transactions, are solvent.

 

2. The Specified Merger Agreement Representations shall be true and correct as of the Bridge Funding Date (except, in the case of any Specified Merger
Agreement Representation which expressly relates to a given date or period, such representation and warranty shall be true and correct as of the
respective date or for the respective period, as the case may be).

 

3. The Specified Representations shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Bridge Funding Date (except, in the case of any Specified
Representation which expressly relates to a given date or period, such representation and warranty shall be true and correct in all material respects as of
the respective date or for the respective period, as the case may be); provided that, to the extent that any of the Specified Representations are qualified
by or subject to a “material adverse effect”, “material adverse change” or similar term or qualification, the definition thereof shall be a Material
Adverse Effect (as defined in the Merger Agreement) for purposes of any such representations and warranties made or deemed made on, or as of, the
Bridge Funding Date (or any date prior thereto).

 

4. There shall not have occurred and be continuing any default or event of default under the Senior Bridge Credit Documentation with respect to (i) non-
payment under the Bridge Facility and (ii) bankruptcy events with respect to the Borrower.

 

5. The Acquisition shall be consummated in compliance with applicable law in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, but without giving
effect to any amendments, waivers or consents by the Borrower that are materially adverse to the interests of the Bridge Lenders or the Lead Arrangers
in their respective capacities as such without the consent of the Lead Arrangers (it being understood that (a) any decrease in the Purchase Price shall not
be materially adverse to the interests of the Bridge Lenders or the Lead Arrangers so long as such decrease is allocated to reduce the Bridge Facility and
the
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Notes on a dollar-for-dollar basis, (b) any increase in the Purchase Price which is funded solely with cash on hand or borrowings under the Borrower’s
existing credit facilities, and not with proceeds of other indebtedness shall not be materially adverse to the interests of the Bridge Lenders or the Lead
Arrangers and (c) the granting of any consent under the Merger Agreement that is not materially adverse to the interests of the Bridge Lenders or the
Lead Arrangers shall not otherwise constitute an amendment or waiver).

 

6. The Lead Arrangers shall have received (a) the audited consolidated statement of financial position of the Acquired Companies and the related audited
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity and cash flows of the Acquired Companies as at and for the
two most recently ended fiscal years to have been completed at least 90 days prior to the Bridge Funding Date and (b) the unaudited consolidated
statement of financial position of the Acquired Companies and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations and cash flows of the
Acquired Companies as at and for each subsequent fiscal quarter ended at least 45 days prior to the Bridge Funding Date (which shall have been
reviewed by the independent accountants for the Acquired Companies as provided in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 100). The Lead Arrangers
hereby acknowledge receipt of all such information referred to in clauses (a) and (b) of this paragraph for all relevant periods ended on or prior to the
date hereof.

 

7. Since December 31, 2016, there has not been any Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the Merger Agreement).
 

8. All fees and expenses required to be paid on the Bridge Funding Date pursuant to documentation related to the Transactions entered into among the
Borrower, the Lead Arrangers or the Bridge Lenders, in each case to the extent invoiced at least three business days prior to the Bridge Funding Date,
shall have been paid (which amounts may be offset against the proceeds of the Bridge Facility).

 

9. The Administrative Agent, the Lead Arrangers and the Committed Lenders shall have received, at least three business days prior to the Bridge Funding
Date, all documentation and other information required by regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering
rules and regulations, including the Patriot Act, that has been reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, the Lead Arrangers and/or the
Committed Lenders at least 10 days in advance of the Bridge Funding Date.
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements on Forms S-8 (No. 333-212383, 333-118659, 333-163843, 333-181715, and
333-188801) of Crown Castle International Corp and Registration Statement on Form S-3 ASR (No. 333-203074) of Crown Castle International Corp. of our
report dated March 10, 2017 related to the consolidated financial statements of LTS Group Holdings LLC and its subsidiary as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2016, appearing in this Form 8-K of Crown Castle International Corp. dated July 19, 2017.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Rochester, New York

July 19, 2017
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NEWS RELEASE
July 18, 2017

  
 

  Contacts: Dan Schlanger, CFO
  Son Nguyen, VP & Treasurer

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE   Crown Castle International Corp.
  713-570-3050

CROWN CASTLE ANNOUNCES AGREEMENT
TO ACQUIRE LIGHTOWER

 
 •  Enhances Crown Castle’s position as largest provider of shared wireless infrastructure in the U.S. with approximately 40,000 towers, 50,000

small cell nodes on air or under development and 60,000 route miles of fiber in the U.S. pro forma for the acquisition
 

 •  Significantly increases opportunities for small cell network deployments in top metro markets in the Northeast including Boston, New York and
Philadelphia

 

 •  Expected to be immediately accretive to AFFO per share and long-term growth rates, allowing for an expected increase of $0.15 to $0.20 per
share in the annual common stock dividend rate after closing

July, 18, 2017 - HOUSTON, TEXAS - Crown Castle International Corp. (NYSE:CCI) (“Crown Castle”) announced today that it has entered into a
definitive agreement to acquire LTS Group Holdings LLC (“Lightower”) from Berkshire Partners, Pamlico and other investors for approximately $7.1 billion
in cash (subject to certain limited adjustments) (“Transaction”), representing approximately 13.5x expected Adjusted EBITDA contribution during Crown
Castle’s first full year of ownership. Lightower owns or has rights to approximately 32,000 route miles of fiber located primarily in top metro markets in the
Northeast, including Boston, New York and Philadelphia. Following completion of the Transaction, Crown Castle will own or have rights to approximately
60,000 route miles of fiber.

“We are excited about the addition of Lightower given its attractive fiber footprint and the value we believe it will create for our shareholders,” stated
Jay Brown, Crown Castle’s Chief Executive Officer. “Lightower’s dense fiber footprint is well-located in top metro markets in the Northeast and is well-
positioned to facilitate small cell deployments by our customers. Following the Transaction, we will have approximately 60,000 route miles of fiber with a
presence in all of the top 10 and 23 of the top 25 metro markets. We expect the Transaction to be immediately accretive to our AFFO per share and long-term
dividend growth and, as a result, anticipate increasing our annual common stock dividend rate, subject to approval by our board of directors, between $0.15
and $0.20 per share following the closing of the Transaction.”

The Foundation for a Wireless World.

CrownCastle.com



News Release continued:   Page 2
 
Key Strategic and Financial Benefits
 

 

•  Expands deep, dense metro fiber footprint. The Transaction will double Crown Castle’s fiber footprint, resulting in Crown Castle owning or having
rights to approximately 60,000 route miles of fiber, making it one of the largest owners of metro fiber in the U.S. With a fiber footprint after the
Transaction that will cover 23 of the top 25 most populous U.S. markets, Crown Castle is well-positioned to capitalize on the growing demand for
mobile connectivity as network architecture continues to evolve and bandwidth demands continue to increase.

 

 

•  Provides scale for small cell deployments. By combining Lightower’s dense metro fiber footprint with Crown Castle’s industry-leading small cells
platform, including Crown Castle’s strong customer relationships and proven real estate and network engineering capabilities, the Transaction is
expected to expand the small cell opportunities available to Crown Castle and enhance its ability to meet the small cell deployment needs of its wireless
carrier customers while reducing the time and capital required for such deployments.

 

 

•  Immediately accretive to AFFO per share and common stock dividend. Crown Castle expects the Transaction to be immediately accretive to its
Adjusted Funds from Operations (“AFFO”) per share and increase its previous 6% to 7% long-term annual dividend growth target to 7% to 8%. In the
first full year of Crown Castle’s ownership, Crown Castle expects Lightower will contribute $850 million to $870 million in site rental revenues,
$510 million to $530 million in Adjusted EBITDA and $465 million to $485 million in AFFO before financing costs. On a net income per share basis,
the Transaction is expected to be modestly dilutive during the first full year of ownership, due primarily to the expected depreciation and amortization
expense associated with the Transaction. After the Transaction closes, Crown Castle anticipates that it will increase its annual common stock dividend
rate, subject to approval by Crown Castle’s board of directors, between $0.15 and $0.20 per share to reflect the expected contribution from Lightower.
Consistent with past practice, in its third quarter 2017 earnings release, Crown Castle expects to provide its Outlook for 2018 and make a related annual
common stock dividend announcement, which will be in addition to the dividend increase announcement that Crown Castle expects to make following
the closing of the Lightower acquisition.

 

 

•  Proven track record of execution and high-quality cash flows. As a leading provider of fiber solutions, Lightower has generated strong revenue
growth with attractive margins and returns on invested capital by focusing on high-bandwidth, multi-location opportunities. Lightower has a high-
quality mix of customers consisting of large enterprises, government agencies, healthcare providers, educational institutions and carriers. With its
recurring revenue model underpinned by long-term contracts, Lightower’s customer contracts have a weighted average remaining current term of
approximately four years, including approximately $2.7 billion of remaining contract value. Additionally, Crown Castle expects that the vast majority
of Lightower’s assets and revenues will qualify as real property and rents from real property, respectively, under the Internal Revenue Service’s rules
governing real estate investment trusts (“REIT”).

 
The Foundation for a Wireless World.

CrownCastle.com
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Transaction Details

Crown Castle intends to finance the Transaction consistent with maintaining its current investment grade credit metrics, utilizing cash on hand and
equity and debt financing, including borrowings under its revolving credit facility. Further, in connection with the Transaction, Crown Castle has received
financing commitments from Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. and BofA Merrill Lynch totaling approximately $7.1 billion for new unsecured bridge
facility.

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC acted as financial advisor to Crown Castle, and Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP provided legal counsel to Crown Castle.
Evercore and Citigroup Inc. acted as the financial advisors to Lightower, while Ropes and Gray LLP provided legal counsel to Lightower.

Crown Castle anticipates closing the Transaction by the end of 2017. The Transaction is subject to federal and state regulatory approvals, including
expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act and review by the U.S. Federal
Communications Commission, and other customary closing conditions.

Conference Call Details

Crown Castle has scheduled a conference call for Wednesday, July 19, 2017, at 7:30 a.m. eastern time to discuss the Transaction and its second quarter
2017 earnings results. The conference call may be accessed by dialing 800-967-7185 and asking for the Crown Castle call (access code 7235918) at least 30
minutes prior to the start time. The conference call may also be accessed live over the Internet at http://investor.crowncastle.com. Any supplemental materials
for the call will be posted on the Crown Castle website at http://investor.crowncastle.com.

A telephonic replay of the conference call will be available from 10:30 a.m. eastern time on Wednesday, July 19, 2017, through 10:30 a.m. eastern time
on Tuesday, October 17, 2017, and may be accessed by dialing 888-203-1112 and using access code 7235918. An audio archive will also be available on the
company’s website at http://investor.crowncastle.com shortly after the call and will be accessible for approximately 90 days.

ABOUT CROWN CASTLE

Crown Castle provides wireless carriers with the infrastructure they need to keep people connected and businesses running. With approximately 40,000
towers and 60,000 route miles of fiber supporting small cells following the completion of the Lightower acquisition, Crown Castle is the nation’s largest
provider of shared wireless infrastructure with a significant presence in the top 100 U.S. markets. For more information on Crown Castle, please visit
www.crowncastle.com.
 

The Foundation for a Wireless World.
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Cautionary Language Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This press release contains forward-looking statements that are based on Crown Castle management’s expectations. Such statements include plans,
projections and estimates regarding (1) the Transaction, including timing and financing thereof, (2) potential benefits of the Transaction, including
(a) improvement to or enhancement of Crown Castle’s asset portfolio, growth, industry position and capabilities and (b) contribution to or impact on Crown
Castle’s financial or operating results, including site rental revenues, net income (including on a per share basis), Adjusted EBITDA, growth rates and AFFO
(including on a per share basis), (3) demand for wireless infrastructure, including towers and fiber, (4) Crown Castle’s dividends, including any increase
thereof, (5) Crown Castle’s ability to generate long-term value for its shareholders and meet the needs of its customers and demand for data and connectivity,
(6) Crown Castle’s and Lightower’s respective fiber assets and footprint, including the value thereof (7) the value and term of Lightower’s contracts,
(8) demand for mobile data and connectivity, and the growth thereof, (9) demand for, potential growth of and opportunities which may be derived from the
Lightower assets, and (10) qualification of Lightower’s assets and revenues under rules governing REITs. Such forward-looking statements are subject to
certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including prevailing market conditions and other factors. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those expected. More information about potential risk
factors that could affect Crown Castle and its results is included in Crown Castle’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The term
“including,” and any variation thereof, means “including, without limitation.”
 

The Foundation for a Wireless World.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This press release includes presentations of Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Funds from Operations (“AFFO”) and Funds from Operations (“FFO”), which are
non-GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial measures are not intended as alternative measures of operating results or cash flow from
operations (as determined in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”)).

Our measures of Adjusted EBITDA, AFFO and FFO may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, including other companies in
the wireless infrastructure sector or other REITs. Our definition of FFO is consistent with guidelines from the National Association of Real Estate Investment
Trusts with the exception of the impact of income taxes in periods prior to our REIT conversion.

Adjusted EBITDA, AFFO and FFO are presented as additional information because management believes these measures are useful indicators of the
financial performance of our business. Among other things, management believes that:
 

 

•  Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors or other interested parties in evaluating our financial performance. Adjusted EBITDA is the primary
measure used by management (1) to evaluate the economic productivity of our operations and (2) for purposes of making decisions about
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, our operations. Management believes that Adjusted EBITDA helps investors or other
interested parties meaningfully evaluate and compare the results of our operations (1) from period to period and (2) to our competitors, by
removing the impact of our capital structure (primarily interest charges from our outstanding debt) and asset base (primarily depreciation,
amortization and accretion) from our financial results. Management also believes Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by investors or other
interested parties in the evaluation of the wireless infrastructure sector and other REITs to measure financial performance without regard to items
such as depreciation, amortization and accretion which can vary depending upon accounting methods and the book value of assets. In addition,
Adjusted EBITDA is similar to the measure of current financial performance generally used in our debt covenant calculations. Adjusted EBITDA
should be considered only as a supplement to net income computed in accordance with GAAP as a measure of our performance.

 

 

•  AFFO is useful to investors or other interested parties in evaluating our financial performance. Management believes that AFFO helps investors
or other interested parties meaningfully evaluate our financial performance as it includes (1) the impact of our capital structure (primarily interest
expense on our outstanding debt and dividends on our preferred stock) and (2) sustaining capital expenditures, and exclude the impact of our
(a) asset base (primarily depreciation, amortization and accretion) and (b) certain non-cash items, including straight-lined revenues and expenses
related to fixed escalations and rent free periods. GAAP requires rental revenues and expenses related to leases that contain specified rental
increases over the life of the lease to be recognized evenly over the life of the lease. In accordance with GAAP, if payment terms call for fixed
escalations, or rent free periods, the revenue or expense is recognized on a straight-lined basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the
contract. Management notes that the Company uses AFFO only as a performance measure. AFFO should be considered only as a supplement to
net income computed in accordance with GAAP as a measure of our performance and should not be considered as an alternative to cash flows
from operations or as residual cash flow available for discretionary investment.

 

 

•  FFO is useful to investors or other interested parties in evaluating our financial performance. Management believes that FFO may be used by
investors or other interested parties as a basis to compare our financial performance with that of other REITs. FFO helps investors or other
interested parties meaningfully evaluate financial performance by excluding the impact of our asset base (primarily depreciation, amortization
and accretion). FFO is not a key performance indicator used by the Company. FFO should be considered only as a supplement to net income
computed in accordance with GAAP as a measure of our performance and should not be considered as an alternative to cash flow from
operations.

We define our non-GAAP financial measures as follows:

Adjusted EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) plus restructuring charges (credits), asset write-down charges, acquisition and
integration costs, depreciation, amortization and accretion, amortization of prepaid lease purchase price adjustments, interest expense and amortization of
deferred financing costs, gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations, net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps, gains (losses) on foreign currency swaps,
impairment of available-for-sale securities, interest income, other income (expense), benefit (provision) for income taxes, cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle, income (loss) from discontinued operations and stock-based compensation expense.

Adjusted Funds from Operations. We define Adjusted Funds from Operations as FFO before straight-lined revenue, straight-lined expense, stock-based
compensation expense, non-cash portion of tax provision, non-real estate related depreciation, amortization and accretion, amortization of non-cash interest
expense, other (income) expense, gain (loss) on retirement of long-term obligations, net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps, gains (losses) on foreign currency
swaps, acquisition and integration costs, and adjustments for noncontrolling interests, and less capital improvement capital expenditures and corporate capital
expenditures.

Funds from Operations. We define Funds from Operations as net income plus real estate related depreciation, amortization and accretion and asset write-down
charges, less noncontrolling interest and cash paid for preferred stock dividends, and is a measure of funds from operations attributable to CCIC common
stockholders.
 

The Foundation for a Wireless World.
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Reconciliation of Expected Contribution from Lightower Acquisition to Full Year 2018 for Adjusted EBITDA:
 
   Full Year 2018
(in millions)   Expected Contribution
Net income (loss)   $163 to $213
Adjustments to increase (decrease) net income (loss):   

Asset write-down charges   $0 to $0
Acquisition and integration costs   $20 to $40
Depreciation, amortization and accretion   $250 to $300
Amortization of prepaid lease purchase price adjustments   $0 to $0
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs(a)   $0 to $0
Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations   $0 to $0
Interest income   $0 to $0
Other income (expense)   $0 to $0
Benefit (provision) for income taxes   $15 to $20
Stock-based compensation expense   $5 to $15

   

Adjusted EBITDA(b)   $510 to $530
   

 
(a) Excludes the impact of expected financing relating to the Lightower acquisition. Assumes the Lightower acquisition closes on December 31, 2017.
(b) See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” herein for a discussion of our definition of Adjusted EBITDA.

Reconciliation of Expected Contribution from Lightower Acquisition to Full Year 2018 for FFO and AFFO:
 
   Full Year 2018
(in millions)   Expected Contribution
Net income (loss)   $163 to $213
Real estate related depreciation, amortization and accretion   $209 to $259
Asset write-down charges   $0 to $0

   

FFO(a)   $396 to $446
   

FFO (from above)   $396 to $446
Adjustments to increase (decrease) FFO:   

Straight-lined revenue   $(2) to $0
Straight-lined expense   $0 to $0
Stock-based compensation expense   $5 to $15
Non-cash portion of tax provision   $0 to $0
Non-real estate related depreciation, amortization and accretion   $16 to $66
Amortization of non-cash interest expense(b)   $0 to $0
Other (income) expense   $0 to $0
Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations   $0 to $0
Acquisition and integration costs   $20 to $40
Capital improvement capital expenditures   $(29) to $(24)
Corporate capital expenditures   $0 to $0

   

AFFO(a)   $465 to $485
   

 
(a) See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” herein for a discussion for our definitions of FFO and AFFO.
(b) Excludes the impact of expected financing relating to the Lightower acquisition. Assumes the Lightower acquisition closes on December 31, 2017.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of
LTS Group Holdings LLC
Boxborough, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of LTS Group Holdings LLC and its subsidiary (the “Company”), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in
members’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiary as of December 31, 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Rochester, New York

March 10, 2017



LTS Group Holdings LLC
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As of December 31, 2016
(in thousands, except for number of units)
  
 
Assets   

Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 13,870 
Accounts receivable, net of doubtful accounts and sales allowance of $2,241    41,765 
Unbilled revenue    4,612 
Income taxes receivable    974 
Other current assets    12,521 

    
 

Total current assets    73,742 
Property and equipment, net    1,957,731 
Goodwill    2,186,008 
Intangible assets, net    820,533 
Other long-term assets    12,059 

    
 

Total assets   $5,050,073 
    

 

Liabilities and Members’ Equity   
Current liabilities   

Accounts payable   $ 42,662 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    83,360 
Current portion of long-term debt    23,209 
Current portion of deferred revenue    47,325 
Current portion of capital leases    478 

    
 

Total current liabilities    197,034 
Deferred revenue    269,831 
Deferred income tax liabilities, net    351,068 
Other long-term liabilities    44,496 
Long-term debt, net of current portion and unamortized debt issue costs and discounts    2,736,773 
Long-term capital leases, net of current portion    350 

    
 

Total liabilities    3,599,552 
    

 

Commitments and contingencies (Note K)   
Members’ equity   

Class A Units, $1,000 par value, 697,133 units issued and outstanding    697,133 
Class A-1 Units, $1,953 par value, 432,558 units issued and outstanding    844,787 
Class B Units, $1,000 par value, 41,670 units issued and 12,501 units outstanding    12,501 
Class B-1 Units, $1,953 par value, 10,703 units issued and 286 units outstanding    559 
Additional paid-in capital    7,311 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (579) 
Accumulated loss    (111,191) 

    
 

Total members’ equity    1,450,521 
    

 

Total liabilities and members’ equity   $5,050,073 
    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands)
  
 
Revenue   $746,140 

    
 

Operating expenses   
Cost of revenue    210,205 
Depreciation and amortization    229,381 
General and administrative expense    108,398 

    
 

Total operating expenses    547,984 
    

 

Income from operations    198,156 
    

 

Other expense   
Interest expense, net    176,037 
Loss on debt extinguishment    9,984 
Other expense    100 

    
 

Total other expense, net    186,121 
    

 

Income before income taxes    12,035 
Provision for income taxes    21,881 

    
 

Net loss   $ (9,846) 
    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands)
  
 
Net loss   $(9,846) 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges    959 
    

 

Comprehensive loss   $(8,887) 
    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands, except number of units)
  
 
                    Accumulated        
                 Additional  other      Total  
  Units      paid-in   comprehensive  Accumulated  Members’  
  Class A   Class A-1  Class B   Class B-1  Amount   capital   income (loss)   losses   Equity  
Balance at December 31, 2015   788,529   341,931   8,334   —     1,464,654   9,107   (1,538)   (14,245)   1,457,978 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Issuance of Class A-1 Units    94,467     184,496      184,496 
Repurchase of Class A-1 Units    (3,840)     (7,500)      (7,500) 
Repurchase of Class A Units   (91,396)      (91,396)     (87,100)   (178,496) 
Vested Class B Units     4,167    4,167   (4,167)     —   
Vested Class B-1 Units      286   559   (559)     —   
Share-based compensation        2,930     2,930 
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax         959    959 
Net loss          (9,846)   (9,846) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at December 31, 2016   697,133   432,558   12,501   286  $1,554,980  $ 7,311  $ (579)  $ (111,191)  $1,450,521 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2016
(in thousands)
  
 
Cash flows from operating activities:   

Net loss   $ (9,846) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities   

Depreciation and amortization    229,381 
Accretion on asset retirement obligations    4,254 
PIK interest accrued in 12% Unsecured (“HoldCo PIK”) Notes    25,613 
Amortization of debt issue costs and discounts    15,546 
Deferred income taxes    13,306 
Loss on debt extinguishment    9,984 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment    1,069 
Share-based compensation    2,930 
Decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts and sales allowance    (114) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions   
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue    (5,016) 
Other current and long-term assets    (4,013) 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities    9,806 
Income taxes receivable    2,521 
Deferred revenue    25,365 
Other long-term liabilities    338 

    
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    321,124 
    

 

Cash flows from investing activities:   
Purchase of property and equipment    (352,783) 

    
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (352,783) 
    

 

Cash flows from financing activities:   
Proceeds from First Lien loan facility    290,000 
Borrowings from Revolving loan facility    80,000 
Payments of debt issue costs and discounts    (4,288) 
Principal payments of First Lien loan facility    (20,962) 
Retirement of Second Lien loan facility    (283,000) 
Principal payments on capital lease obligations    (37,310) 
Equity contribution from Members, net of rollover interest    184,496 
Repurchase of Members’ units    (185,996) 

    
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    22,940 
    

 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (8,719) 
Cash and cash equivalents   

Beginning of year    22,589 
    

 

End of year   $ 13,870 
    

 

Supplemental disclosures   
Interest paid   $ 135,763 
Income taxes paid    7,775 
Property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses    62,193 
Property and equipment additions from asset retirement obligation    3,362 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

LTS Group Holdings LLC, incorporated on December 19, 2012 in the State of Delaware, is the ultimate parent company of a number of subsidiaries
engaged in providing custom high-capacity fiber-optic based network solutions to enterprises, government, carriers and data center customers
throughout the Northeast and Midwest. LTS Group Holdings LLC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) is majority owned
by Berkshire Partners LLC. The Company is headquartered in Boxborough, Massachusetts and its primary operating subsidiary is LTS Buyer LLC
(“LTSB”).

Basis of Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of LTS Group Holdings LLC and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

Conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. The accounting estimates that require management’s most significant and subjective judgments include, but are not limited to,
allowance for doubtful accounts, sales allowance, valuation and recognition of share-based compensation, useful lives of long-lived assets, valuation of
goodwill and intangibles, valuation of asset retirement obligations, and fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations.
Actual results may differ materially from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when the related service has been rendered and accepted by the customer, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the
fee is fixed and determinable and collection of receivable is reasonably assured. Taxes and fees collected and remitted to the governmental authority are
reported on a net basis and are excluded from revenue.

Upon execution of dark fiber leases or indefeasible right of use (“IRU”) agreements, site lease, colocation and other network service agreements, it is
customary that the Company requires customers to make a non-refundable upfront payment and a monthly fee over the contract term. The non-
refundable upfront fees, which may relate to activation fees, installation charges or prepayment of future services, are influenced by the customer’s
preference on the payment term structure. These upfront payments are deferred and recognized ratably over the underlying contract terms. Monthly fees
are billed in agreement with contractual terms and are primarily at a fixed rate (others have a CPI adjustment).

Certain services, such as colocation agreements and site leases, where the Company is obligated to provide power and other utilities, are billed to
customers in arrears, based on their usage at a contractually agreed upon rate on a monthly basis.

Revenues from nonrecurring installation charges, design, engineering and special construction services are recognized when the services are provided
and accepted.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
 

Revenue Recognition – Continued

Revenues from customer termination penalty fees are deferred when billed in accordance with the contract and recognized when collected.

In determining the appropriate amount of revenue and related reserves to reflect in its consolidated financial statements, management evaluates
payment history, credit ratings, customer financial performance, and historical or potential billing disputes.

Unbilled Revenue

Unbilled revenue of $4.6 million represents the revenue associated with services rendered to and accepted by customers but not yet billed as of
December 31, 2016.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of third-party network services, facilities rent and utilities, compensation and benefits, property taxes and repairs and
maintenance directly attributable to the network, but excludes depreciation and amortization. Third-party network service costs relate to leases of fiber
and circuits, pole attachment fees and other network services from other carriers to supplement the Company’s owned network to meet the
specifications of customers. Third-party network service costs include monthly fixed billing and upfront charges that are deferred and amortized over
the service period. Facilities rent and utilities include building and license fees paid to landlords for the colocation facilities and point of presences
facilities (“POP”) including utilities used in those facilities. Compensation and benefits include salaries and wages of the Company’s employees who
are directly associated to the daily operation of the network. Property taxes that are paid to cities and municipalities and repairs and maintenance
expense on the network infrastructure are included in cost of revenue.

Rental Expense

The Company leases fiber, certain equipment and office space under operating leases that expire over various terms. Many of the leases contain renewal
options with specified increases in lease payments upon exercise of the renewal option. Escalation clauses present in non-cancelable operating leases,
excluding those tied to CPI, are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company’s straight-line rent liability of $5.3 million
is included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016.

Share-based Compensation

The Company has 2015 and 2013 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plans (equity awards) and Performance Incentive Plans (liability awards). Share-based
compensation expense is recognized over the requisite service period of the award.

The Company employs the Black-Scholes pricing model to determine the fair value of unit-based awards granted by the Company. Pricing models,
including the Black-Scholes model, require the use of input assumptions, including expected volatility, expected term, expected dividend rate and
expected risk-free rate of return and adjustments for lack of control and marketability discounts. The expected
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
 

Share-based Compensation – Continued

volatility is based on the publicly available information of the Company’s peer group in the industry because the Company does not have sufficient
historical volatility data for its own shares. The risk-free interest rate used for each grant is equal to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant for instruments with a similar expected life. The expected term was determined based upon review of the period that the Company’s share-based
awards are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to the contractual term of the awards, vesting schedules and expectations of employee
exercise behavior. The fair value of equity awards is expensed on a graded vesting attribution method over the service period of five years.

Income Taxes

Except as described below, no provision has been made for federal, state, local or foreign income taxes on the results of operations generated by the
business activities of the Company’s limited liability subsidiaries; as such taxes are the responsibility of the Members. The Company does provide for
certain state taxes charged by states that have enacted statutes that treat limited liability companies as taxable entities for state minimum and franchise
tax purposes. Such state taxes have been included in the consolidated statements of operations.

Provision has been made for federal, state, local or foreign income taxes on the results of operations generated by the Company’s corporation
subsidiaries and these are reflected within continuing operations. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future, based on enacted tax
laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. The Company records deferred income tax
assets to the extent it believes there will be sufficient future taxable income to utilize those assets prior to their expiration. To the extent deferred
income tax assets may be unable to be utilized, the Company records a valuation allowance against the potentially unrealizable amount. As of
December 31, 2016, the Company does not have a valuation allowance against its net deferred income tax assets.

Any interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters are recognized as a component of provision for income taxes.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and investments in money market funds with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. The
Company’s cash and cash equivalents are maintained and managed by financial institutions in the United States of America. The Company had $13.9
million invested in cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2016.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable amounts that may not be collectible. The Company determines the
allowance for doubtful accounts monthly based on the age of receivables, current market conditions, customers’ financial condition and current
payment patterns. Accounts are written-off against the allowance for doubtful accounts after all means of collection have been exhausted and the
potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company recognized bad debt expense, net of recoveries, of $137 thousand for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are initially recorded at historical cost or acquisition date fair value. Historical cost consists of purchase price and all necessary
expenditures to prepare the asset for its intended use, including employee related expenses and interest expense on the financing of construction cost.

Interest expense incurred and included in the property and equipment historical cost for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $1.3 million.

Depreciation is computed on straight-line basis using the following estimated useful lives:
 

   Years
Fiber optic lines and conduit   15-20
Electronics   3-7
Buildings and improvements   14-20
Equipment and office furniture   3
Leasehold improvements

  
Shorter of the estimated useful

life or lease term
Vehicles   5

The Company performs periodic internal reviews to determine depreciable lives of its property and equipment based on input from engineering
personnel, actual usage, and the physical condition of the Company’s property and equipment.

Goodwill and Intangibles

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially recorded at fair value and are amortized using the straight-line method, which
approximates the economic consumption of the related assets, over their estimated useful lives.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired in a business combination. Goodwill is
not amortized but reviewed for impairment on October 31st, the Company’s annual goodwill impairment measurement date, or more frequently if a
triggering event occurs between impairment testing dates. The guidance permits an entity to first perform a qualitative assessment (step zero) to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value. If it is concluded that the reporting unit’s
fair value exceeds its carrying value, no further testing is required; otherwise, a two-step goodwill impairment test must be performed.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
 

Goodwill and Intangibles – Continued

In the two-step goodwill impairment test, when the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting
unit, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is performed. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair
value of the reporting unit, then a second step is performed and the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is determined and compared to
the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then an
impairment loss equal to the difference is recorded.

The Company, a single reporting unit, conducted its annual goodwill impairment analyses internally and concluded that there was no impairment for
the year ended December 31, 2016.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates property and equipment and acquired intangible assets with finite lives for possible impairment whenever events indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of an asset exceeds both its
projected future undiscounted cash flows from the use and/or sale of the asset and estimated fair value. There were no triggering events noted during
the year ended December 31, 2016 that may indicate impairment of any long-lived assets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Inputs used to measure fair value are classified into the following hierarchy:

 

 Level 1  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 

 Level 2  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, or
Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability

 

 Level 3  Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

As of December 31, 2016, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated
their carrying values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of debt is approximately $2.83 billion based on comparable
quoted market prices (level 2) at December 31, 2016.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities at fair value on the consolidated statements of financial position. The Company uses
derivative instruments primarily for cash flow hedges. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the changes in
fair values of outstanding cash flow hedge derivatives, except the ineffective portion, are recorded in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until net
earnings is affected by the variability of cash flows of the hedged transaction. Gains and losses on the derivative representing either hedge
ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are recognized in current period earnings.

The Company enters into derivative agreements only with creditworthy counterparties and does not utilize financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes. Use of derivative instruments for risk management are reviewed and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.

The Company has interest rate swap contracts that will expire on June 30, 2017 to eliminate the first three years variability of interest payments cash
flows due to fluctuation of interest rates applicable to the first $600 million of the First Lien Loan Facility. The interest rate swap contracts effectively
convert the LIBOR based variable rate (0.75% cap floor) to a fixed rate of approximately 1.2%. The Company designated the swap as a cash flow
hedge. The fair value of these interest rates swaps, estimated based on observable inputs (level 2), amounted to $579 thousand included in accrued
expenses and other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2016.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are amortized over the term of the related debt using the effective interest method. Unamortized debt issuance costs are presented
as a direct deduction from their related debt facilities.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company has certain legal obligations to remove pole attachments and fiber assets from certain locations. The estimated fair value of the asset
retirement obligation is recorded in other long-term liabilities and property and equipment. The fair value of the asset retirement obligation is based on
the present value of the projected future cash flow that will arise when the related assets are removed. Periodic accretion on the related asset retirement
obligation is recorded in general and administrative expense.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. The Company maintains its cash equivalents with reputable financial institutions in the United States.

Most of the Company’s revenue is derived from telecommunication carriers and other large enterprises. There was no single customer that exceeded
10% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Accounts receivables are unsecured and derived from revenue from customers. The Company had 1 customer with a receivable balance of 12% of total
accounts receivables as of December 31, 2016.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE A – BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Topic 606). ASU 2014-09 is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This ASU also
requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers,
including significant judgments and changes in judgments. ASU 2014-09 permits the use of either full retrospective or modified retrospective methods
of adoption. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date,
which defers the effective date by one year to December 15, 2018, for annual reporting periods beginning after that date. Early adoption is permitted,
but not before the original effective date of December 15, 2016. The Company is currently evaluating the method of adoption and the impact that this
guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements and disclosure. The Company will adopt ASU 2015-14 beginning January 1, 2019.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new guidance in Topic 842, which will supersede existing guidance in
Topic 840 on accounting for leases, requires lessees to report obligations for most operating leases on the balance sheet and additional quantitative and
qualitative disclosures about leasing arrangements. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the method of adoption and the impact that this guidance will have on its consolidated
financial statements and disclosure. The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 beginning January 1, 2020.

In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, which requires that cash payments related to debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs be classified as
cash outflows for financing activities. ASU 2016-15 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company will adopt ASU
2016-15 beginning January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance will have no significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
and disclosure.
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE B – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consist of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):
 

   2016  
Fiber optic lines and conduits   $1,878,721 
Electronics    340,527 
Construction-in-progress    57,649 
Buildings and improvements    37,351 
Equipment and office furniture    25,979 
Leasehold improvements    6,426 
Vehicles    6,234 
Land    1,109 

    
 

   2,353,996 
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (396,265) 

    
 

Property and equipment, net   $1,957,731 
    

 

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $161.0 million.

Cost and accumulated depreciation of certain fiber optic lines and vehicles under capital lease included in property and equipment as of December 31,
2016 amounted to $10.5 million and $2.5 million, respectively.

NOTE C – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The carrying amount of goodwill for the Company’s single reporting unit for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $2.2 billion.

The Company’s intangible assets subject to amortization consist of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):
 

   

Weighted
average

remaining life   2016  
Customer relationships    13    $ 961,600 
Right-of-way    6     7,724 
Tradename    9     23,400 

      
 

     992,724 
Less: Accumulated amortization      (172,191) 

      
 

Intangible assets, net     $ 820,533 
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE C – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS – Continued
 

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $68.4 million. Estimated amortization expenses on the intangible
assets in the next 5 years, and thereafter, are as follows (in thousands):

 
Year ending December 31,   
2017   $ 67,526 
2018    66,139 
2019    66,139 
2020    66,139 
2021    66,139 
Thereafter    488,451 

    
 

  $820,533 
    

 

NOTE D – ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):
 

   2016  
Accrued capital expenses   $25,899 
Accrued payroll and benefits    21,304 
Accrued cost of revenue    13,427 
Accrued taxes and licenses    12,771 
Customer deposits    4,293 
Accrued interest expense    2,671 
Other    2,995 

    
 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   $83,360 
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE E – LONG-TERM DEBT, NET

Long-term debt consists of the following as of December 31 (in thousands):
 

   2016  
Secured loans   

Revolving Loan   $ 80,000 
First Lien    2,239,701 

    
 

   2,319,701 
    

 

Unsecured notes   
10% Senior Unsecured (“OpCo”) Notes    264,100 
12% PIK Senior Unsecured (“HoldCo PIK”) Notes    229,688 

    
 

   493,788 
    

 

Unamortized debt issue costs and discounts   
Revolving Loan    (2,936) 
First Lien    (37,117) 
OpCo Notes    (7,208) 
HoldCo PIK Notes    (6,246) 

    
 

   (53,507) 
    

 

Carrying value of debt    2,759,982 
Less: Current portion    (23,209) 

    
 

Long-term debt, net   $2,736,773 
    

 

Aggregate future contractual maturities of long-term debt in the next 5 years, and thereafter, are as follows (in thousands):
 

Year Ending December 31,   
2017   $ 23,209 
2018    73,209 
2019    23,209 
2020    2,200,074 
2021    —   
Thereafter    493,788 

    
 

Total    2,813,489 
Less: unamortized debt issue cost and discounts    (53,507) 
Less: Current portion    (23,209) 

    
 

Long-term debt, net   $2,736,773 
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LTS Group Holdings LLC
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2016
  
 
NOTE E – LONG-TERM DEBT, NET – Continued
 

First Lien and Revolving Loan Facilities

On November 16, 2016, the Company, through LTSB, entered into a Fourth Amendment to the First Lien Credit Agreement (“Fourth Amendment”) to
extend an additional First Lien Loan of $290.0 million to the Company and increase the upper limit of the First Lien net coverage ratio applicable to the
Revolving Loan Facility. The required quarterly principal payment for First Lien Loan also increased to $5.8 million starting December 31, 2016 and
the outstanding First Lien Loan matures on April 11, 2020. The proceeds from the additional First Lien Loan were used to repay all outstanding
principal amount and accrued interest under the Second Lien Credit Agreement. Debt issue costs and discounts related to the Fourth Amendment
amounted to $4.3 million.

In addition to the required quarterly principal payments, the Company is required to make an annual payment of the First Lien Loan of up to 50% of
excess cash flow, as defined in the First Lien Credit Agreement. No excess cash flow payments were required for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Interest rates on the First Lien were as follows: (1) Base Rate Loan – interest rate is equivalent to prevailing prime rate plus 0.5% or prevailing LIBOR
rate plus 1% (Base rate) and an applicable rate of 2.25% and (2) Eurocurrency Rate Loan – interest rate is equivalent to prevailing LIBOR rate
(Eurocurrency rate) plus an applicable rate of 3.25%, and (3) under no circumstances shall the Base rate and the Eurocurrency rate be less than 1.75%
and 0.75%, respectively.

The aggregate Revolving Loan Facility commitment amounted to $200.0 million, $125.0 million of which matures on April 11, 2018 and $75 million
matures on the earlier of (i) August 12, 2020 or (ii) 91 days prior to the maturity date of First Lien Loan, subject to any extension. Interest rates applied
on the Revolving Loan Facility were as follows: (1) Base Rate Loan – interest rate is equivalent to prevailing prime rate plus an applicable rate of
1.75% to 2.25% depending on the Company’s First Lien Net Leverage Ratio, and (2) Eurocurrency Rate Loan – interest rate is equivalent to prevailing
LIBOR rate plus an applicable rate of 2.75% to 3.25% depending on the Company’s First Lien Net Leverage Ratio.

First Lien Loan and Revolving Loan are secured and guaranteed by all the assets of LTSB and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

The Company’s weighted average interest rate and related expense on the First Lien and Revolving Loan was 4.1% and $83.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016. Amortization of debt issue costs and discounts included in interest expense was $11.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

Second Lien Credit Agreement

On November 16, 2016, the Company paid off the outstanding Second Lien principal of $283.0 million and the related accrued interest of $4.5 million
with the proceeds from the Fourth Amendment. The related unamortized debt issue costs and discounts of $9.9 million were charged to loss on debt
extinguishment in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Subject to the First Lien and the Revolving Loan Facility, the Second Lien was secured and guaranteed by all the assets of LTSB and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries.

Interest rates applied on the Second Lien were as follow: (1) Base Rate Loan – interest rate is equivalent to prevailing prime rate plus 0.5% or
prevailing LIBOR rate plus 1.0% (Base rate) and an applicable rate of 5.75% and (2) Eurocurrency Rate Loan – interest rate is equivalent to prevailing
LIBOR rate (Eurocurrency rate) plus applicable rate of 6.75%, and (3) under no circumstances shall the Base rate and the Eurocurrency rate be less
than 2.25% and 1.25%, respectively.
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NOTE E – LONG-TERM DEBT, NET – Continued
 

Second Lien Credit Agreement – Continued

The Company’s weighted average interest rate on the Second Lien and Incremental Second Lien was approximately 8.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2016 and the related interest expense was $20.1 million.

Debt issue costs and discounts on the various issuances of the Second Lien Loan amounted to $19.0 million. The related amortization prior to the
extinguishment of the Second Lien Loan included in interest expense was $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

10% Senior Unsecured OpCo Notes (“OpCo Notes”)

On August 12, 2015, the Company, through LTSB, issued $264.1 million of OpCo Notes. The OpCo Notes mature on February 12, 2022 and bear
interest at 10.0% payable in cash at the end of each quarter. The related interest expense was $26.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Debt issuance costs and discounts associated with OpCo Notes amounted to $9.2 million. The related amortization expense was $1.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2016.

12% Senior Unsecured HoldCo Notes (“HoldCo PIK Notes”)

On August 12, 2015, the Company, through LTS Intermediate Holdings LLC B, issued $195.0 million of HoldCo PIK Notes. The HoldCo PIK Notes
mature on August 12, 2025 and bear 12.0% payable in kind (“PIK”) cumulative interest at the end of each quarter. The related interest expense was
$25.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Debt issuance costs and discounts associated with the HoldCo PIK Notes amounted to $6.8 million. The related amortization expense was $381
thousand for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Debt Covenant

The Company’s First Lien Agreement, Second Lien Agreement, OpCo Notes and HoldCo Notes contain customary events of default, including among
others, non-payment of principal and interest, breach of covenant, incorrect representations and warranties, bankruptcies, liens on assets and change of
control. The Company is also prohibited to incur additional debt except those stipulated in these credit agreements.

Only applicable to the Revolving Loan Facility, the Company is required to maintain a certain level of First Lien leverage ratio every quarter end.

The Company is in compliance with all covenants during the year ended December 31, 2016.
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NOTE F – ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The change in the carrying value of the Company’s asset retirement obligation for the year ended December 31, 2016 included in other long-term
liabilities is as follows (in thousands):

 
   2016  
Balance, beginning of year   $31,135 

Accretion expense    4,254 
Addition to liability    3,362 

    
 

Balance, end of year   $38,751 
    

 

NOTE G – PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

The components of the income tax provision for the year ended December 31 is as follows (in thousands):
 

   2016  
Current tax (benefit) expense   

State   $ 8,575 
    

 

   8,575 
    

 

Deferred expense (benefit)   
Federal    18,426 
State    (5,120) 

    
 

   13,306 
    

 

Provision for income taxes   $21,881 
    

 

A reconciliation between the provision for income taxes and amount computed by applying the federal statutory tax rate to the income before income
taxes for the year ended December 31 is as follows:

 
   2016  
Provision for income taxes at statutory rate   $ 4,213 
State tax provision, net of federal benefit    2,246 
Pass through income    15,311 
Other    111 

    
 

Provision for income taxes   $21,881 
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NOTE G – PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES – Continued
 

The following is an analysis of deferred income tax assets and (liabilities) as of December 31 (in thousands):
 

   2016  
Liabilities   

Property and equipment   $(318,358) 
Intangible assets    (224,045) 

    
 

   (542,403) 
    

 

Assets   
Net operating losses    95,239 
Deferred revenue    80,486 
Accruals and reserves    8,068 
Asset retirement obligation    5,080 
Others    2,462 

    
 

   191,335 
    

 

Net deferred income tax liabilities   $(351,068) 
    

 

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from what would be expected if the federal statutory rate was applied to earnings before income taxes,
primarily because of income or loss from flow through entities where the income tax is the responsibility of the Members instead of the Company.

Federal net operating loss carryforward of $268.7 million as of December 31, 2016 will begin to expire in 2026 if not utilized.

There were no income tax penalties incurred or owed reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

The Company files income tax returns with the U.S. government and various states. The Company’s tax matters for 2013 through 2016 remain subject
to examination by the respective federal and state tax authorities.

NOTE H – MEMBERS’ EQUITY

The Company’s Class A units amounting to $796.5 million were issued primarily for the initial capitalization of the Company. The Company’s Class B
units were reserved for the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan.

On July 29, 2016, the Company amended and restated the LLC agreement to authorize issuance of 94,186 Class A-1 units at par value of $1,953 per
unit. Total proceeds of $183.9 million were used to repurchase 91,396 Class A units and 2,560 Class A-1 units. Total repurchase price paid was $183.5
million, or $1,953 per unit. The excess of the repurchase price of Class A unit from its par value of $87.1 million is charged to accumulated loss.
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NOTE H – MEMBERS’ EQUITY – Continued
 

Any distribution to Members shall be in the following order of priority: first, in proportion to all Class A and Class A-1 units up to $1,000 per unit;
second, in proportion to all Class A, Class A-1 and Class B units until total distributions to Class A units up to $1,953 per unit; and third, in proportion
to Class A, Class A-1, Class B and Class B-1 units.

Other than the payment in connection with the repurchase of Class A and Class A-1 units, the Company did not declare or pay any distributions during
the year ended December 31, 2016.

NOTE I – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Equity Incentive Plans

2013 Equity Incentive Plan (“2013 EIP”)

The Company adopted the 2013 EIP in November 2013. An aggregate of 41,670 Class B Units were available for issuance under the plan. All Class B
Units available for issuance were issued as of December 31, 2013. There were no units granted, cancelled or forfeited under this plan for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

2015 Equity Incentive Plan (“2015 EIP”)

The Company adopted the 2015 EIP in December 2015. An aggregate of 11,916 Class B-1 Units were available for issuance under 2015 EIP. 9,448
Class B-1 Units were issued and 1,750 were cancelled for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Vesting of 2013 EIP and 2015 EIP

Class B and Class B-1 Units issued to employees will vest based on the following conditions:
 

 
a. Time-Based Vesting – Fifty percent (50%) of the total units issued (Time-Vested Units) shall vest at twenty percent (20%) at each

anniversary of the vesting start dates of each unit class. Any unvested Time-Vested Units shall be deemed fully vested upon
consummation of the sale of the Company;

 

 b. Performance-Based Vesting – Fifty percent (50%) of the total units (Performance Units) shall only vest upon the sale of the Company or
an IPO and the achievement of a certain rate of return on investments of certain Members of the Company.

Any unvested units at the time of the IPO shall remain outstanding and vest at first anniversary date of the IPO, if the rate of return on
investments of certain Members of the Company recalculated at the first anniversary date has increased.
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NOTE I – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION – Continued
 

Equity Incentive Plans – Continued

The following table summarizes the activity of Class B and Class B-1 Units for the year ended December 31, 2016 and their respective weighted fair
value at grant dates:

 
   Class B    Class B-1  
   No. of units   Fair value   No. of units   Fair value 
Nonvested at December 31, 2015    33,336   $448.76    3,005   $881.17 

Granted    —        9,448   $881.17 
Vested    (4,167)      (286)   
Cancelled    —        (1,750)   

    
 

      
 

  

Nonvested at December 31, 2016    29,169   $448.76    10,417   $881.17 
    

 

      

 

  

The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of the award at grant date. The following were the assumptions used in
determining the fair value of the Class B-1 Units granted in 2016:

 
Exercise price   $1,953 
Risk-Free Rate    1.9% 
Expected Life (in years)    6 
Expected Volatility    45% 
Expected Dividend Yield    0% 
Forfeiture Rate    0% 

The Company recognizes compensation expense only for the portion of units that are expected to vest. Initially, the Company has estimated no
expected forfeitures considering that the units were issued to a limited number of employees. Compensation expense for future periods is adjusted for
actual number of units forfeited.

The Company recognized share-based compensation related to the Time-Vested Units over the service period using an accelerated method of $2.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Total unrecognized share-based compensation expense at December 31, 2016 amounted to $17.7
million, $3.5 million of which is related to Time Vested Units and the rest is related to Performance Units, which will be recognized upon the
occurrence of a Company sale or an IPO.
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NOTE I – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION – Continued
 

Performance Incentive Plans

2013 Performance Incentive Plan (“2013 PIP”)

The Company adopted the 2013 PIP in November 2013. Under the 2013 PIP, the Company may issue to certain employees a maximum of
27.58 million of Notional Incentive Units which will be settled for cash when vested.

2015 Performance Incentive Plan (“2015 PIP”)

The Company adopted the 2015 PIP in December 2015. Under the 2015 PIP, the Company may issue to certain employees a maximum of 7.57 million
Notional Incentive Units which will be settled for cash or equity when vested.

Vesting of 2013 PIP and 2015 PIP

The Notional Incentive Units under 2013 PIP and 2015 PIP shall vest as follows:
 

 a. Tranche 1 – Fifty percent (50%) of the Notional Incentive Units shall vest on the first to occur on the consummation of the Company sale
or an IPO;

 

 
b. Tranche 2 – Fifty percent (50%) of the Notional Incentive Units shall vest upon the satisfaction of vesting condition described in Tranche

1 and the achievement of a certain rate of return on investments of certain Members of the Company at the time of the sale of the
Company or an IPO.

Any unvested units at the time of the IPO shall remain outstanding and vest at first anniversary date of the IPO, if the rate of return on
investments of certain Members of the Company recalculated at the first anniversary date has increased.

Unvested Notional Incentive Units are forfeited for no consideration upon termination of employment. 27.0 million of Notional Incentive Units related
to 2013 PIP were issued and outstanding and none were vested as of December 31, 2016. 6.7 million of Notional Incentive Units related to 2015 PIP
were issued and outstanding and none were vested as of December 31, 2016.

Settlement for the Notional Incentive Unit is equivalent to the excess of fair value of the acquired Equity Units divided by one thousand over a base
price of the Notional Incentive Unit’s base price.

The Company did not recognize any share-based compensation expense related to the Performance Incentive Plan for the year ended December 31,
2016 because none of the performance measures were considered probable. When the performance measures are considered probable, the Company
will record a liability for the fair market value of the awards at such time.
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NOTE J – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain Members of the Company have equity interests in the entities identified below and therefore these entities were considered as related parties.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company has provided or received certain services from these related parties in arm’s-length
transactions.

The following is the summary of service revenue and expense (including capital expenditure) and related receivables and payables of the Company in
connection with the transactions with these related parties that were included in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31 (in thousands):

 
    2016  

Related party   Nature of service   Revenue   
Capex/
expense    

Accounts
receivable   

Accounts
payable and

accrued
expenses  

Hugh O’Kane   Telecommunication construction   $ —     $19,279   $ —     $ 5,227 
Metro   Network and telecommunication construction    21    124    2    11 
Hosting   Hosting services    138    —      —      —   
American CyberSystems   IT solutions and workforce services    —      78    —      —   
Datapipe   Hosting services    51    —      —      —   
Masergy   Hosting services    1,039    —      —      —   
RCN Cable   Telecommunication service provider    395    —      —      —   
Wilcon   Telecommunication service provider    —      90    —      7 
Compusearch   Software provider    7    —      —      —   

      
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    $1,651   $19,571   $ 2   $ 5,245 
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NOTE K – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company has operating leases for certain rights-of-way, facilities and other assets under various agreements which, in addition to rental payments,
may require payments for insurance, maintenance, property taxes and other executory costs related to the lease. Certain leases provide for adjustments
in lease costs based upon adjustments in various price indexes and increases in the landlord’s management costs. The right-of-way agreements have
various expiration dates through October 2035. Rent expense under these right-of-way agreements included in the cost of revenue in the consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $48.9 million.

The Company has obligations under non-cancelable operating leases for certain colocation and office facilities. Rent expense, including common area
maintenance cost, under non-cancelable lease agreements included in the cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2016 was $53.4 million. Rent expense, including common area maintenance cost, under non-cancelable lease agreements included in the
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $4.5 million.

The following is a summary of future minimum payments due under operating leases and right-of-way agreements in the next 5 years, and thereafter
(in thousands):

 
Year ending December 31,   
2017   $ 80,318 
2018    66,265 
2019    56,093 
2020    39,634 
2021    28,659 
Thereafter    118,632 

    
 

  $389,601 
    

 

Capital Leases

In 2010, the Company entered a six year Fiber Use Agreement (“IRU”) with NStar Communications, Inc. (“NStar”) that had an initial term through
January 1, 2017. The original agreement provided a ninety-nine (99) year renewal option upon completion of the initial 6 year term, which can be
exercised by the Company by paying a lump-sum amount of $28.0 million. The Company accounted for this arrangement as a capital lease.

On August 19, 2016, the Company and NY Enterprises, Inc., owner of NStar, entered into a separate agreement where the payment of the lump sum
amount of $28.0 million would provide the Company title to the fiber instead of the 99-year lease renewal. On December 31, 2016, the Company paid
the lump-sum amount and acquired the title of the fiber assets. The Company removed the remaining capital lease obligation in conjunction with the
$28.0 million payment.
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NOTE K – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES – Continued
 

The Company has various vehicles under capital lease as of December 31, 2016. Aggregate future contractual maturities capital lease obligation for
these vehicles were as follows (in thousands):

 
Year Ending December 31,   
2017   $ 478 
2018    281 
2019    69 

    
 

Total    828 
Less: Current portion    (478) 

    
 

Long-term capital lease   $ 350 
    

 

Weighted average interest rates on these capital leases was 9.4% and the related interest expense on capital leases was $3.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

Sales and Use Taxes

The Company bills its customers that lease its dark fiber sales and use tax up to 8.25%. Any amounts collected from customers or due from customers
are remitted to the appropriate government agency. The Company has $1.1 million included in the accrued and other current liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2016.

Indemnifications

The Company enters into agreements from time to time in the ordinary course of business pursuant to which it agrees to indemnify third parties for
certain claims. The Company has also entered into purchase and sale agreements relating to the sale or acquisition of assets containing customary
indemnification provisions. The Company has not made any material payments under these agreements during the year ended December 31, 2016.
Management is not aware of any agreements that could result in a material payment individually or in the aggregate as of December 31, 2016.

Litigation

The Company is subject to litigation, claims, investigations and audits arising from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Management
intends to vigorously defend the Company against those matters. The outcome of these matters, individually and in the aggregate, is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s cash flows, results of operations, or financial position.

Letters of Credit

At December 31, 2016, the Company has outstanding irrevocable standby letters of credit secured under the Revolving Loan Facility that were issued
to certain parties of $8.8 million.
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NOTE L – RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company’s 401(k) plan allows for all employees who are at least twenty-one years old to be eligible to participate in the plan. Participants are
100% vested in their employer matching contributions after three years of service. The Company matched up to 3% of the employee eligible earnings
contributed to the plan and an additional matching contribution of up to 4% when certain performance thresholds are met at year end. Matching
contributions incurred for the year ended December 31, 2016 amounted to $3.8 million, including $2.0 million related to the aforementioned additional
performance thresholds.

NOTE M – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated events through March 10, 2017, the date the consolidated financial statements are complete and approved for issuance.
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